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VIEW OF THE LEADERSHIP

Chairman’s Message

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am pleased to present Al Masane Al Ko-
bra Mining Company’s (AMAK) Annual Report on the company’s performance
for the financial year 2022. During financial year 2022, AMAK recorded a net
profit of SR 126 million. With an eye to the future, AMAK spent the year con-
solidating its financial position, drastically reducing its total liabilities (which
include items such as loans and borrowing) from SR 463 million to SR 327
million and at the same time improving its cash reserves from SR 74 million in
2021 to SR 381 million by the end of 2022.

I would like to express my appreciation to the Governor of Najran Region, His
Highness Prince Jalawi Bin Musaed AlSaud for his support. We would also like
to extend our gratitude to the government agencies that have continued to
support us in our journey, including the Ministry of Commerce, the Ministry of
Industry and Mineral Resources, and the Saudi Industrial Development Fund.

2022 was a significant year for AMAK, as we were proud to achieve an Initial
Public Offering (IPO) and successfully listed the company’s shares on the Tad-
awul on 29 March 2022. And as of December 2022, AMAK has been granted
five new exploration licenses. We continue to be extremely grateful and hon-
oured to have received such support from our shareholders.

The budget balance is positive, public debt shrank in 2022, and inflation is
significantly lower than even advanced economies such as the US and UK. On
this basis, the prospects for strong economic growth in 2023, supported by
the government’s pro-enterprise reforms as part of Vision 2030, are very en-
couraging. The mining sector has been a key part of The Kingdom’s shift away
from a reliance on oil, with The Kingdom expected to become a regional hub
for all things mining in the coming years, and AMAK looks forward to playing
its part in The Kingdom’s success story.

Eng. Mohammed M. Aballala
Chairman, Al Masane Al kobra Mininig Co

CEO Review

AMAK is delighted to play its part in furthering the aspirations of The Kingdom, in line with Vision
2030, through its work in building a mining company that we aim to make the leader in the sector.
One of our core values is a commitment to continuous improvement. This is why, three years ago,
the company decided to expand its activity by developing the mineral deposit located in the ALM
Expansion in order to increase the production capacity, which are present in three main areas -
Sadaah, Houra and Moyeath, and encompass more than 40 square kilometres of underground
mining areas.

The Plants Mine Expansion Project was inaugurated in July 2022, by His Royal Highness Prince
Jalawi bin Abdulaziz bin Musaed, Governor of Najran Region, who laid the foundation stone. It
is expected that the initial operation of the new processing plant (ALMO-ex) ALM expansion will
begin in Q3 2023 and the plants mine will operate with an annual production capacity of 1.2 Mil-
lion tons per year.

According to the project start-up schedule for the (ALMO-ex) treatment plant in 2023, AMAK’s
production will increase by 80% for zinc and 50% for copper. This will have a dramatic impact
both on our output and profitability.

At the inauguration event, His Royal Highness also officially opened the Guyan Gold Mine, which
contains a resource of 3.077 million tons ore. This is in addition to AMAK’s other mining projects
in the Thar province, ALM which contain a resource of more than 7.5 million tons of ore.

In 2022, AMAK produced 21,190 dmt of copper, 41,151 dmt of zinc, 87,097 Oz of silver, and
6,046 Oz of gold from ALM and 24,864 Oz from Guyan mine.

With large reserves, and continually expanding mining operations that have seen us become one
of the largest producers of zinc, copper, gold and silver, AMAK is well-placed to take its place as
the foremost listed mining company in The Kingdom in the coming years.

Eng. Yahiya M. Al Shangiti
Chief Executive Officer



Introduction to AMAK

Founded in 2008, AMAK is a listed mining company based in Saudi Arabia, with a clear vision
to expand through the exploration, discovery, and development of mining projects across the
country.

The Saudi government’s Vision 2030 aims to create a thriving economy with a vibrant listed
sector, providing diversified wealth creation and enterprise outside of The Kingdom’s historic
strength in hydrocarbons. Mining is a key part of this transformation and AMAK aims to be at the
forefront of these reforms.

AMAK currently operates Al Masane VMS Mine and Guyan Gold Mine, both of which are located
near the city of Najran, in Southwestern Saudi Arabia.

Our mines produce gold dore and export it via Jeddah International Airport to Switzerland, and
the Zinc and Cooper concentrates by shipping via Jazan seaport where AMAK has 10,000 square
meter storage at the port.

AMAK is one of the pioneers in the mining industry in the private sector in KSA. It is one of the
largest producers of zinc, copper concentrates, gold and silver, which puts us at the forefront of
the sector to create an added value chain with an effective economic impact.

Honorable mention by SME.net

PRODUCT PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS FOR GOLD,

SILVER, COPPER, AND ZINC

ALM

ALM 2022

Mining output 797,720 dmt

Copper 21,190 Ton

Zinc 41,151 Ton

Silver 87,097 Oz

Gold 6,046 0z

Guyan

ALM 2022 G 2021 G
Tonnes Milled 471,898 dmt 350,338 dmt
Gold 124,864 07 117,706 0z
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2008

Incorporation of AMAK Co.

2012

The start of the commercial
production of copper and zinc
concentrates.

2017

Restarting of the commercial
production of gold and silver,
doré, as a by-product of zinc
and copper streams.

2021

The start of the production of
gold from Guyan Mine and in-
crease of total gold production.

2022

Inauguration of Al Masane
Mine (Moyeath)

KEY MILESTONES & ACHIEVEMENTS

2010

Establishment of Al Masane
Copper Zinc Underground Mine
and Process Plant.

2016

Care and maintenance to set up
owner mining teams.

2019

Inauguration of a new under-
ground portal to reach the third
mining zone Moyeath.

2022

Listing of the shares for trading
on the stock exchange and the
stock market (Tadawul).
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OUR GUIDING PRINCIPLES
@ Vision

AMAK’s goal is to be the leading mining company in Saudi Arabia and the GCC region with sus-
tainable value created for all stakeholders including shareholders, employees, the communities
it operates in, contractors and suppliers.

Objectives

To contribute to empowering the national economy, utilizing the mineral assets in the kingdom
of Saudi Arabia, and to dedicate our endeavors to make the mining industry one of the economic
growth pillars in the Kingdom, in line with the Kingdom vision 2030, through expanding the com-
pany scope of operations across the region.

Mission

To contribute to empowering the national economy, utilizing the mineral assets in the kingdom
of Saudi Arabia, and to dedicate our endeavors to make the mining industry one of the economic
growth pillars in the Kingdom, in line with the Kingdom vision 2030, through expanding the com-
pany scope of operations across the region.

P Values

Our values are a reflection of our objective and identifies the meaning of work in Al-Masane Al-ko-
bra mining company.

Our values are the core of our culture and the model by which we always carry out our works.
Safety - Integrity - Leadership - Responsibility — Sustainability.

SAFETY

Safety is our priority; We provide a safe work
environment and take care and implement ap-
propriate procedures and plans for safety at
work sites.

CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT

We are not satisfied only with what we have
achieved, but we celebrate our success, strive
for excellence and perfection, and lead change
with all our might.

INTEGRITY

We uphold the highest standards of conduct
and business ethics, at all levels of the compa-
ny’s business.

TEAMWORK

We work to achieve important achievements
and carefully studied goals with a team spirit.

9



FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

(SAR 000) 2020G 2021G 2022G
Sales 375,151 586,653 582,768
Cost of sales (249,892) (318,956) (374,408)
Gross profit 125,259 267,697 208,360
Selling and marketing expenses (16,543) (28,641) (24,824)
General and administrative expenses (19,980) (22,441) (39,588)
Operating income/(loss) 88,736 216,615 143,946
Finance cost (6,752) (13,547) (12,042)
Other (expenses) / income, net 208 65 10,705
Profit / (loss) before zakat and income tax 82,192 203,133 142,609
Zakat expense (2,308) (8,845) (11,381)
Income tax credit, net 8,919 2,977 4,896
Profit / (loss) for the year 88,803 197,265 126,331
Actuarial (loss) / gain on End of Service (1,236) (815) 1,295
Net profit / (loss) for the year 87,567 196,450 127,626
Statement of Financial Position Summary
(SAR 000) 2020G 2021G 2022G
Current Assets 202,906 368,224 773,252
Non-current Assets 744,011 744,037 774,619

Current Liabilities

149,340

198,538

179,141

Non-current Liabilities

345,591

265,287

148,533

Shareholder’s Equity

Share Captial 820,000 563,289 660,000
Share Premium - - 508,590
Statutory reserve 4,427 19,726 32,360
Treasury shares (131,809) (19,726) (16,021)
Retained earnings / (Loss) (240,632) 84,862 35,269
Total Equity 451,986 648,436 1,220,197

A 1



Geographical analysis of the total revenues of the Company

. 202 202
Geographical Area
Revenue Percentage Revenue Percentage
SAR (000) SAR (000)
United Kingdom 362,547 62% 428,607 73%
Europe 220,222 38% 158,046 27%

Disclosure of Loans

Saudi Industrial .
Banque Saudi

Development . Total
Loans movement 2022 Fun Fransi

SAR (000) SAR (000) SAR (000)
Opening balance 01-Jan-22 295,798 33,333 329,131
Payment (97,332) (33,578) (130,910)
Interest 9,154 244 9,399

Breakdown of Revenue

2022 2021
Product Revenue SAR Percentage Revenue SAR Percentage
(000) (000)
Copper Concentrate 187,656 32% 230,799 39%
Zinc Concentrate 174,891 30% 197,808 34%
Precious Metals 220,222 38% 158,046 27%

Total 582769  100% 586,653 100%
i
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Statement of statutory payments due and payable on account of any
zakat, taxes, fees

The company is
subject to the regu-

Due amount to be

Zakat and Tax 14,762,819 14,227,606 lations of the Gen- .
. paid in Apr 2023
eral Authority for
Zakat and Income
The company is
subject to the regu- Due amount to be
Severance fee 38,845,491 5,544,080 lations of the Minis- .
paid in Apr 2023
try of Industry and
Mineral Resources
The company is
GOSI 3,474,125 349,384 Suiblee i e sefal | e el i b
. paid in Apr 2023
Insurance system
The company is Due amount to be
subject to the Gen- Received after ZATCA
VAT (41,504,084) (9,581,964) eral Authority for audit 2022 for Nov
Zakat and Income  and Dec 2022
The company
) renews residence
Cost of Visa

and Passpass-
port

1,219,516

permits for its
workers, as well
as exit and return
visas
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PRODUCTION

The following table shows the production of Ore, Mill throughput, production of Copper and Zinc
concentrates and Gold and Silver dore for the last three years.

ALM Mine Production

Year Al Masane Mine

Production statistics 2020 G 2021 G 2022 G
Cu (%) 1.01 0.83 0.82
Zn (%) 4.42 3.64 3.45
Au (gpt) 1.02 0.90 0.86
Ag (gpt) 37.14 32.74 28.22
Cu (%) 1.00 0.89 089 BUSINESS OVERVIEW
Zn (%) 3.74 3.36 3.35
Au (gpt) 0.95 0.98 0.91
Ag (gpt) 33.13 32.73 28.78
Cu Recovery (%) 81.12 78.68 76.75
Zn Recovery (%) 80.53 79.89 78.04

Guyan Gold Mine production statistics

The following table shows the Mill throughput, production of Gold for
the year 2022 and comparison with 2021.

Guyan Gold Mine 2022 2021
Tonnes milled (metric tonnes) | 471,898 350,338
Gold (0z) 24,864 17,706
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

About Us

Al-Masane Al-Kobra Mining Co. (AMAK) is a mining company registered and licensed by the
Ministry of Industry and Mineral Resources and is located in the Najran region in the Kingdom of
Saudi Arabia.

Since inception in 2008, Al Masane Al Kobra Mining Company has adopted a long-term advanced
business strategy, based on the research and sustainable growth of its technical and operational
infrastructure to support all of its various activities. AMAK aims to achieve an array of major
successes in order to be the leader in the mining sector in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

The company applies all business requirements related to this field, including exploration,
processing, smelting, and mining in line with the latest and advanced global best practices.
The company began commercial production of copper and zinc concentrates in 2012, with the
areas where it invests extending to include various and wide geological areas in the southern
area of the Kingdom, such as Al Masane Underground Mine, which covers three areas: Saadah,
Al-Houra and Moyeath. A new underground portal was inaugurated by the company in 2019 to
reach the third mining zone in Moyeath.

AMAK has become one of the major mining companies in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. We produce
copper, zinc, gold, and silver in distinct commercial quantities, adopting an advanced business
model that is based on extending the life of the mines to increase mineral resources, identify and
follow up the exploration of similar promising deposits in the Kingdom or abroad. We ensure a
safe working environment wherein our human capital is absolutely the most important asset of
the company.

As part of our advanced professional practices, which we apply in all our activities and events
within our work channels, AMAK adopts the highest standards of governance over our strategic
relationships with the community and the local environment during the development of our
projects. The company strives to achieve real development of the community, while maintaining
the integrity of the geographical and environmental ambiance, in accordance with the highest
professional standards applied globally in this field.

ABOUT AMAK MINES

Al Masane Mine

Al Masane Mine is the main mining camp of AMAK, that has been discovered for the first time in
1967 and is in Najran southwest of the Kingdom, at an elevation of 1620 meters. It lays about
414 kms away from Jizan port on the red sea, which is used as a point of discharge of copper and
zinc concentrates. It also lies around 640 kms away from Jeddah. The camp is connected with an
asphalt road leading to Najran.

The camp was established in 2008 with construction works started in 2010. Production of copper
and zinc concentrates started in 2012.

A 16

The mine has an annual mining and processing capacity of around 800 thousand tons and includes
three geological zones: Saadah, Al Houra, and Moyeath. In 2019, a new underground portal was
launched to reach the new mining zone; (Moyeath).

The ore extracted underground is directly transported to the process plant, which operates at a
production capacity of 100 tons/hour to produce copper metal and zinc metal in the concentrates.
The current production capacity is 21,190 dmt of copper and 41,190 dmt of zinc yearly. The
production of gold and silver, doré, as a by-product of copper and zinc processing, also started
commercially in 2018.

Guyan Gold Mine

In line with the sustainable business development strategy, AMAK has constructed and
commissioned Guyan Gold Mine, which is designed and built to produce 40,000 oz per year at full
capacity. The open mining started in late 2020 and the process plant was commissioned in early
2021. The first gold smelting from Guyan Gold Mine was done in January 2021.

Guyan is a high-grade open pit mining operation. The excavated ore from the open pit is crushed
at the crusher near the pit before being trucked to the Process plant. The Guyan Process Plant is
established in the main AMAK Camp, which is 15 kilometres from the open pit.

Guyan Process Plant has a throughput capacity of 400,000 tons per year. In the Process Plant, ore
goes through grinding, gravity circuit, CIP, elution, smelting and filtering stages. At Guyan Gold
plant AMAK produces gold bars (Doré) and ships to refineries. AMAK continues exploration works
at concessions in the deeper and nearby levels of orebodies alike, relying on the data provided
by satellites equipped with advanced technologies to carry on with the broadly promising pit
development drilling opportunities at Al Masane, Guyan, Al Aqiqg and other mineralization zones.

17



ALM Expansion -Moyeath Project

AMAK has initiated a new expansion project in 2019 to develop the Moyeath orebody. Moyeath is
a high-grade massive sulphide mineralization with very high zinc and silver and gold grades, with
a significant amount of copper and gold.

Allthe metallurgical testworks were completed in 2019 and 2020 and a new processing plant has
been designed to process this special orebody. Consultants from South Africa and Australia are
currently working to complete the detailed engineering of the proposed process plant, which will
have a mill throughput capacity of 400,000 tons per year.

Together with Moyeath Plant, the AMAK’s base metal processing capacity will increase by 50%
reaching up to 1.2 million tons per year — extending the life of the mine for more than 10 years.
With the scheduled commissioning of Moyeath Process Plant in 2023, AMAK’s zinc output is
designed to increase by more than 80% and copper output by 50% plus gold and silver.
Resource development drilling and underground infrastructure to support the production of high-
quality ore are ongoing, aiming to prolong the life of the processing plant for more than 10 years.

ALM Mine

The following table shows the production of Ore, Mill throughput, production of Copper and Zinc
concentrates and Gold and Silver dore for the last 3 years:

Year Al Masane Mine

Production statistics 12020 G 12021G 12022G
Cu (%) 1.01 0.83 0.82
Zn (%) 4.42 3.64 3.45
Au (gpt) 1.02 0.90 0.86
Ag (gpt) 37.14 32.74 28.22
Tonnes milled (metric tonnes) 800,798 791,817 780,761
Cu (%) 1.00 0.82 0.82
Zn (%) 3.74 3.36 3.35
Au (gpt) 0.95 0.98 0.91
Ag (gpt) 33.13 32.73 28.78
Cu Recovery (%) 81.12 78.68 76.75
Zn Recovery (%) 80.53 79.89 78.04

18

Tonnes
(metric

Tonnes mined

(underground) Zn Concen- Cu Concen-

(metric tonnes) tonnes) trate (dmt) trate (dmt) Gold (02) Silver (02)
2020 G 823,537 800,798 45,825 24,592 8,172 63,572
2021 G 813,940 791,817 42,398 21,971 7,197 105,624
2022G 797,720 780,761 41,151 21,190 6,046 87,097

Tonnes mined (underground) (metric tonnes) Tonnes milled (metric tonnes)

1,000,000 1,000,000

823,537 813,940 797,720 800,798 791,817 780,761
800,000 800,000
600,000 600,000
400,000 400,000
200,000 200,000
0 0

2020G 2021G 2022G 2020G 2021G 2022G

Zn Concentrate (dmt) Cu Concentrate (dmt)
50,000 30,000
: 45,825 :
42,398 41,151 24,592
40,000 25,000 21,971 21,190
20,000
30,000
15,000
20,000
10,000
10,000 5.000
0 0
2020G 2021G 2022G 2020G 2021G 2022G
Gold (o0z) Silver (oz)
10,000 0172 150,000
7,197 105,624
6,046 100,000 87,097
5,000 63,572
50,000 I
0 0
2020G 2021G 2022G 2020G 2021G 2022G

GUYAN GOLD MINE PRODUCTION STATISTICS

The following table shows the Mill throughput, production of Gold for
the year 2022 and comparison with 2021

Guyan Gold Mine 2022 2021
Tonnes milled (metric tonnes) | 471,898 350,338
Gold (02) 24,864 17,706
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RESOURCES AND RESERVES

The Company’s primary operations are the operation of Al Masane Copper/Zinc Mine and Guyan
Gold Mine. Al Masane Mine is located at the main Al Masane mining camp and produces copper
and zinc concentrates and silver and gold Doré. The Guyan Mine is located approximately 12km
from Al Masane Mine and produces gold and silver Doré.

AMAK Mineral Resource and Reserves Statements December 2022
in accordance with JORC 2012

a. Introduction

The Mineral Resource and Ore Reserves of a mining company are key assets of the business.
The Ore Reserve and Mineral Resource estimates in this report were prepared by Competent Per-
sons in accordance with the requirements of the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration
Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves 2012 edition (the JORC Code).

The JORC Code represents current global industry best practice for the reporting of Ore Reserves
and Mineral Resources.

The reporting of Ore Reserve and Mineral Resource estimates by AMAK and SRK complies with
the principles of transparency, materiality, and competence in the JORC Code for the estimation,
classification, reporting, review, and presentation of this report.

The Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves terminology used in this report follows the definitions
in the JORC Code. Additional terms are defined in the Glossary.

b. Qualifications / Competent Persons

The Mineral Resource and Mineral Reserve Report for the Al Masane Cu-Zn-Au-Ag Mine, Jabal
Guyan Gold Mine, Al Agiq Gold Project and Khutianah (previously “QV-08") Gold Project were
prepared by SRK and AMAK. The report has been prepared in accordance with the Austral-
asian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves, the
JORC Code, 2012 Edition (“JORC Code”).

The Mineral Resource estimates were prepared by AMAK Geologist who are Ismail Cakici
(Senior Resource Geologist MAusIMM (3060478)) and Behzat Ersen Sahindur (Al Masane
Geology Manager MAusIMM (328628)) and reviewed by SRK Competent Person who is Guy
Dishaw (P.Geo (CP)), a Principal Mining Geologist at SRK, who has sufficient experience which
is relevant to the styles of mineralisation and types of deposit under consideration and to the
activity which he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person (“CP”) as defined in the
JORC Code for the Mineral Resource and. Guy was assisted in the Mineral Resource review by
James Williams (FGS) and Laura Donegan (CGeol), a Resource Geologist.

Guy Dishaw has undertaken three site visits to Al Masane. The first was undertaken in April
2016 and consisted of underground mapping of all exposures at Saadah and Al Houra which
informed both the 2016 Al Masane MRE and the MRE update for the Sadaah deposit in 2017.
The second site visit was conducted in October 2016 at the beginning of the underground drill
program. The third and fourth visits were conducted in March 2022 and October 2022 verified
the data collection procedures, inspection of drill core, geological mapping, and underground
and surface mine visits.

Al Masane Cu-Zn-Au-Ag mine ore reserve was prepared by Sinan Burak Avci (Al Masane UG
Mine Manager MAusIMM (326493)).

Jabal Guyan gold mine and Al Aqiq gold project ore reserves were prepared by Nihat Soyer
(Guyan Mine Manager MAusIMM (3053695)).
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AL MASANE CU-ZN-AU-AG MINE MINERAL
RESOURCE STATEMENT

Mineral Resource Statement for Al Masane Cu-Zn-Au-Ag mine, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia,
as of 1st September 2022;

Mineral

Resource Tonnes

Category Deposit (X1,000,000) Cu% Zn % Aug/t Agg/t CuEq%

Measured Saadah 1.07 1.20 4.49 0.94 31.65 3.14
Al Houra 1.16 0.90 3.87 0.94 31.16 2.68
Moyeath 0.36 0.83 9.47 1.34 72.77 4.57

Indicated Saadah 1.17 1.44 3.82 0.83 23.16 3.08
Al Houra 0.78 0.84 3.85 1.27 36.69 2.88
Moyeath 2.21 0.64 6.32 1.21 49.28 3.34

Total Measured and Indicated 6.75 0.94 5.05 1.07 38.62 3.16

Inferred Saadah 0.45 1.31 3.32 0.87 28.48 2.90
Al Houra 0.01 0.80 4.00 0.76 27.67 2.47
Moyeath 0.30 0.41 3.97 1.21 42.06 2.49

Total Inferred Resource 0.77 0.95 3.59 1.00 33.81 2.73

Total Mineral Resource 7.51 0.94 4.90 1.06 38.13 3.12

Mineral Resource Statement stated in table notes the following;

« Mineral Resources are not Ore Reserves and do not have demonstrated economic viabil-
ity.

« Mineral Resources are reported Inclusive of Mineral Reserves.

« The long-term commodity price assumption is USD9,350/t for Cu, USD3,000/t for Zn,
USD24/oz for Ag and USD1,800/0z for Au. The underground Mineral Resources are re-
ported within broad regions identified by the MSO as satisfying RPEEE above a 1.0 %Cu
equivalent value.

- The reported Mineral Resources have an effective date of 1 September 2022. The Com-
petent Person for the declaration of Mineral Resources is Guy Dishaw, P.Geo., of SRK Con-
sulting (UK) Ltd.

« The Mineral Resource estimate was prepared by AMAK personnel and has been reviewed
by SRK. The Mineral Resource estimate considers drilling and sampling data up to early
14 September 2022 and has been depleted by survey volume representing mining to 1
September 2022.

e Mineral Resources are reported as undiluted. No mining recovery has been applied in the
Statement.

« Areas identified as sill pillars (due to the mining design) have been excluded from the
resource.

- Tonnages are reported in metric units, grades in grams per tonne (g/t) and in per cent (%).
Tonnages and grade totals are rounded appropriately.

« Rounding, as required by reporting guidelines, may result in apparent summation.

>
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JABAL GUYAN GOLD MINE MINERAL
RESOURCE STATEMENT

Mineral Resource Statement for Jabal Guyan Gold Mine, Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia, as of 31 October 2022;

Tonnes Au Ounces
Type Category (X1,000) Au g/t (X1,000)
Measured 206 2.91 19.3
Open Pit Indicated 1,045 2.58 86.7
Inferred 117 2.80 10.5
OP Measured, Indicated and Inferred Total 1,368 2.6 116.5
Measured 7 1.38 0.3
Underground Indicated 624 1.94 38.9
Inferred 1,078 2.40 83.2
UG Measured, Indicated and Inferred Total 1,709 2.20 122.4
Total Mineral Resource 3,077 241 238.9

Mineral Resource Statement stated in table notes the following;

Mineral Resources are not Ore Reserves and do not have demonstrated economic viabil-
ity.

Mineral Resources are reported inclusive of Mineral Reserves.

The long-term commodity price assumption is USD1,800/0z for Au.

The open pit Mineral Resource are reported within an optimised pit shell above a 0.64
g/t Au cut-off, and the underground Mineral Resources are reported outside the open pit
shell within contiguous regions identified by the MSO as satisfying RPEEE above a 1.05
g/t Au cut-off grade.

The reported Mineral Resources have an effective date of 1 October 2022. The Compe-
tent Person for the declaration of Mineral Resources is Guy Dishaw, P.Geo., of SRK Con-
sulting (UK) Ltd.

The Mineral Resource estimate was prepared by AMAK personnel and has been reviewed
by SRK. The Mineral Resource estimate considers drilling and sampling data up to 27 Sep-
tember 2022 and has been depleted by survey volumes representing mining to 1 October
2022.

Mineral Resources are reported as undiluted. No mining recovery has been applied in the
Statement.

Tonnages are reported in metric units, grades in grams per tonne (g/t) and in per cent (%).
Tonnages and grade totals are rounded appropriately.

Rounding, as required by reporting guidelines, may result in apparent summation.

c. Al Agiq Gold Project Mineral Resource Statement

Mineral Resource Statement for Al Agiq Gold Project, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia,
as of 26 October 2022;

22

Tonnes Au Ounces

Type Category (X1,000) Au g/t (X1,000)
Open Pit Indicated 121 1.4 5.4
Inferred 106 1 3.5
OP Indicated and Inferred Total 227 1.2 8.9
Indicated 134 2.43 10.5
Underground
Inferred 123 1.8 7.1
UG Indicated and Inferred Total 257 2.1 17.6
Total Mineral Resource 484 1.71 26.5

Mineral Resource Statement stated in table notes the following;

- Mineral Resources are not Ore Reserves and do not have demonstrated economic viabili-
ty.

« Mineral Resources are reported inclusive of Mineral Reserves.

« The long-term commodity price assumption is USD1,800/0z for Au.

- The open pit Mineral Resource are reported within an optimised pit shell above a 0.51
g/t Au cut-off, and the underground Mineral Resources are reported outside the open pit
shell within contiguous regions identified by the MSO as satisfying RPEEE above a 1.05 g/t
Au cut-off grade.

- The reported Mineral Resources have an effective date of 26 October 2022. The Compe-
tent Person for the declaration of Mineral Resources is Guy Dishaw, P.Geo., of SRK Con-
sulting (UK) Ltd.

« The Mineral Resource estimate was prepared by AMAK personnel and has been reviewed
by SRK. The Mineral Resource estimate considers drilling and sampling data up to Sep-
tember 2022, no mining has occurred at the Project to date.

« Mineral Resources are reported as undiluted. No mining recovery has been applied in the
Statement.

« Tonnages are reported in metric units, grades in grams per tonne (g/t) and in per cent (%).
Tonnages and grade totals are rounded appropriately.

« Rounding, as required by reporting guidelines, may result in apparent summation.

KHUTIANAH GOLD PROJECT MINERAL
RESOURCE STATEMENT

Mineral Resource Statement for Khutianah Gold Project, Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia, as of 31 December 2022;

Tonnes Au Ounces
Type Category (X 1,000) Au g/t (X 1,000)
. Indicated 38 2.0 2.5

Open Pit

Inferred 101 2.0 6.5
OP Indicated and Inferred Total 139 2.0 9.0

Indicated 70 2.0 4.6
Underground

Inferred 484 1.8 27.5
UG Indicated and Inferred Total 554 1.8 32.9
Total Mineral Resource 693 1.8 41.0
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Mineral

Resource Statement stated in table notes the following;

Mineral Resources are not Ore Reserves and do not have demonstrated economic viabil-
ity.

The long-term commodity price assumption is USD1,800/0z for Au.

The open pit Mineral Resource are reported within an optimised pit shell above a 0.70
g/t Au cut-off, and the underground Mineral Resources are reported outside the open pit
shell within contiguous regions identified by the MSO as satisfying RPEEE above a 1.05
g/t Au cut-off grade.

The reported Mineral Resources have an effective date of 31 December 2022. The Com-
petent Person for the declaration of Mineral Resources is Guy Dishaw, P.Geo., of SRK Con-
sulting (UK) Ltd.

The Mineral Resource estimate was prepared by AMAK personnel and has been reviewed
by SRK. The Mineral Resource estimate considers drilling and sampling data up to De-
cember 2022, no mining has occurred at the project to date.

Mineral Resources are reported as undiluted. No mining recovery has been applied in the
Statement.

Tonnages are reported in metric units, grades in grams per tonne (g/t) and in per cent (%).
Tonnages and grade totals are rounded appropriately.

Rounding, as required by reporting guidelines, may result in apparent summation.

AL MASANE CU-ZN-AU-AG MINE ORE RESERVE

Ore Reserve Statement for Al Masane Cu-Zn-Au-Ag Mine, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia,

as of December 2022;
Tonnes
Reserve Category (X1,000,000) Cu% Zn % Aug/t Agg/t CuEq%
Proven 2.98 0.62 3.41 0.68 25.31 2.08
Probable 4.06 0.67 4.28 0.90 32.97 2.55
Total Ore Reserve 7.04 0.65 3.91 0.81 29.73 2.35
Mineral Resource Statement stated in table notes the following;

Ore Reserves have demonstrated economic viability.

The reporting standard adopted for the reporting of the ORE uses the terminology, defini-
tions and guidelines given in the Joint Ore Reserves Committee (JORC) Australasian Code
for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (2012).

The Competent Person for reporting of Ore Reserves is Sinan Burak Avci MAusIMM
(326493), an AMAK employee who is Al Masane UG Mine Manager.

Ore Reserves are reported above a break-even copper equivalent cut-off grade of 1.00%
or for a small number of stopes a marginal copper equivalent cut-off grade of 0.66%. The
copper equivalent grade is derived from the NSR model and calculated based on equiva-
lent factors for the Ore Reserves of (Cu % * 1.00) + (Zn % *0.198) + (Au g/t * 0.615) + (Ag
g/t * 0.009). The NSR calculation is based on metal prices of USD9,350/t Cu, USD3,000/t
Zn, USD1,800/0z Au and USD24.00/0z Ag.

Modifying factors for unplanned dilution of 0.60 m dilution skin for both HW and FW addi-
tional 10% and mining recovery of 98%.

All figures are rounded to reflect the relative accuracy of the estimate.
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JABAL GUYAN GOLD MINE ORE RESERVE

Ore Reserve Statement for Jabal Guyan Gold Mine, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia,
as of December 2022;

Tonnes Au Ounces
Type Reserve Category (X1,000) Au g/t (X1,000)
. Proven 159 2.70 13.8
Open Pit
Probable 842 2.17 58.7
OP Proven and Probable Total 1,001 2.25 72.5
Undersround Proven 43 1.02 1.4
g Probable 2,529 1.63 132.7
UG Proven and Probable Total 2,572 1.62 134.1
Total Ore Reserve 3,573 1.80 206.6

Mineral Resource Statement stated in table notes the following;

Ore Reserves have demonstrated economic viability.

The reporting standard adopted for the reporting of the ORE uses the terminology, defini-
tions and guidelines given in the Joint Ore Reserves Committee (JORC) Australasian Code
for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (2012).

The Competent Person for reporting of Ore Reserves is Nihat Soyer MAusIMM (3053695),
an AMAK employee who is Guyan Mine Manager.

Reported at open pit cut-off grade of 0.5 g/t Au and underground cut-off grade of 0.95 g/t
Au.

The Ore Reserve incorporates additional mining dilution of 34.4% and recovery of 89.2%
to that included in the regularised mining model.

Modifying factors for UG unplanned dilution of 0.30 m dilution skin for both HW and FW.
All figures are rounded to reflect the relative accuracy of the estimate.

AL AQIQ GOLD PROJECT ORE RESERVE

Ore Reserve Statement for AL Aqiq Gold Project, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia,

as of December 2022;
Tonnes Au Ounces
Type Reserve Category (X1,000) Au g/t (X1,000)
. Proven = = =
Open Pit Probable 105 1.41 48
OP Proven and Probable Total 105 1.41 4.8
Underground Proven . . .
Probable 188 1.80 10.9
UG Proven and Probable Total 188 1.80 10.9
Total Ore Reserve 293 1.66 15.7

25



Mineral Resource Statement stated in table notes the following;

- Ore Reserves have demonstrated economic viability.

- Thereporting standard adopted for the reporting of the ORE uses the terminology, defini-
tions and guidelines given in the Joint Ore Reserves Committee (JORC) Australasian Code
for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (2012).

- The Competent Person for reporting of Ore Reserves is Nihat Soyer MAusIMM (3053695),
an AMAK employee who is Guyan Mine Manager.

- Reported at open pit cut-off grade of 0.5 g/t Au and underground cut-off grade of 0.95 g/t
Au.

« The Ore Reserve incorporates additional mining dilution of 6.1% and recovery of 69 % to
that included in the regularized mining model.

« Modifying factors for UG unplanned dilution of 0.30 m dilution skin for both HW and FW.

« Allfigures are rounded to reflect the relative accuracy of the estimate.
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MARKET OVERVIEW

The Kingdom’s geology gives it an abundance of natural resources and raw materials. In recent
years, Saudi Arabia has witnessed remarkable growth in the production of primary, midstream,
and downstream mineral and metals products catering to both local and export markets.
Currently, Saudi Arabia strives to increase the mining sector’s contribution to the Saudi economy,
as part of the Kingdom’s 2030 vision, to become the third pillar of KSA Industry alongside oil &
gas and petrochemicals.

Accordingly, the Saudi Industrial Clusters Program, along with its strategic partners, is working to
expand primary materials industries (midstream), and to develop sustainable and globally com-
petitive value-added semi-finished and finished metal industries (downstream) that support the
Kingdom’s goals of diversification and development of advanced industries such as automotive,
aerospace, shipbuilding, machinery & equipment, and others.

The Minerals and Metals Cluster is currently directing its efforts towards expanding the alumi-
num, steel, and copper/zinc industrial base, in addition to, titanium and specialty metals, tanta-
lum, niobium, rare earth elements, and quartz/silica industries.

On the other hand, the large existing demand for copper products (i.e., cables and rods) provides
an opportunity for expanding copper mining, developing a copper smelter, and expanding the ex-
isting downstream industries into new products such as tubes, bars, plates, and others.

The mining industry is the key pillar of economic diversification. The minerals will be used for the
creation of heavy industries in all fields: automobile, fertilizer, and battery.

Currently, investments in Saudi Arabia’s mining sector are valued between SR170 and SR180 bil-
lion (US$45.3 to $47.96 billion). Khaled Al-Mudaifer, the vice minister for Mining Affairs at Saudi
Arabia’s Ministry of Industry and Mineral Resources, expects this figure to grow an additional 150
percent within a decade.

To boost its mineral production and move towards the 2030 vision of economic diversification,
Saudi Arabiais investing heavily in its mining sector. While the official Saudi Press Agency reports
that more than 1,290 plants are currently producing mineral products in Saudi industrial cities,
the kingdom auctioned off new mining licenses in 2022 and aims to create more than 200,000
direct and indirect jobs in the sector by 2030.

The kingdom’s other major project is to open the mining market up to foreign investors by priva-
tising the country’s mining companies.
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EXTERNAL ENVIRONMENT

Saudi Arabia’s economy is in a very good position going into 2023, despite the twin economic
shocks of recovering from the Covid-19-induced recession and the conflict in Ukraine. It is esti-
mated that The Kingdom’s economy grew by 8.8% in the third quarter of 2022 compared to the
same period a year earlier.

The Economist Intelligence Unit’s assessment of The Kingdom estimated that in 2022 Saudi Ara-
bia recorded the fastest rate of growth among all the world’s major economies, with full-year GDP
growth at 9.1% This would be the highest since 2011 and outperforming not only the major de-
veloped economies of the G7 but also other emerging market economies such as China, India and
Indonesia. The International Monetary Fund also expects Saudi Arabia to be the fastest-growing
economy in the G20 for 2022.

Non-oil activities are projected to have grown by 5.2% by the end of 2022 and these are expected
to grow by a further 4.3% in 2023.

Oil production, a central pillar of the Saudi economy, saw strong gains in 2022 with an average
output of 10.6 million barrels per day and this is expected to increase in 2023.

The government’s finances are in good order, with fiscal revenues strong throughout 2022, allow-
ing it to post a surplus of 2.3% of GDP. This is projected to continue into 2023, with a potential
surplus of 1.9% of GDP. These will ensure the government has ample funding available for Vision
2030 diversification projects.

Inflation saw an uptick in 2022, reaching as high as 3.1% in September. It has since fallen to
2.9% and is expected to fall further to 2.6% by the end of the year. However, this is far below
the inflation rates seen in several advanced economies around the world, where inflation has
exceeded double digits. This rate is expected to fall to 2.2% in 2023.

STRATEGIES AND OUTLOOK

Our Approach

AMAK has a long history and track record of achievements and success, by which it has become
the real leader of the mining sector in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, and has demonstrated the
following competitive advantages in the sector:

- A robust operational and technical infrastructure, managed by competent, experienced,
and talented people.

« An advanced business strategy, which provides for the resiliency and efficiency required
to overcome challenges and convert them into real success opportunities.

- Adoption of distinct professional practices, through which the company extends the life of
its mines, through the increase of mineral resources available within them.

- High proficiency in identifying and exploring deposits, and finding nearby, high quality and
similar metal deposits.

- Constantly working on discovering similar regional mineralization projects.

i
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We are the pioneers of the mining sector in The Kingdom and set new standards in the mining
business. AMAK has obtained approvals from all relevant governmental authorities and has start-
ed the exploration process to identify the locations of mineral deposits such as copper, zinc, lead,
gold, silver, nickel, etc. Drilling works are then carried out to obtain samples of minerals

to analyse its quality. Diamond drilling works are also implemented to identify the quantity of
orebodies. Initial data is then collected to calculate project estimates in line with international
reporting standards such as NI 43101 (Canada) and JORC CODE (Australia).

Strategy for the Future

« To contribute to achieving the goals of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia’s vision 2030, the
mostimportant of which is to increase the private sector’s contribution to GDP from 40%
to 65% and raise the share of non-oil exports in non-oil GDP from 16% to 50%.

- Continue the Company’s growth through the expansion of operations into existing and
new regions of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

« Extend the life of our mines to more than 20 years with resource development at deeper
levels, nearby exploration, local area exploration, greenfield reconnaissance, and explo-
ration in new concessions acquired from the Ministry of Industry and Mineral Resources
(MIM).

« Expand the Company’s exploration license areas. To this end the Company has recently
more than tripled the exploration license area near the existing Al Masane Mining License
and intends to conduct further exploration in this area. This area includes four known
mineralization prospects identified in the Competent Person’s Reports (CPR). The Com-
pany believes that the most promising prospects are in the Wadi Shann and the Compa-
ny intends to commence diamond drilling at these prospects in 2023 for Wadi Shan. In
Al Masane Mining License, there are several other mineral occurrences identified which
need further geological works and studies.

e Maintain position in the 25th percentile of low-cost producers of copper, zinc, and gold to
mitigate against the impact of the metal price cycles. The Company is a low-cost Copper
and Zinc producer due to the gold and silver which can be found in our Copper concen-
trate, as well as our cost-effective mass production methods used underground.

e Sustain high quality and lowest impurity Copper and Zinc concentrates and continue to
be a producer of choice for Copper and Zinc smelters in Southeast Asia. Zinc concentrate
produced at the Company is tradeable to Chinese smelters due to very low impurities and
high Zinc metal content in the concentrate. Also, our Copper concentrate has a consider-
able amount of gold (+5 gpt) and silver (+300 gpt) which makes this product more attrac-
tive for certain smelters. Moyeath Copper Concentrate will have 24.7% copper, 18.7gpt
Gold, and 596gpt Silver (average across the life of the mine).

- Train local human resources to decrease the dependency on expatriates in our workforce.
The Company will especially focus on the training and education of local engineers and
technicians, who will be developing and managing mining operations in the country and
region.

« Investindigital transformation of our mining operations to minimize human exposure.

>

29



a. Capital Projects

The Company plans to expand its current activity by further developing the Moyeath orebody
development project for the purpose of increasing the productive capacity of Al Masane under-
ground mine. In addition, the Company plans to expand its exploration activities by conducting
further drilling programs to identify further Mineral Resources and the existing copper, gold, zinc,
nickel prospects which are under the Exploration Licenses of Al Masane, Guyan and Qatan.

b. Saudization Program

The company is a firm believer in the value of a diverse workforce and an inclusive workplace
in order to create the future of AMAK. As part of its Saudization efforts, the company is always
seeking to attract and develop the local workforce. Notwithstanding the exceptional difficulties
of the remote work location of the minesite, the company remained committed to putting the
Saudization strategy into practice to be able to increase the percentage of Saudization.

To enhance the local talent pool, the company, in partnership with Saudi Mining Polytechnic (SMP),
has enrolled 30 Saudis to be trained for different aspects of mining and processing operations.
This is in addition to the on-going annual training programs for Saudis who are currently working
with the company to address training gaps for their individual development.

The plan for Saudi employees to handle larger roles in the coming years is within reach as we
have increased the number of Saudi engineers and other professionals who are now undergoing
an in-house 1-year Saudi training program. This is hands-on training under the direct supervision
of our technical experts as their advisor.

A career development policy and succession plans have already been put in place to ensure that
the trained Saudis will be able to handle Supervisory and Managerial roles to further support the
initiatives.

Saudi Women in Mining will also be part of the company’s long-term development program.
Due to remote work locations however, safety is the paramount consideration, thus a separate
accommodation and safe working areas are well thought-out.

EXPLORATIONS PROJECTS AND
NEW EXPLORATION LICENCES

AMAK in Exploration Growth Mode

As of 31 December 2022, AMAK had expanded and progressed with dedicated team the
exploration for both Brownfield exploration licenses and Greenfield exploration licenses on top of
the Project Generation of the 12 Reconnaissance licenses and the Ministry Bidding opportunities.

Key Pipeline Movement at the End of the Year 2022
compared to Dec 2021

« 2 exploration (Guyan and Qatan) + 5 new Exploration licenses 2022 -Antaq 1, Antaq 2,
Antaq 3, Antaq 4, Radeniah East.

e 2 Kutam and Mazjuah is granted + 2 exploration is granted to be issued during 2023

« Drilled early and brough to technical decision point AlAgigand Khutianah gold deposits,
Khutianah jumped three stages and Al Agiq one stage on the exploration pipeline and
will be mineable as satellite pitin 2023.

- Ranked targets under rationalization to advance in a balanced Exploration pipeline,
123 identified targets across 9 exploration licenses and 2 mining license.

31



AMAK currently operates Al Masane Mine and Guyan Gold mine, which can be found 650km
southeast of Jeddah. The mines are accessible via Abha and Najran Airport, with good tarred
roads and Jizan Sea port located 450km southwest for the export of Cu, Zn, Au, Ag concentrate.
However, AMAK is a listed pioneer company in the mining sector, and we have a clear vision of ex-
pansion via exploration, discovery, and development of mining projects in line with Vision 2030.
AMAK has a total of seven exploration licences. These include Guyan and Qatan exploration li-
cences, together with five exploration licences granted in 2022 - Antaq 1, 2, 3, and 4, plus Rad-
eniah East. We have made applications for four more exploration licences within Najran, Asir and
Riyadh regions, including at Kutam and Mazjuah. All these applications have been granted and we
anticipate that they will be issued soon.

A team has been deployed to accelerate Exploration and Reconnaissance Licence evaluations in
the prospective areas of the Arabian Shield and this work is ongoing. The Arabian Shield forms
one-half of the Arabian-Nubian Shield, an exposure of Precambrian crystalline rocks on the flanks
of the Red Sea. This area has been the site of precious and industrial metal mining in Saudi Arabia
for over 5,000 years due to the rich deposits there.

AMAK has a proven ability to develop successful and rapid exploration projects. The Guyan Gold
Mine for instance took five years from the first conducted geophysics surveys in December 2015
to the first gold pour in January 2021. As you can see from the timeline of key milestones below
for the Guyan Gold mine, AMAK proceeded quickly in developing the mine:

We expect exploration licences to be issued soon for new sites at Kutam and Mazjuah. At our Al
Agiqg and Khutianah gold deposits, AMAK has been able to drill early and bring them to a technical
decision point. Khutianah jumped three stages and Al Aqgiq one stage on the exploration pipeline
— the latter will be mineable as a satellite pit in 2023.

AMAK has also compiled a list of targets ranked targets to advance in a balanced exploration
pipeline, with 123 identified targets across nine exploration licences and two mining licences.
As well as exploring new sites through Greenfield exploration, AMAK continues to look at Brown-
field Exploration within our current mining licences at Al Masane and Guyan Mines, as well as
adjacent to our Guyan and Qatan Exploration Licences.
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Expanding in New Frontier within Prospective areas of the Arabian Shield.

The greenfield exploration highlights the first mover strategic requirements for AMAK as a pio-
neer listed mining company in Saudi Arabia to go for top quality opportunities at a regional scale.
During 2022, the exploration team maintained a high level of exploration activities with boots on
ground exploration using proven geological methods and drilling early-bring to decision as quick
as possible.
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PEOPLE OF AMAK

Putting our people at the heart of our business

At AMAK, we aim to become a model of responsible mining and sustainable development.
Ourresilient and driven people are the most important assets for our company. They have brought
us our success so far and are actively working to help us achieve a leading position in the mining
industry.

A collaborative, multiracial team utilizing best-in-class practices to discover, develop, and pro-
cess minerals profitably is the main pillar of our sustainable business operations. We prioritize
our people’s safety and environment, and the development of their skills, alongside a focus on
product grades and recovery, and plant availability and utilization.

Our corporate culture is one where employees are encouraged to explore the full potential of
their skill sets, where we aim to make the company inspiring, and our employees feel motivated

to work hard. SUSTAINABILITY AND INCLUSION

To date, AMAK has a total of 694 employees, with 124 joining in 2022. We are planning to hire an
additional 93 employees in 2023 to support the manpower requirements for the scheduled com-
missioning of the new Moyeath Processing Plant by the third quarter of 2023. Our Saudization
rate as of November 2022 is 32.14%.

Continuous Training and Development

AMAK provides all employees opportunities to acquire knowledge and develop skills through
manpower training and to achieve advantages by improvement of their performance. We help to
prepare them for positions of increasing responsibility, provide health, safety and environmental
management awareness, and encourage them to achieve the lasting personal satisfaction that
comes through using their abilities in the best possible way. All of this helps AMAK to thrive and
prosper, with enhanced organizational efficiency through greater productivity.

New employees joining AMAK undergo an Employee On-Boarding Program (EOP). The EOP is a
comprehensive orientation and induction program for new employees. Topics include Health,
Safety and Environment policies, Standards of Performance and Behavior at Work, Lifestyle and
well-being, and Valuing Diversity and Dignity at Work.

Moreover, to sustain AMAK’s learning and development program for its employees, an annual
Training Needs Analysis is conducted to identify training gaps which will form part of the internal
and external training programs provided to employees based on the Annual Training and Devel-
opment Master Plans.
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SUSTAINABILITY AND INCLUSION

Environmental, Social, and Governance

Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) issues have become increasingly important to or-
ganisations and companies across the world. A global effort towards greater sustainability in
business practice has led to an enhanced focus on assessing and managing environmental, so-
cial and governance risks. Stock exchanges, regulatory bodies, and government agencies have
mandated ESG-related reporting to help stakeholders understand how a company is dealing with
these risks and opportunities.

AMAK’s Commitment to ESG

AMAK believes strongly that each company in The Kingdom must play its part in enhancing our
oversight and action on all aspects of ESG. Our business has grown and developed, with our posi-
tion in the mining sector increasing each year, and this has been accompanied by a growing sense
of responsibility to examine all areas of our business and to see what more we can do to ensure
that everything we do benefits The Kingdom and its people in a sustainable way.

Sustainability is also a fundamental component of Saudi Arabia’s Vision 2030 initiative and AMAK
has begun the process of increasing its focus on ESG in a systematic manner, with a view to look-
ing at how we can strengthen our work on this comprehensively. As we develop our processes to
oversee data collection and manage changes where needed, we hope to provide more detailed
reporting on this in the future.

ESG Oversight

We have created an ESG Committee to support AMAK’s Board in providing oversight of all ESG
matters. This includes, but is not limited to, environmental, health and safety, corporate social re-
sponsibility, sustainability, philanthropy, corporate governance, reputation, diversity, equity and
inclusion, community issues, and other public policy matters relevant to the company.

Chaired by our CEO, Eng. Yahiya Al Shangiti, the committee comprises and members drawn from
key areas across AMAK. These include our Environmental Engineer, Government Relations Man-
ager, Mining Rights Manager and Company Representative on the Tadawul (Saudi stock exchange),
Human Resources Manager, and our Superintendent of Contracts and Procurement.
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l Shahad
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Environmental Ensineer Government Relation Company Representative Human Resources Supply Chain

g Manager in Tadawel and Money Manager Superintendent

Market

Our ESG Roadmap

Talk is cheap when it comes to ESG and AMAK aims to take decisive action to demonstrate our
determination to create change in this area. To turn our commitment to ESG from an intention
into concrete reform, AMAK has developed a detailed ESG Roadmap which will guide our work in
this area over the coming months and years. This plan encompasses every facet of our business,
and all strands of ESG oversight, and will potentially form the basis of our approach for the next
decade.

Several of these projects are already underway and we are determined to commit to ESG principles
and share more about ourimplementation of it in our future reports.

Our plan includes:

« The creation of a new Sustainability Policy for the company

« Establishing AMAK’s environmental footprint— our baseline and targets for the future such
as on our greenhouse gas emissions, energy use and water consumption

- A comprehensive review of AMAK’s social engagement, local hiring, local buying, our
complaint mechanisms, and our local contribution.

« Conducting a Materiality Matrix for the company, which assesses the company’s total ESG
footprint, provides a baseline to assess our performance, and which will be used to inform
our ESG strategies in the future.

« The use of advanced tracking software to keep an eye on the various ESG metrics so we
can monitor our progress.

- Consulting with experts on sustainability to create a Sustainability Report that can be
included in our Annual Reports.
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OUR ESG MATERIALITY MATRIX

Issues that matter on the long term

To get a clear understanding of the sustainability issues that concern our stakeholders, we con-
ducted a materiality assessment in 2022. The outcome has shaped our ESG framework and sus-
tainability reporting. These issues which are our focus areas, inform our sustainability index that
lays down our targets for each year on these material issues.
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Stewarding our Environment

AMAK is committed to following environmental regulations and conducting all our activities in an
environmentally friendly way. We are monitoring environmental parameters to ensure that our
activities are not affecting the environment in a negative way.

Here are just some of the ways in which we are trying to promote and protect the environment
where we operate:

Air Monitoring - Quarterly air monitoring is carried out by a third party to ensure that emis-
sions are within the necessary limits.

National Centre for Environmental Compliance (NCEC) - We have NCEC environmental
licenses for Al Masane Process Plant, Guyan Process Plant, Guyan Mine and Jizan Ware-
house.

Dust filters - Dust filters have been installed at Al Masane and Guyan site, and regular in-
spection and maintenance of the filters are carried out by NCEC approved parties to avoid
air pollution.

Water Quality Monitoring - Quarterly water quality monitoring is carried out by a third par-
ty to ensure that emissions are within the limit.
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Water Recycling - At AMAK we aim to reduce the usage of water by recycling our indus-
trial water and by using our Sewage Treatment Plant, which allows us to use this water in
our irrigation and dust suppression systems. In this way, we are able to recycle a total of
90,000m3 of water yearly.

Total Recycled Water from STP 90,000 m3 Yearly

Hazardous Waste Disposal — A hazardous waste disposal contract has been made with
SEPCO (a leading waste management company in The Kingdom) and disposal is carried
out as per the environmental laws.

Medical Waste Disposal — A medical waste disposal contract has also been made with
SEPCO and disposal is carried out as per the environmental laws.

Scrap Storage Areas - Different scrap storage areas have been made for the storage of
Hazardous Waste, Non-Hazardous Waste, Scrap Metals, Scrap Batteries and Scrap Elec-
trical Cables, etc.

Used Oil Disposal - We have a contract with a company approved by GAMEP (General Au-
thority of Meteorology and Environment Protection and disposal is carried out as per the
environmental laws.

Disposal of Tailings — Tailings are the materials left over after ores have been separat-
ed into their valuable and non-valuable fractions. Dedicated tailing collection areas have
been made with geomembrane linings and tailings are stored in those areas.

Green Zone Development - Trees have been planted near AMAK’s office area, camps,
roadsides, Processing Plant, near our Workshop, Scrap Yard etc. and plantation is contin-
uously done to increase the green zone further.

Sewage Treatment Plant (STP)- Around 250m? of treated water is produced per day from
our STP, which is used in dust suppression, plantation and production.

Housekeeping — A designated housekeeping team cleans the mine site on daily basis. We
have permission from Safa Municipality for the disposal of municipal waste in that area.

OUR SOCIAL PERFORMANCE

Health and Safety

Fatality rate Lost Time Injury (LTI) and Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR) are key metrics
which we use to assess our performance on health and safety. LTIs refer to incidents that result in
disability or an employee missing work due to an injury. LTIFR looks at the frequency with which
these incidents have occurred in the workplace per one million hours worked.

Year

2020
2021
2022

No. of LTI LTIFR
3 1.84
1 0.6

1 0.6
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Training and Safety in 2022

Training No
Total training hours 7000 hr
Safety training courses 18
Near miss reports 123

AMAK is committed to taking care of its employees, working hard to ensure their safety and that
of our contractor workers.

Internationally Recognised Standards and Procedures

We have an effective Health & Safety policy and procedures to ensure safe work at AMAK mine
sites. We work to internationally certified standards, with the following key management and
safety measures in place:

« AMAK is an IMS (Integrated Management System) certified company. We have imple-
mented ISO 9001, ISO 14001 and ISO 45001 management systems. AMAK laboratory
has been also accredited to ISO/IEC 17025:2017 standard.

« IS0 9001 is an international standard dedicated to Quality Management Systems (QMS).
It outlines a framework for improving quality and looking to provide products and services
that consistently meet the requirements and expectations of customers and other rele-
vant interested parties in the most efficient manner.

« ISO 14001 certification demonstrates that our product meets environmental protection
expectations, and we are fulfilling our legal obligations towards a safe environment.

« IS0 45001 is an international standard that specifies requirements for an occupational
health & safety (OHS) management system. By following the ISO 45001 management
system, we have improved our occupational health and safety performance and continue
to improve these measures each year.

« Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) — All employees, whether AMAK employees or Con-
tractors, have to wear mandatory and job-specific PPE at our sites.

« Health and Safety Environment (HSE) Training - All new employees must attend Safety
Induction Training before the start of their job with AMAK. Job-specific, refresher HSE
training is conducted periodically, to ensure employees are continually made aware of
their job-related hazards and the correct control measures.

e Permit to Work System — A Work Permit is required to do high risk activities like Isolation
and Lockout, Working at Height, Hot Work, Confined Space Entry, Lifting Activities and
Excavation.

« Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) — We have prepared SOPs for almost all important
activities, which set out the safe methods for performing each job.
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Emergency Preparedness - AMAK has a Fire Truck and Ambulance to handle any emer-
gency. Our Firefighting team has around 45 members to handle any fire situation. Assem-
bly point sign boards have been installed at various locations. Emergency mock drills are
conducted at regular intervals to assess our readiness for emergencies.

Fire Fighting — AMAK’s Fire Truck, multiple varying types of fire extinguishers, Fire Hose
cabinets, Fire hydrants, smoke detectors and heat detectors are available to handle any
fire at the mine site and camps.

AMAK Clinic - AMAK has an onsite clinic with basic medicines and equipment. One doctor
and two nurses are available. Clinic services are available 24/7.

Worksite Inspection - Periodic workplace inspection is carried out to find and rectify un-
safe work practices and conditions.

Process of Raw Materials - Many hazardous chemicals are used in the process of manu-
facturing Copper Concentrate, Zinc Concentrate, Gold and Silver bullions. Chemical proof
suits and masks are used for the safety of our workers. Gas monitors are installed at cya-
nide preparation areas for safety.

Mining Operations - Only trained and qualified employees are engaged in drilling, use of
explosives, scaling, hauling etc. Our Underground Mine has refuge chambers with gas
monitors and emergency telephones.

Health and Safety Awareness

AMAK continually promotes Health and Safety awareness in multiple ways. Some of our initia-
tives include:

1.

Rewarding employees - An award is given every month to AMAK employees or contractors
for reporting incidents that were very close to being an accident or injury. This is called
the ‘Best Near Miss of the Month Award’. It’s one of several ways in which our employ-
ees are encouraged to remain vigilant at their workplace, continually on the lookout for
unsafe acts and conditions, which helps in implementing control measures to make the
workplace safe.

Monthly Party — A monthly party is held, where all AMAK employees and Contractors cel-
ebrate together. The ‘Best Near Miss Award’ is given at this party and the winner is high-
lighted to encourage other employees to participate in HSE activities.

We ensure that safety signs are installed throughout our mine sites for safety awareness.

Onsite and Offsite safety training is conducted on a regular basis to increase and refresh
safety awareness.

Daily safety messages are sent out to all AMAK employees to increase safety awareness
and promote our health and safety protocols.

AMAK’s ensures the involvement of our employees in health and safety discussions in
safety representatives’ meetings.

>
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Incentives for Promoting Health and Safety Performance

AMAK provides a number of incentives to our employees, which are tied to health and safety
performance. Many of the Key Performance Indicators (KPIs), by which we judge how well our
employees are carrying out their roles, are tied to health and safety.

AMAK allocates our bonus benefits based on KPIs in which Health and safety performance is an
integral part. Every employee has a target of hours spent undergoing safety training and each
department has a target for Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate. In addition, every month an award
is given to the department which is performing the best ‘housekeeping’ in their area and ensuring
their department is a safe environment.

Injuries and Accidents

Mining can be inherently dangerous work. Around the world, approximately 15,000 miners are
killed each year in accidents. However, AMAK believes strongly that with the right procedures in
place and a culture of promoting effective health and safety practices, the risk can be minimised
significantly.

As a result, we have an excellent track record on safety — reporting only 17 first aid injuries in
2022. We still believe that even one injury is too many and are taking the following steps to de-

crease the accident rate further:

1. Root cause analysis has been conducted for each incident and corrective actions have
been implemented.

2. Refresher safety training has been conducted to increase awareness and create learnings
from past incidents.

3. Risk Assessment has been conducted for the entire mine site, including all major activi-
ties, to eliminate the hazard.

4. Safety counselling is provided on regular basis, so that the employees may not repeat the
same mistake in the future.

5. Development of Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) in response to accidents and
working accordingly to avoid further incidents

6. 24-hour monitoring of safety during plant shutdowns.
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LOCAL CONTENT

AMAK is actively engaged with both the local community near our mines, and with local
and national government, seeking to contribute resources and expertise in the public
interest.

In our engagement with local communities, we are guided by five key aims:

1. Continuously educating local communities on our operational activities and their
effects.

2. Creating local development initiatives within the nearby communities to create
sustainable opportunities.

3. Provision of work opportunities for the locals at the mine sites.

4. Preference is given to local, and national goods and services when buying for
mining operations.

5. Preference is given to local small and medium companies with contracts of tens
of millions.

One area where AMAK makes a difference to the local economy is in our focus on driving
opportunities for local suppliers by purchasing predominantly from businesses in The
Kingdom.

As the company has grown and become ever more successful, AMAK has been able to
dramatically increase its investments in the local communities where we operate and in
the Saudi economy more broadly. As you will see below, between 2021 and 2022 the
proportion of purchase orders being made in the domestic market grew by over 20% and
our total orders from Saudi suppliers increased by over SAR 267 million. Below you can
also see how these orders are distributed regionally across The Kingdom.

Purchase Orders in 2022

4,843 Domestic and International orders were placed in 2022.
The total amount of orders — from both Domestic and International purchases, was
SAR 539,820,068.21.

4,198 purchase orders issued in the amount of SAR 445,619,074.20 from the Saudi
Arabian suppliers. 83% of total orders were sourced from The Kingdom.

Purchases in 2022 Total Amount Ratio Number of Orders
Domestic Orders SAR 445,619,074.19 82.55% 4,198
International Orders SAR 94,200,994.02 17.45% 645

Total SAR 539,820,068.21 100.00% 4,843
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Breakdown of purchase orders between domestic and international

International
SAR 94,200,994.02
17.45%

Domestic
SAR 445,619,074.19
82.55%

Regional Distribution of Local Purchases

City Sum of SAR Amount
Abha 20,477,783.55
Al Joshan 9,466,442.99
Dammam 77,888,842.80
Habouna 155,944.93
Jazan 1,278,346.20
Jeddah 217,033,791.93
Najran 8,873,867.48
Riyadh 110,444,054.31
Grand Total 445,619,074.19

250,000,000.00 217.033.791.93

200,000,000.00

150,000,000.00

110,444,054.31
100,000,000.00 77,888,842.80
S 2OATTTEE5% 466,042.99 155,944.93 1,278,346.20 8,873,867.48
0.00 f— f—
Abha  AlJoshan Dammam Habouna  Jazan Jeddah Najran Riyadh

As an ardent supporter of Vision 2030, AMAK will continue to support the country’s economy by
increasing its local, regional and domestic purchases.
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Comparison between local purchase distribution in 2022 and 2021

During 2021, total purchases amounted to around SAR 256 million both domestically and inter-
nationally. Total of domestic purchases amounted to around SAR 178 million which constitute
69.5% of total purchases with the following regional breakdown:

500,000,000.00
450,000,000.00
400,000,000.00
350,000,000.00
300,000,000.00
250,000,000.00
200,000,000.00 177,797,000.00

445,619,074.19

150,000,000.00
100,000,000.00
50,000,000.00

0.00

Local Purchases 2021 Local Purchases 2022

Comparison between local purchase distribution in 2022 and 2021
PER REGION

250,000,000.00
217,033,791.93

200,000,000.00

150,000,000.00
110,444,054.31

100,000,000.00 77,888,842.:80
"onomne 20'477’783‘559 466,442.99 8,873,867.48
R 155,944.93 1,278,346.20 ,© 713,907,
0.00 j || I
Abha  AlJoshan Dammam Habouna Jazan Jeddah Najran Riyadh
B 2021 H 2022
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EMPOWERING THE LOCAL WORKFORCE

Saudization

AMAK is committed to a vision of localising quality jobs in our mines, plants and other facilities
for positions including engineers, technicians, operators, geologists and accountants. Our aim is
to increase the Saudization rate in all our facilities on an annual basis.

AMAK prioritises community employment and training, with increasing Saudization across the
regions and provinces in which we operate. In fact, according to the Ministry of Human Resource
and Social Development’s Nitagat system (which rates companies in The Kingdom according to
how many Saudis we employ), AMAK has been in the Platinum Band for Saudization — the highest
possible — since 2018.

To further increase this, AMAK signed a comprehensive agreement with the Human Resources
Development Fund (Hadaf) to support direct employment and training in strategic institutes.

In early 2022, we have also invested SAR 2,859,517 into a training ending with employment
contract with the Saudi Mining Polytechnic in the Northern Borders Province for 30 technical
trainees from the provinces located in the vicinity of the mine and affiliated with the Emirate of
Najran. Students joined the training program from March 27, 2022, and will study for a period of
two years and six months.

Topic 2022 2021 2020

Local Saudis (from com-
munities near the mines)

146 OUT 213 (68%) |90 OUT 140 (64%) 57 out 102 (55%)

Total Saudis 33.33% 30.1% 30.0%
Sauq!s in managerial 259 20% 20%
positions

Training and Education

In January 2022, we made an agreement with the Saudi Mining Polytechnic in ARAR City to train
30 Saudi trainees for a period of 2 years and 6 months to get a Diploma as Mining Technicians.
It is expected that after the training period, the trainees will be knowledgeable about the Mine
Operations, particularly the Processing Plants and Mining Machines Equipment, which they will
eventually operate upon joining our operations team at our mine site.

Expenditure in Training and Development in 2022

Type of training and development Expenditure (SAR)
SMP 1,945,821
Trainee’s Salary 659,764
UG Mine Training 72,500
External Training 84,947
External Safety Training 96,485

TOTAL 2,859,517
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Empowering Local Suppliers

Topic 2022 2021 2020

Local Saudi suppliers 8.75% 25.52% 14.45%

Other Saudi Suppliers 91.25% 74.48% 85.55%

Total Amount Spent 445,619,074.19 SAR | 238,283,773.20 SAR | 93,122,509.37 SAR

Supporting Local Communities

AMAK is a leader in supporting charities in Najran, orphanages, and others. Since its inception
and the commercial commissioning of Al Masane mine, the Company has been supporting fami-
lies in need of the local community who live at a distance of 15 km from the Company’s HQ, with
a special focus on elderly, orphans, and widows.

The company is currently working to develop a better approach for the benefit of the communi-
ties with a more effective governance model. In 2022, AMAK commissioned the Head of our Gov-
ernment Relations Department and their supporting team to manage community performance,
overseeing the review of complaints and inquiries from the local community.

The Department is present at the mine location, as well as at AMAK’s HQ in Najran and the AMAK
offices in Jeddah and Jazan. This makes it easy to receive the local community’s inquiries and
complaints by telephone, email, and in person.

Supporting National Initiatives

AMAK is actively engaged with both the local community near our mines, and with local and na-
tional government, seeking to contribute resources and expertise in the public interest.
Throughout 2022, representatives from AMAK attended a series of workshops across The King-
dom covering a variety of issues.

AMAK was honoured to participate as a strategic sponsor and partner, which afforded the com-
pany a leading role at the conference. There we were able to exhibit our work to the delegates
through a major exhibition, in addition to participating in a discussion workshop attended by our
CEO, Eng. Yahya Al-Shangqiti.

AMAK participated in a workshop hosted by the National Industrial Development and Logistic
Program looking at how to shape the future of a new Centre of Excellence in the Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia. The workshop was held in the presence of the CEO of the Geological Survey SGS and His
Excellency Eng. Abdullah bin Muftar Al-Shamrani focusing on the mining and metal industries
sector.

The workshop was part of an initiative by the National Industrial Development and Logistics Pro-
gram, which aims to support the future growth of the mining sector, to obtain the opinion of actors
in the sector and related sectors, and to seek their counsel on the establishment of a Center of
Excellence in the mining and metal industries sector.
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22 September 2022 - Media Training Workshop

AMAK attended a media training workshop for listed companies, held in cooperation with the
Saudi Stock Exchange Tadawul, to raise the awareness of listed companies and provide compre-
hensive media coverage.

15 November 2022 — Women in Mining

AMAK was involved in a workshop to enhance women’s participation in the mining sector, with
the support of His Excellency the Minister for Mining Affairs, Eng. Khalid bin Saleh Al-Mudaifer.
Topics included women’s participation, discussion of direct and indirect empowerment opportu-
nities, discussion on the challenges facing companies in employing women, and aimed at coming
up with constructive proposals and recommendations to serve, improve and increase women’s
participation in the mining sector.

Special meetings were held with the company to discuss the strategic objectives of women’s par-
ticipation in the mining sector.

7 December 2022 - International Support for the Mining Sector

AMAK joined a joint workshop with the Swedish Trade and Investment Council, organized by the
Ministry of Industry and Mineral Resources. It aimed to support Saudi authorities and link them

to several Swedish companies providing services related to the mining sector. GOVE R NAN C E

The workshop was inaugurated by His Excellency the Deputy Minister for Mining Affairs, Eng.
Khaled Al-Mudaifer, and Her Excellency the Ambassador of Sweden to the Kingdom of Saudi Ara-
bia, Ms. Petra Mnyandir.

8 December 2022 - Local Content and the Mining Sector

AMAK attended a meeting with the Local Content and Government Procurement Authority to dis-
cuss AMAK’s role in contributing to local content, and the role of the authority in developing local
content for the mining sector and obtaining the opinion of actors in the sector.

14 December 2022 - Mining Strategies in KSA

AMAK participated in a workshop to discuss mining strategies in The Kingdom at King Abdulaziz
City for Science and Technology (KACST), which was held by the Institute of Mining and Hydro-
carbon Technologies.

Women In The Mining Sector

AMAK’s labor force as of November 2022 includes less than 1% female employees and this is a
ratio we are determined to change. A plan was in created to support the Government’s drive to
increase female workers in the coming years.

AMAK’s mining operations are located in remote locations and women’s safety at our mine sites
is a priority for us. These are amongst a series of challenges that we must overcome in the near
future in order to play our part in encouraging more women into the mining sector.
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GOVERNANCE

Preamble

The company’s Board of Directors is eager to comply with the corporate governance regulations
issued by the Capital Market Authority and the disclosure and transparency requirements set out
in the registration and listing rules, and to develop its governance manual accordingly.

AMAK’s administrative structure consists of the company’s Board of Directors (Board), four board
committees and the executive management. The Board shall be liable for setting, supervising and
reviewing AMAK’s governance principles and policies, to ensure compliance with relevant rules
and regulations and thus foster the company’s growth and sustainability.

The Board of Directors formed four committees to enhance its functions, whose performance
shall be subject to periodic audit by the Board, according to the statutory requirements and the
Board’s need for recommendations issued by the said committees (namely the Audit Committee,
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, the Commercial Committee and the Executive
Committee).

The Board work regulations stipulate that Board members attend General Assembly meetings, so
they meet with the shareholders or key stakeholders to listen to their suggestions, observations
and directives about the company and its performance. In the interest of management, investor
relations officers were appointed to bolster the shareholders’ confidence and answer their
inquiries.

1.1. Board of Directors structural composition

Eng. Mohammed M. Mr. Ibrahim A. Eng. Ayman A.
Aballala Musallam AlShibl

n-:}j “';\

Eng. Fekry Youssef Eng. Mohammed Al Shehhi Mr. Majed A. bin
Mohammed Musallam

Eng. Abdulelah Mr. Abdulsalam Eng. Savas Sahin
Al Saleh Al Draibi

1.2. Board members’ current roles, experience and qualifications

The Board is responsible for the general strategy and direction of the company’s business. The
Board of Al Masane Al Kobra Mining Company (AMAK) consists of nine members appointed at
the Ordinary General Assembly for a three-year term from 09/01/2022 AD until 08/01/2025
AD. Details of the company>s Board members along with their current roles, qualifications and
experience are stated in the table below.
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Name

Eng. Mohammed
bin Manea S.
Aballala

Mr. Ibrahim bin
Ali H. Musallam

Eng. Ayman bin
Abdulrahman H.
AlShibl

Eng. Fekry
Youssef
Mohamed

Eng. Mohammed
bin Ahmad M.
AlShehhi

Status

Non-
executive

Non-
executive

Indepen-
dent

Non-
executive

Non-
executive

Current positions
Chairman of the Board
of AMAK

Board member of ASAS
Mining Company

Vice-chairman of the
Board of AMAK

Chairman of the Board at

ASAS Mining Company

Board Member and
Secretary of AMAK
CEO of United Medical
Group Co. (UMG)

Board member of AMAK

Board member of AMAK
Chairman of the Board
of the Arab Mining
Company

Chairman of the Board of

the Arab Mining Compa-
ny - Fujairah

Chairman of the Board
of the Arab Basalt Fiber
Company

Board member of the
Islamic Arab Insurance
Company

Former positions

Worked as an Engineer Officer at
the General Directorate of Military
works (MODA) from 1984 AD.
Retired Brigadier General Engineer
in 2005

Founder and Chairman of Najran
Cement from 2015 to 2022

Chairman of SKAB Group of
Companies

Vice-chairman of SKAB Group of
Companies

As CEO, he led the first recycling
plant in Jeddah

Chairman of Al-Salam Aerospace
Industries company

General Manager of Thamrat
Najran Co. Ltd.

Chairman of the Egyptian
Marketing Company for Phosphate
and Fertilizers (EMPHCO)
Chairman of the Egyptian Mineral
Resources Authority
Vice-chairman and member of the
Board of Industries Chimiques du
Fluor Company (ICF)

Chairman & Managing Director of
Shalateen Mining Company

Board member of the Egyptian
Natural Gas Holding Company
(EGAS)

Board member of the Gulf
Quarries Company

Board member of Emirates
General
Petroleum Corporation

Qualifications

Holds a
Bachelor’s
degree in Civil
Engineering and
a Bachelor’s and
Master’s degree
in Political
Science

Holds a
Bachelor’s
degree in
International
Business and
Finance

Holds several
engineering
degrees
Completed
several courses
in Engineering
Management
and Information
Systems
Member of
Saudi Council
of Engineers

as Consultant
Engineer

Bachelor’s
degree in
Geology,
Zagazig
University, Egypt

Holds an Exec-
utive Master’s
degree from
the American
University of
Sharjah, UAE
and a Bache-
lor’s degree in
Electrical En-
gineering from
the University of
South Florida,
USA

Experience

38 years of
experience, including
21 years in the
engineering sector
for the General
Directorate of Military
Works at the Ministry
of Defense and
Aviation (MODA)

Over 30 years

of experience in
leadership and
executive roles, Board
member

38 years of experience
in several companies,
including 9 years in
the government sector
before moving on to
the private sector

Over 28 years of
experience in the
mining and energy
sector, in various
executive positions
and BoD membership
in Egypt and KSA

Over 30 years of ex-
perience in the mining
and energy sector

in various executive
positions and Board
membership
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Mr. Majed bin Ali
H. Musallam

Dr. Abdulelah
bin Othman N.
AlSaleh

Abdulsalam
bin Abdullah A.
AlDraibi

Non-
executive

Indepen-
dent

Indepen-
dent

Eng. Savas Sahin | Non-

executive

Board member of AMAK
Board member of
Al-Salam Aerospace
Industries company
Board member of ASAS
Mining Company

Board member of Najran
Cement Company

Board member of AMAK
Board Vice-chairman

of the Public Pension
Agency

Chairman of the Board of
Al-Raedah Co.

General Manager of Al
Rabat for Investment
Board member of

the Golden Connect
Company for Information
Technology

Board member of

RS Infratech Saudi Ltd.
Supervisory Board
member of the
Endowment Foundation
of Mr. Othman Al Saleh

Managing Director and
CEO of Najran Cement
Company

General manager of
Wasl Al Janoub Land
Transport Company

Board member of AMAK

Board member of
Pasofino Gold TSX-V
(VEIN) Co.

CEO and member of
the Board of ESAN

ECZACIBASI

Board member of SKAB Group of

Companies

Director of the Engineering
Department of the General
Directorate of Military Works
Director of the Contracts and
Tenders Department of the
General Directorate of Military

Works

Legal advisor of the General
Directorate of Military Works
Special legal advisor to the

Minister of Defense
Director of the Foreign

Procurement and International
Agreements Department at the

Ministry of Defense

Secretary General of the Military

Service Council

Secretary General of the Islamic
Military Counter-Terrorism

Coalition

Senior investment manager /

Investment Department

Mergers and Acquisitions -

Savola Group

CEO of AMAK

Holds a
Bachelor’s
degree in
Business
Administration
from King
AbdulAziz
University,
Jeddah, KSA

Ph.D. in Law,
University of
Michigan and

a Bachelor’s
degree in Civil
Engineering,
California

He is a member
of the American
Bar Association

Certified
Financial
Analyst CFA
Master of
Business
Administration
MBA

Seattle
University
Bachelors
degree in
Management
Information
Systems from
King Fahd
University of
Petroleum and
Minerals

Bachelor’s
degree in Mining
Engineering
Master’s degree
in Executive
MBA

Over 15 years of
experience in the real
estate, aviation and
mining sectors

Over 40 years of
experience, he
assumed several
strategic roles

in governmental
organizations. Board
member. He also
assumed more

than one role in the
Engineering field for
several Ministries

Over 14 years

of experience,
including several
executive roles,
board and committee
memberships; his
experience includes
project management
and business
development, mergers
and acquisitions,
investment
management,
operational efficiency
improvement, capital
allocation efficiency
and many training
courses

Over 25 years of
experience in mining;
he assumed several
strategic roles at
several Turkish and
Australian mining
companies
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1.3. Committee members (from outside the Board)

Commercial Committee Members

Name Current positions Former positions Qualifications Experience
Eng. Yahiya Bin CEO of AMAK Board Chairman of DRILLCORP Bachelor’s degree in Mining engineer with
Mohammed Al Sahara SAUDI Mining Engineering, and a more than 30 years of
Shangiti Master’s degree in Mining work experience in the
Worked as a consultant to the Environmental Management | mining sector
Saudi Council of Engineers from Britain
He is a member of the
Member of the National Mining American Management
Committee Association, the Society
for Mining, Metallurgy and
Board member of the Saudi Mining | Exploration, and the Saudi
Polytechnic Council of Engineers
He served as head of Ma’aden
Gold and Base Metals Company
Audit Committee Members
Mr. Waleed Certified Public Financial Director at Al-Ahli American Institute of Over 10 years of
bin Ahmad Accountant, Certified Takaful Company Certified Public Accountants | experience as a Board
Bamaroof Business Valuator, Fellowship and audit committee
Bankruptcy Trustee and Certified Management member in many joint
Audit Partner at Talal Accountant (CMA), and stock companies
Abu-Ghazaleh & Co. the Saudi Organization for Over 25 years
Chartered and Professional | of experience in
Accountants (SOCPA) accounting, auditing,
fellowship. compliance and
Certified Internal Auditor corporate governance
Fellowship (CIA)
Accredited in Business
Valuation (ABV); holds an
Executive MBA
Mr. Hassan General Manager of the | Executive Director / Jordan Kuwait | Bachelor’s degree in Board Vice-chairman

Yassin Hassan Al
Takruri

Mr. Mansoor Al
Sharif

Arab Mining Company
Joint Arab company

CEO of Alsharqg Aero-
space Industries

Managing Director of
PrivatAir Saudi Arabia
Co. (PASA)

Managing Director of
Rabigh Wings Aviation
Academy

Bank

Executive Partner / PKF Jordan
Senior Audit Manager / Talal Abu-
Ghazaleh & Co. International
Chief Auditor / Deloitte & Touche

Chief Financial Officer of
the Aircraft Accessories and
Components Company

Project Manager at Alkhabeer
Capital

Accounting in 1995
Master’s degree in
Accounting in 2016

Holds a number of
professional certificates

in auditing and accounting
from USA and Jordan,
including: FCPA - CFE -
AICPA - AMLP

Member of the Institute of
Financial Accountants (IFA)
Member of the Montana
Society of CPAs

Bachelor’s degree in Elec-
trical Engineering from King
Saud University

MBA from the University of
Dayton, Ohio, USA
Master’s in Financial Man-
agement from San Diego
State University, California,
USA

Air Law Diploma from IATA
Aviation Safety Diploma
from IATA

of the Arab Company
for Detergent
Chemicals - Baghdad
(2016-2020)

Board member of the
Arab Iron and Steel
Union

18 years of work
experience, including
executive and finan-
cial positions and
memberships in mul-
tiple committees and
boards of directors in
companies inside and
outside the Kingdom
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Mr. Muhib Saleh
Al Muhaideb

Director General of the
Budget Department

of the National
Transformation Program

Head of Investor Relations at
the National Industrialization
Company (Tasnee)

Board member of the National
Batteries Company

Board member of Rowad
International Industrial
Membranes Company Ltd.

Audit Committee member of
National Metal Manufacturing &
Casting Co. (Maadaniyah)

MBA, Avila University, USA.
Bachelor’s degree in
Accounting, King Saud Uni-
versity, KSA.

Over 18 years of
diverse experience in
various organizations
in several managerial
and executive
positions

Executive Committee Membe

rs

Eng. Yahiya Bin
Mohammed Al
Shangiti

Eng. Taha
Mahmoud
Salman Al-
Khawaldeh

CEO of AMAK

General Manager of the
Arab Mining Company -
Fujairah

General Manager of
the Arab Basalt Fiber
Company

Director of Investment
Management / Arab
Mining Company

Board Chairman of DRILLCORP
Sahara SAUDI

Worked as a consultant to the
Saudi Council of Engineers

Member of the National Mining
Committee

Board member of the Saudi Mining
Polytechnic

He served as head of Ma’aden
Gold and Base Metals Company
Exploration Geologist / Arab
Mining Company

Mining Geologist / Arab Mining
Company

Head of Project Development
Department / Arab Mining
Company

Senior investment studies
specialist / Arab Mining Company

Steering Committee member /
AMAK

Board Vice-chairman of the Arab
Engineering Industries Company
Ltd.

Board member of Al-Dar
University College for Studies and
Consultations

Bachelor’s degree in
Mining Engineering, and a
Master’s degree in Mining
Environmental Management
from Britain

He is a member of the
American Management
Association, the Society
for Mining, Metallurgy and
Exploration, and the Saudi
Council of Engineers

Master’s degree in Applied
Geology (industrial minerals
and rocks)

Mining engineer with
more than 30 years of
work experience in the
mining sector

29 years of experience
in mining in the Arab
Mining Company
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1.4. Names of companies inside and outside KSA, in which a member of the
Board was a member of current or previous boards or a former manager

Member companies
of the Board who are

Legal entity
(listed joint
stock / unlist-

Names of compa-
nies whose Board

Legal entity
(listed joint stock

members of their ed joint stock members are part of Inside/ / unlisted joint
current boards of di- Inside / outside  / limited previous boards or outside the  stock/ limited
Name rectors or managers the Kingdom liability) former managers Kingdom liability
Eng. Mohammed | ASAS Mining Company | Inside the Limited Najran Cement Kingdom of | Listed company
bin Manea S. Kingdom of Saudi | Liability Company (Chairman | Saudi Arabia
Aballala Arabia of the Board)
Board session ends
on: 8/August 2022
Mr. Ibrahim bin ASAS Mining Company | Inside the Limited CEO of SADC Kingdom of | Limited Liability
Ali H. Musallam Kingdom of Saudi | Liability environmental group | Saudi Arabia | Company
Arabia Chairman of Al- Kingdom of | Limited Liability
Salam Aerospace Saudi Arabia | Company
Industries company
Skab Group of Kingdom of | Unlisted (closed)
Companies Saudi Arabia | joint stock
company
Dr. Abdulelah Al-Raedah Co. Inside the Limited
bin Othman N. (Chairman of the Kingdom of Saudi | Liability
AlSaleh Board) Arabia Company
Al Rabat for Inside the Limited
Investment Kingdom of Saudi | Liability
(General Manager) Arabia Company
Golden Connect Inside the Limited
Company for Kingdom of Saudi | Liability
Information Arabia Company
Technology
(Board member)
RS Infratech Saudi Inside the Limited
Ltd. (Board member) Kingdom of Saudi | Liability
Arabia Company
Endowment Inside the Limited
Foundation of Mr. Kingdom of Saudi | Liability
Othman Al Saleh Arabia Company
(Board member)
Eng. Ayman bin United Medical Group | Inside the Limited Najran Cement Kingdom of Listed company
Abdulrahman H. | Co. Kingdom of Saudi | Liability Company (Board Saudi Arabia
AlShibl Arabia Company Member and
Secretary)
Board session ends
on: 8/August 2022
Former General Kingdom of | Limited Liability
Manager of Thamrat | Saudi Arabia | Company
Najran Co. Ltd.
Abdulsalam Najran Cement Inside the Listed
bin Abdullah A. Company (CEO and Kingdom of Saudi | joint stock
AlDraibi member of the Board) | Arabia company
Wasl Al Janoub Land Inside the Limited
Transport Company Kingdom of Saudi | Liability
(General Manager) Arabia Company
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Eng. Fekry
Youssef
Mohamed

Eng. Mohammad
bin Ahmed Al
Shehhi

Eng. Savas Sahin

Ministry of Petroleum, | Egypt Governmental | Khalda Petroleum Egypt Listed
Egypt Body Company Governmental
Body
General Petroleum
Company
Petrosilah Petroleum Egypt Listed Egyptian Marketing Egypt Limited Liability
Company company Company for
Phosphate and
Fertilizers (EMPHCO)
Industries Tunisia Listed
Chimiques du Fluor
Company
Egyptian Atomic Egypt Governmental | Shalateen Mining Egypt Limited Liability
Energy Authority Body Company
Egyptian Mineral Egypt Governmental
Resources Authority Body
(EMRA)
El-Nasr Mining Egypt Limited Egyptian Natural Gas | Egypt Holding company
Company Liability Holding Company
(EGAS)
The Ministry of UAE Governmental
Economic Affairs’ Body
undersecretary in
Dubai
Arab Mining Company | Jordan Limited
Liability
Arab Institute for Jordan Joint Arab
the Development company
of Metallurgical
Industries
Federation of Egyptian | Egypt Governmental
Industries - Petroleum Body
and Mining Industries
Chamber
Chairman of the Board | Jordan Joint Arab Board member of Sultanate of | Listed public joint
of Directors / Arab company the Gulf Quarries Oman stock company
Mining Company Company
Chairman of the Board | UAE Limited Board member of UAE Public institution
of Directors / Arab Liability Emirates General
Mining Company - Petroleum
Fujairah Corporation
Chairman of the Board | UAE Limited
of Directors / Arab Liability
Basalt Fiber Company
Board member / UAE Listed public
the Islamic Arab joint stock
Insurance Company company
Board member of Outside the Listed
Pasofino Gold TSX-V Kingdom of Saudi | company )
(VEIN) Arabia Inside the
X — CEO of AMAK Kingdom of | Listed company
ESAN ECZACIBASI Outside the Limited Saudi Arabia
CEO and member of Kingdom of Saudi | Liability

the Board of Directors

Arabia
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Mr. Majed bin Ali | Al-Salam Aerospace Inside the Limited
H. Musallam Industries company Kingdom of Saudi | Liability
Arabia
Najran Cement Inside the Listed
. | Skab Group of
Company (Board Kingdom of Saudi | joint stock ]
. Companies
member) Arabia company
ASAS Mining Company | Inside the Limited
Kingdom of Saudi | Liability
Arabia

Kingdom of
Saudi Arabia

Closed joint stock
company

2.1. Description of any interest, contractual securities or issuance rights of
the company’s Board of Directors, senior executives and their relatives on
the company’s shares or debt instruments of the company or its affiliates,
and any change in said interest or rights during the past fiscal year.

a. Theinterests and rights of the members of the Boards of Directors

Mushtag Ahmed

Sr. Number of shares Number of shares Percentage

No Name of person beginning of year end of year Net change change

1 | Eng. Mohammed bin 0
Manea S. Aballala 4,691,441 3,886,133 (805,308) 17%

2 Mr.Ibrahimbin AliH. =) )00 404 1,851,070 390,666  27%
Musallam

3 | Eng. Mohammed bin i i i i
Ahmad M. AlShehhi

4  Dr. Abdulelah bin

- o,

Othman N. AlSaleh 148,700 121,250 (27,450) 18%

5 | Eng. Fekry Youssef i i i )
Mohamed

6 MrMajedbinAliH. 1, 54 750 1,696,019 409,269  32%
Musallam

7 | Abdulsalam bin

- [0)

Abdullah A. AlDraibi 371,748 780 (370,968) 100%

8 | Eng. Savas Sahin 237,920 235,285 (2,635) 1%

9 | Eng. Ayman bin
Abdulrahman H. 1,149,451 937,265 (212,186) -18%
AlShibl

Note: The company was offered for public subscription on March 9, 2022 AD
b. The interests and rights of senior executives

Sr. Number of shares Number of shares Percentage

No Name of person beginning of year end of year Net change change

1 | Muhammad Shoaib i 2200 2,200 100%
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2.2. Information pertaining to any work or contract to which the Company
is a party and in which a director, executive director, or anyone related to
either of them has an interest.

Nature of Commercial

Related Party Nature of Relationship Transaction Timeframe Amountin SAR

Arab Commercial | Mr/Ibrahim bin Purchasing One year 1,712,396
Enterprises for Muslem, BoD member | airline tickets and
Travel Company Mr / Majed Ali bin accommodation
(ACE Travel) Muslem, BoD member | for the Company»s
employees
Najran Mineral Mr / Ibrahim bin Purchasing water One year 57,960

for the use of
the company»s
employees

Water Company | Muslem, BoD member
Ltd. Mr / Majed Ali bin
Muslem, BoD member

2.3. Brief description of the roles and functions of the committees

a. Audit Committee

Implementing an effective internal control systemis one of the Board of Directors’ responsibilities.
The primary responsibility of the Audit Committee is to ensure that the implementation of the
internal control system is adequate and effective, and to present to the Board of Directors any
recommendations that would activate and develop the system to achieve the Company’s goals.
The Committee is also accountable for reviewing the risk management policies, annualrisk report,
and risk reduction plans prior to submitting them to the Board of Directors. The Committee is in
charge of ensuring compliance with the Capital Market Authority>s and the Corporate Governance
Manual>s regulations and practices regarding corporate governance. Below is a brief description
of the Audit Committee’s role and responsibilities:

1. Submit periodic and regular reports to the Board of Directors regarding the Audit
Committee’s activities and recommendations.

2. Facilitate communication between the internal auditor, external auditors, and the Board
of Directors.

3. Submit an annual report to the Board of Directors detailing the Committee’s composition,
responsibilities, conduct, and any other information required by the rules, including
approval of non-audit services.

4., Examine any additional reports issued by the Company that pertain to the Committee’s
responsibilities.

5. Carry out additional tasks associated with this activity, at the request of the Board of
Directors.

6. Pursue allegations pertaining to material, financial, ethical, or legal violations; Examine
grave violations of Company policies, alleged violations of legal provisions, or violations of
professional conduct identified by the internal auditor or any other employee.

7. Conduct, supervise, and direct private investigations, as required, into matters pertaining
to the Company’s financial statements, internal controls, compliance with labor laws, or
work ethics.

>
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8. Review all significant matters within the scope of the Committee>s charter, including
any changes in accounting principles, with management and external auditors prior to
deciding on the Company’s reporting practices and reporting to the Board of Directors.

9. Review and assess the adequacy of the Audit Committee>s charter annually, and request
Board of Director’s approval for any proposed changes.

10.Review and assess the adequacy of the Audit Committee>s charter annually, request
Board of Directors approval for any proposed changes, and ensure compliance with legal
and regulatory disclosure requirements.

11.Review with the administration the status of Zakat/tax declarations and tax issues.

12.Confirm annually that all responsibilities outlined in the charter are being met.

13.Assess the performance of the Audit Committee and individuals on a periodic basis, and
establish procedures for receiving, retaining, and processing complaints received by the
Company regarding accounting, internal accounting controls, or audit matters, as well
as procedures for confidential and anonymous submissions by employees regarding
questionable accounting or audit matters.

14.Always be available for suggestions, questions, or advise from external auditors, internal
auditors, and executive management.

The Audit Committee is comprised of five (5) members appointed for three (3) years by the
General Assembly. At least one Audit Committee member must be an independent member, and
an executive director may not serve on the committee. At least one Audit Committee member
must have expertise in finance and accounting. On November 25th, 2021, the members of the
Committee were appointed by the Company>s General Assembly.

The Board of Directors shall take every necessary measure to enable the Audit Committee to
carry out its duties, including notifying the Committee of all data, information, reports, records,
correspondence, and other matters deemed necessary by the Committee.

The Committee convened five times in 2022. The following table displays the Audit Committee’s
attendance record for the year 2022

Number of Meeting

sr. 1 2 3 4 5
No Name Job Position 13/03/2022 | 16/05/2022 | 07/08/2022 |30/10/2022 |08/12/2022
1 Mr. Waleed bin Ahmed | Chair of the
Bamaroof Committee
2 Abdulsalam bin Committee
Abdullah A. AlDraibi member

3 Mr. Mansour bin Nasser | Committee

Al Sharif member X X
4 Mr. Muhib Saleh Al Committee

Muhaideb member
5 Mr. Hassan bin Yassin Committee

Al Tkrouri member
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Committee recommendations:

The Audit Committee recommends that the company hire an internal auditor. In replacement of
an internal auditor, the company contracts with an internal audit office to conduct the audit.
The Audit Committee recommendations that conflict with the Board of Director’s decisions or are
rejected by the Board regarding appointing, dismissing, or determining the fees of the external
auditor, as well as the justifications for those recommendations.

There are no Audit Committee recommendations that contradict the Board of Directors’ decisions
or the Board’s refusal to take any action related to appointing, dismissing, determining the fees
and evaluating the performance of the Company’s external auditor or appointing an employee as
internal auditor.

b. Executive Committee

The primary responsibility of the Executive Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors is to
assist the Board in carrying out the activities and responsibilities delegated to it by the Board in
order to facilitate the company’s workflow. The Committee’s scope of work shall encompass all
measures necessary for it to carry out its duties, including;:

- Assist the Board of Directors in carrying out the tasks and responsibilities delegated to it
by the Board of Directors in order to improve the Company’s workflow.

e Assist the Board of Directors in developing the company’s primary strategic objectives
and investment strategies.

e Assist the Board of Directors in defining and establishing the vision and mission of the
Company.

« Develop an action plan based on the vision and mission of the company and assist the
board in determining the work direction.

e Assist the Board of Directors in conducting a regular strategic review of the Company’s
performance to determine if it is meeting its short- and long-term objectives.

« Examine and approve all significant investment decisions in accordance with the
Company’s approved strategies.

« Develop business processes and operational policies and procedures to be adhered to
throughout the company’s daily operations.

- Explore cost-effective and efficient methods of conducting business in order to meet
customer expectations and ensure their satisfaction.

« Ensure senior management and the Board of Directors have adequate coordination and
communication.

The Board of Directors appoints four (4) members to the Executive Committee for a term of
three (3) years. The Committee members were appointed on January 10th, 2022, in accordance
with the Board of Directors’ decision No. (02/2022) dated 07/06/1443 A.H., which corresponds
to January 10th, 2022. The Board of Directors shall take every necessary measure to enable
the Executive Committee to carry out its duties, including notifying the Committee of all data,
information, reports, records, correspondence, and other matters deemed necessary by the
Committee.
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Number of Meeting

Sr. 1 2 3 4 5 6
No Name Job Position 25/01/2022 16/02/2022 29/03/2022 15/05/2022 18/07/2022 14/10/2022
1 Eng. Savas Sahin Chair of the
Committee

2 Eng. Yahiya Bin Committee

Mohammed Al Shangiti member
3 Abdulsalam bin Committee

Abdullah A. AlDraibi member
2 Eng. Taha bin Committee

Mahmoud Al Khawalda member No meetings have been attended by the new member

Eng. Taha bin Mahmoud Al Khawalda was appointed per the decision of the Board of Directors
at meeting No. (72) on 19/04/1444 A.H., which corresponds to November 13th, 2022.

c. Commercial Committee

The primary responsibility of the Commercial Committee is to oversee the risk management of the
Company’s business activities, management policies, the reliability of financial and management
reporting, and compliance with applicable laws. The Committee’s scope of work shall encompass
all measures necessary for it to carry out its duties, including:

- Examinethe strategicdirection of the business’s activities and oversee the implementation
oftheagreed-upon strategy.

« Examine business and other transactions to ensure that they adhere to the agreed-upon
strategy.

« Review and assess business performance.

- Submitting recommendations to the Board of Directors to fix the prices of base metals and
precious metals by obtaining the best prices and overseeing the sales operations.

The Commercial Committee is comprised of four individuals, three of whom are Board of Directors
members and one member of the company’s management. The members of the Committee
were appointed on January 10th, 2022 in accordance with the Board of Directors’ decision No.
(02/2022) dated 07/06/1443 A.H., which corresponds to January 10th, 2022. In 2022, the
committee fulfilled its duties and responsibilities by holding five meetings. The following table
displays the attendance of committee members at meetings.

Number of Meeting

Sr. 1 2 3 4 5
No Name Job Position  28/01/2022 05/03/2022 29/03/2022 05/06/2022 13/11/2022
1 Eng. Mohammed Chair of the
bin Manea S. Aballala Committee
2 Eng. Savas Committee
Sahin member
3 Eng. Yahiya Bin Mohammed Committee
Al Shangiti member
4 Eng. Fekry Committee
Youssef Mohamed member

d. Nomination and Remuneration Committee

The primary responsibility of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee is to identify qualified
candidates for Board of Directors membership. The Committee’s scope of work encompasses all
tasks necessary for it to carry out its duties, including:

e Assist the Board of Directors in identifying qualified individuals to become Board of
Directors members and recommend candidates to the Board of Directors for nomination
at the annual general meeting of shareholders for election as Board of Directors members.
The Committee may, at its discretion, consider candidates proposed by shareholders and
management.

« Annual review of the appropriate skill requirements for membership on the Board of
Directors and preparation of a description of the capabilities and qualifications required
for this membership, including the amount of time a member of the Board of Directors
must devote to Board activities.

« Review the formation of each committee of the Board of Directors and recommend for
approval to the Board of Directors the members of the Board of Directors who will serve
as committee members.

- Assist the Board of Directors in selecting, developing, and evaluating potential candidates
for CEO positions, including the Board Chair, and supervise the creation of executive
succession plans.

- Maintain an orientation program for new managers.

« Develop the Board of Directors’ annual self-assessment process, recommend it to
the Board of Directors for approval, and oversee the Board of Directors’ annual self-
assessment.

« Assist the Board of Directors in determining each director and executive’s compliance
with the Company’s Code of Conduct and Ethics on an annual basis, and report to the
Board any violations of this Code.

« Review the size and compensation of the structure regularly, including the required skills,
knowledge, and experience of the Board, and recommend changes.

- Establish clear compensation and reward policies for the Board of Directors and senior
executives (chief financial officer and head of operations).

« Recommend the compensation structure and amount for the director. In the context of
carrying out this responsibility, the Committee seeks to attract, motivate, reward and
retain the members of the Board of Directors who have high integrity and superior ability
and who are focused on enhancing long-term shareholder value.

Taking into account the requirements that members of the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee must meet, the Board of Directors shall appoint the Committee’s members for a
three-year term. The Board of Directors shall take all necessary steps to enable the Nomination
and Remuneration Committee to carry out its duties, including notifying the Committee of all
data, information, reports, records, correspondence, or other matters that the Committee deems
necessary.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is comprised of three (3) individuals. The
Committee members were appointed on January 10, 2022, in accordance with the Board of
Directors’ decision No. (02/2022), dated 07/06/1443 A.H., which corresponds to January 10,
2022.

A 63



During 2022, the Committee met four times. The table below shows the Committee’s attendance
record for the entire year.

Sr.
No Name

1 Dr. Abdulelah bin
Othman N. AlSaleh

2 Eng. Mohammed bin
Ahmed Al-Shehhi

3 Abdulsalam bin
Abdullah A. AlDraibi

Number of Meeting

1
Job Position

Chairman of the
Nomination and
Remuneration
Committee

Member of the
Nomination and
Remuneration
Committee

Member of the
Nomination and
Remuneration
Committee

20/03/2022

v

v

2 3
05/05/2022 18/07/2022

v v

4

25/12/2022
v
v
v

2.4. Methods used by the Board of Directors to evaluate its own perfor-
mance and that of its committee members, as well as the external body
that conducted the evaluation and its relationship with the company, if

any.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee has developed a form for internally assessing the
performance of the Board of Directors and its committees without the involvement of external
parties. Members of the Board of Directors have taken part in the evaluation and voiced their
opinions. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee examines the findings and makes
recommendations to the Board of Directors.

2.5. Executive Management

The executive management team’s current roles, qualifications, and experience are

detailed below.

Name Current positions Former positions Qualifications Experience

Eng. Yahiya Bin CEO of AMAK Board Chairman of DRILLCORP Bachelor’s degree in Mining engineer with
Mohammed Al Sahara SAUDI Mining Engineering, and a more than 30 years of
Shangiti Master’s degree in Mining work experience in the

Worked as a consultant to the
Saudi Council of Engineers

Member of the National Mining
Committee

Board member of the Saudi Mining
Polytechnic

He served as head of Ma’aden
Gold and Base Metals Company

Environmental Management
from Britain

He is a member of the
American Management
Association, the Society

for Mining, Metallurgy and
Exploration, and the Saudi
Council of Engineers

mining sector

Mr. Acting CFO Manager Financial Reports Enaya | Bachelor of Economics, 16 years of diverse
Muhammad Cooperative Insurance Company Certified Finance and experience in financial
. Accounting Expert from affairs and accounts,
Shoiab the Institute of Chartered system design and
Mushtaq* Accountants of Pakistan, implementation,
Certified Associate taxation, and internal
Accountant (CPA) from the & external auditing in
Institute of Public Financial | a number of sectors
Accountants of Pakistan including the Big
Saudi Organization of Four auditing firms,
Auditors and Accountants manufacturing,
Associate Member (SOCPA) | insurance, and the
services sector.
Mr. Kamran | Former CFO Financial Director, Al-Amthal Bachelor of Applied Over 14 years of
Ghous Finance Company, KSA Accounting, Oxford Brookes | experience in financial
Financial Director, Alraedah University, UK management and
Finance Company, KSA Certified Public Accountant | financial reporting.
and Comptroller General -
Certified Public Accountant
and Certified Public
Accountant in Canada,
British Columbia
Member of the Association
of Certified Public
Accountants - Association of
Certified Public Accountants
Accountants - Kaplan
Financial Institutions,
London, UK
Eng. Operations Manager General Manager of Hill & Gold Bachelor of Mining En- +13 years of executive
Andrew Mining Company Limited, a listed | gineering, University of experience in the
. joint stock company established in | Newcastle, UK mining industry.
Pix** Australia.

*The current CFO (designate) was appointed pursuant to the Board of Directors> decision

No. (15/2022), dated September 11th, 2022.

resignation of Mr. Kamran Ghous, the former CFO, in September 2022.
** Eng. Andrew Pix, the Operations Manager, resigned in June 2022.

This was immediately following the

2.6. Number of the Board of Directors meetings held during the last fis-
cal year, meeting dates, and attendance record of each meeting with the
names of those present

The Board of Directors shall hold at least four meetings per year to review the company»s
implementation of strategic decisions, initiatives, and accomplishments.

In 2022, the Board of Directors held five (5) meetings. The table below displays the meeting
dates and attendance records.
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Eng. Mo- Eng. Mo- Dr. Abd- Abdul-
hammed Mr. Ibrahim hammed bin ulelah bin Eng. Fekry Mr. Majed Eng. salam bin Eng. Ayman

bin Manea bin Ali H. Ahmad M. Othman N.  Youssef bin Ali H. Savas Abdullah A. bin Abdulrah-
Board members S. Aballala  Musallam AlShehhi AlSaleh Mohamed Musallam Sahin  AlDraibi man H. AlShibl
Sr.  Number of
No meeting/ Date
1 | 2022/01/10-68 ./ v v v v v |V v
2 | 2022/03/29-69 ./ v v v v v v |V v
3 | 2022/06/05-70 ./ v v v v v v |V v
4 | 2022/07/18-71 ./ v v v v v |V v
5 |2022/11/13-72| ./ v v v v |V v
Total numberof |5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5
meetings
The total 5 3 5 4 5 4 5 5 5
attendance of
meeting

2.7. A list of the dates and names of the Board of Directors members who

attended General Assembly meetings held during the previous fiscal year.

In 2022, one Extraordinary General Assembly meeting was held on: June 26th, 2022 utilizing new

technologies and a digital platform. The table below displays the Board of Directors’ attendance
record at the General Assembly:

Sr. Annual general meeting
No Name June 26th, 2022

1 | Eng. Mohammed bin Manea S. Aballala v
2 | Mr. Ibrahim bin Ali bin Musallam v
3 | Eng. Mohammed bin Ahmed Al-Shehhi v
4 | Eng. Ayman bin Abdulrahman H. AlShibl v
5 | Eng. Fekry Youssef Mohammed v
6 | Mr. Majed bin Ali H. Musallam v
7 | Dr. Abdulelah bin Othman N. AlSaleh v
8 Abdulsalam bin Abdullah A. AlDraibi v
9 | Eng.Savas Sahin v

2.8. Number of requests for shareholder records made by the company,
dates, and reasons

Nine requests were made for the shareholders’ records, which are detailed as follows:
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Type of request

Date of request The reason for the request

Detailed - at the level of 28 /03 /2022 Corporate procedures
investment portfolios (A)
Detailed - at the level of 15/06 /2022 Corporate procedures
investment portfolios (A)
Detailed - at the level of 21 /06 /2022 Corporate procedures

investment portfolios (A)
Quantities - at identity level (B) 26 /06 /2022

General Assembly

bonds 02/10/ 2022 Other

Detailed - at the level of 14 /11 /2022 Other

investment portfolios (A)

Detailed - at the level of 21/11/ 2022 Profits file
investment portfolios (A)

Detailed - at the level of 13 /12 /2022 Corporate procedures

investment portfolios (A)

Detailed - at the level of
investment portfolios (A)

02/01/2023 Corporate procedures

2.9. Disclosure of the remuneration for the Board of Directors members and

the Executive Management as per Article No. (90) of the Corporate Gover-
nance Regulations

Remuneration policy for members of the company»>s Board of Directors

The Nominations and Remuneration Committee shall make recommendations to the Board
of Directors on remuneration for Board of Directors members. The remuneration for Board of
Directors members shall be determined by the company>s General Assembly.

The Board of Directors shall determine the chairman»>s and Board members> remuneration
based on the recommendation of the Nominations and Remuneration Committee.
Members of the Board of Directors shall be compensated financially or in-kind. In all cases,
the total remuneration for one member may not exceed Five Hundred Thousand Saudi Riyals
(SAR 500,000) annually. The annual remuneration shall be divided among the members of the
Board of Directors and according to the (appointment date) for new members.

The remuneration for the Board Secretary shall be determined by the Board of Directors.
Members of the Board of Directors who live outside the cities where the Board or General
Assembly meetings are held shall be entitled to reimbursement for expenses incurred in
attending the meetings, provided that the costs are reasonable and acceptable by business
standards, such as transportation, food, accommodation, etc.

Board committee members’ remuneration

The Nominations and Remuneration Committee shall make recommendations to the Board of
Directors on the remuneration for the Board of Directors committees.

1.

The Audit Committee members> remuneration shall be determined by the Nominations
and Remuneration Committee>s recommendation to the Board of Directors. The Board of
Directors shall determine the remuneration for the other Board committee members, the
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Board secretary, and the secretaries of the committees in exchange for their attendance at
committee meetings or other expenses.

2. Members of Board committees who live outside the cities where the committee meets are
entitled toreimbursement forexpensesincurred in attending meetings, provided that the costs
are reasonable and acceptable by business standards, such as travel, meals, accommodation,
and other expenses.

3. The remuneration must be fair and consistent with the Board committee members>
competencies, duties, and responsibilities. Furthermore, the remuneration must be
commensurate with the company>s activity and the required skills of the members.

« Remuneration for senior executives

The Nominations and Remuneration Committee shall make recommendations to the Board of
Directors on the remuneration for the company’s senior executives based on the company’s
annual performance indicators and net profit. The annual remuneration for senior executives
must be approved by the Board of Directors.

The company shall commit to fair remuneration practices and standard benefits that will attract
and reward qualified executives.

« Remuneration for the Board of Directors members (in thousand Saudi Riyals)

Fixed Remunerations

Allowances Remunerations
for attend- Total Allowances for technical, Remunerations
ing board for attending managerial and | of the chairman,

committee meet- | In-kind consultative
ings committee benefits | work

Specific | meetings
amount | committee

Managing director

Independent Directors or secretary, if any | Total

Dr. Abdulelah O. AlSaleh 300 20 12 - - - 332
Mr. Abdulsalam A. AlDuraibi | 300 25 45 - - - 370
Eng. Savas Sahin 300 25 33 - - - 358
Eng. Ayman H. AlShibl 300 25 = = = 240 565
Total 1,200 95 920 - - 240 1625

Non-Executive Directors - - - -
Eng. Mohammed bin Manea

2 1 - - 200 4
S. Aballala ALy & 5 540
Mr. Ibrahim bin Ali H. 300 15 ) ) ) ) 315
Musallam
Eng. Mohammed bin Ahmad
M. AlShehhi Sl 23 12 337
Eng. Fekry Youssef Mohamed | 300 25 15 - - - 340
Mr. Maj in Ali

r. Majed bin Ali 300 20 i ) _ ) 320
H. Musallam
Total 1,500 110 42 - - 200 1852
Third Executive Directors - - -
Total 2,700 205 132 - - 440 3,477
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Variable Remunerations

Short- Long-
Percent- | Periodic term term End-of-
age of Remuner- | incentive |incentive | Granted service Aggregate | Expenses
Independent Directors profits ations plans plans shares Total | Award Amount Allowance

Dr. Abdulelah O. AlSaleh - - - - - - - - -

Abdulsalam bin Abdullah A.
AlDraibi

Eng. Savas Sahin - - - - - - - - -
Eng. Ayman H. AlShibl = - - - - = = - -
Total - - - - = - o - -
Non-Executive Directors - - - - - - - - -

Eng. Mohammed bin Manea
S. Aballala

Mr. Ibrahim bin Ali H.
Musallam

Eng. Mohammed bin Ahmad
M. AlShehhi

Eng. Fekry Youssef Mohamed - - - - - - - - -

Mr. Majed bin Ali
H. Musallam

Total = = = o - - - - =
Third Executive Directors
Total = = = o - - - - =

The amount indicated in the table above represents the annual remuneration based on the Board
of Directors membership period for the fiscal year that ended on December 31, 2021. After
receiving approval from the General Assembly on June 26, 2022, the amounts were disbursed in
2022.

« Remuneration for senior executives (in thousand Saudi Riyals)
The total amounts received by senior executives, including the CEO and CFO, are shown in the
table below:

End-of- Total Remuner- Aggre-
service ations for board gate

Fixed Remunerations Variable Remunerations Award executive, ifany  Amount
Senior | Salaries Allow- In-kind | Total Periodic | Profits | Short- Long- Granted Total
Exec- ances benefits Remu- term term shares
utives nerations incentive | incentive
plans plans
Total 1,762,917 509,021 - 2,271,937 1,301,171 3,601,367 253,999
Executive Management
Name Fixed Variable End of service benefits Aggregate
Remunerations Remunerations (Paid/Payable) amount
Executive 2,271,937 1,301,171 253,999 3,827,107
Management

The company disclosed the executives’ remuneration in accordance with Article (90) of the
Corporate Governance Regulations. The company aspires to disclose executive remuneration in
accordance with the level of public disclosure in the Saudi financial market and the maturity of
practice, inorderto provide the correctimpression of the mechanism of compensation procedures,
which is dependent on human capital competitiveness. Furthermore, guided by the discretionary
power in Article (87) of the Rules on the Offer of Securities and Continuing Obligations, the
company seeks to avoid the risks associated with detailed disclosure.

>
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« Remuneration for committee members (thousand Riyals)

Committees Members Remuneration

Allowance for
attending Board

Fixed Remuneration
(Except for the allowance for

Audit Committee Members attending Board meetings) meetings Total
1 | Mr. Waleed bin Ahmed 150 15 165
Bamaroof
2 | Mr. Abdulsalam A. Al Draibi - 15 15
3 | Mr Ha§san bin Yassin Al i 15 15
Tkrouri
4 | Mr. Mansour Alshareef - 9 9
5 | Mr. Mehaideb S. Al-Mehaideb | - 15 15
Total 150 69 219
Remuneration and Nomination Committee Members
1 | Dr. Abdulelah O. Al Saleh - 12 12
2 Engr. Mohammed Ahmed Al
Shehhi iz 1z
3 | Mr. Abdulsalam A. Al Draibi - 12 12
Total - 36 36
Commercial Committee Members
1 | Engr. Mohammed bin
Mana Aballala 15 15
2 | Mr. Yahiya Alshangiti - 15 15
3 | Engr. Savas Sahin - 15 15
4 | Engr. Fekry Youssef
Mohammed e e
Total - 60 60
Executives Committee Members
1 | Mr. Yahiya Alshangiti - 18 18
2 | Mr. Abdulsalam A Al Draibi - 18 18
3 | Mr. Taha Khawaldeh - - -
4 | Engr. Savas Sahin - 18 18
Total - 54 54

*All of the remuneration or Board of Directors members and Executive Management mentioned
above did not include any significant deviation from the approved policies.
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The Board of Directors members and its associated committee members were entitled to the

following remunerations:

1. Each member of the Board of Directors was compensated with three hundred thousand
(300,000) Saudi Riyals. The chairman of the Board of Directors also received an additional
compensation of two hundred thousand (200,000) Saudi Riyals. In addition, the Board
Secretary was compensated two hundred and forty thousand (240,000) Saudi Riyals for
overseeing the company»>s business during the fiscal year ending on December 31st, 2021.

2. The Chairman of the Audit Committee was granted an allowance of one hundred fifty thousand
(150,000) Saudi Riyals for the fiscal year ending on December 31st, 2021.

- Meeting attendance allowance

Members of the Board of Directors received a fixed compensation of five thousand (5,000) Saudi
Riyals for attending Board of Directors.

Committee members (including those who are not members of the Board of Directors) are
compensated 3,000 Saudi Riyals for each meeting they attend.

Any penalty, precautionary measure, or precautionary attachment imposed
on the company by the Authority or any other supervisory, regulatory, or ju-
dicial authority must include the reason for the violation, the signing entity,
methods to address it, and ways to prevent it in the future.

No penalty, precautionary measure, or precautionary attachment is imposed on Al Masane Al
Kobra Mining Company (AMAK) by the Capital Markets Authority or any other supervisory,
regulatory, or judicial entity inside and outside KSA.

2.10.The report of the external auditor on the financial statements

The external auditor issued an unqualified opinion regarding the financial statements of the
company for the fiscal year ending December 31%, 2022.

2.11.The annual review’s findings regarding the effectiveness of the
company'’s internal control procedures

In order to verify the effectiveness of the company’s internal control system, the internal auditor
submits periodic reports to the Audit Committee on the operational, administrative, and financial
operations. The periodic reports revealed no fundamental weaknesses in the internal control
system of the company.

As part of the company’s audit functions, the external auditor evaluates the internal control
procedures and is permitted to review all Board of Directors and affiliated committee meeting
minutes and internal audit reports.
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The company maintains treasury shares for its employees in accordance with the following table:

Disclose details of treasury shares maintained by the Company, and details of utilizing such

shares:

Dividend Payment 2022 SAR / Share
August 2022 2.0
November 2022 0.6

Total dividend 2.6

2.12. Company declarations

The AMAK Board of Directors acknowledges the following in light of the available data, the
company’s auditor’s report, and future indicators:

The accounts reports have been properly prepared according to the accounting standards
issued by the Saudi Organization for Chartered and Professional Accountants-SOCPA.
The internal control system has been prepared on sound foundations and implemented
effectively.

There are no fundamental concerns about the company’s ability to continue operations,
Allah willing.

During the fiscal year 2022, there were no significant businesses or contracts in which the
company, a member of its Board of Directors, a senior executive, or a relevant individual
had an interest, except for those listed in the report as work with relevant parties.

2.13. Disclosure of the details of the company’s treasury shares and the
uses of these shares

The company maintains treasury shares for its employees in accordance with the following table:

Disclose details of treasury shares maintained by the Company, and details of utilizing such

shares:

Number of treasury shares
Transactions maintained by the company  Value SAR
Opening balance at 1,458,850 19,441,401
01-Jan-2022
Share based compensation (256,637) (3,420,079)
during 2022
Closing balance at 1,202,213 16,021,322
31-Dec-2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

3.1. Provisions/clauses that do not apply to AMAK

1. AMAK has not given any of its Board of Directors members a cash loan or guaranteed a
loan that a Board member has concluded with a third party.

2. AMAK holds no voting interest in the Company’s shares. No categories or numbers have
been assigned to convertible bonds, contractual securities, preemptive rights, or other
similar rights.

3. During the current fiscal year, the company has not issued or granted any rights,
conversions, or subscriptions pertaining to convertible bonds, contractual securities,
subscription bonds, or similar rights.

4. No arrangements or agreements under which a member of the company’s Board of
Directors or a senior executive waives any remuneration and profits.

5. No investments or reserves were created to benefit the company’s employees.

6. There was no recommendation from the Board of Directors to replace the auditor before
the end of their appointed term.

7. The company has no conversion or subscription rights for convertible bonds.

3.2. A description of any redemption, purchase, or cancellation of any
redeemable convertible bonds and the value of the existing securities

The Company has not issued, redeemed, purchased, or canceled any redeemable
convertible bonds.

3.3. The Corporate Governance Regulations provisions that are applied or
not applied and justifications

The company is currently adhering to the mandatory governance requirements applicable to Saudi

public shareholding companies, with the exception of certain mandatory provisions pertaining to
listed companies, which it is not currently adhering to, as outlined below:

1. The company is currently committed to the mandatory governance requirements applied

to the Saudi public shareholding companies, except for some of the directive provisions

related to the listed companies, which the company is not currently abiding by as follows:
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Article Clause

No. No. Requirements Reasons for non-application
39 (E) Evaluation: The three-year window for
Every three years, the Board of Directors an outside entity to conduct
makes the necessary arrangements to obtain | the evaluation has not yet
a performance evaluation from a competent expired.
external entity.
39 (F) Evaluation: Article indicative of future

The non-executive members of the Board of application
Directors regularly evaluate the performance of
the Chairman.

67 - Forming the Risk Management Committee Indicative article SENIOR MANAGEM ENT

69 - The Risk Management Committee meets Indicative article
periodically (at least every six months) and as OVE RVI EW
required.

82 2 Employee incentives: Indicative article

Creating a system for granting company shares
or a percentage of the company’s profit, a
retirement program for employees, and an
independent fund for the program.

82 3 Employee incentives: Indicative article
Establishing social institutions for the benefit
of employees

84 - Social responsibility Indicative article
85 1 Social initiative Indicative article
Developing measurement indicators linking
the company’s performance to social work
initiatives and comparing to other businesses
engaged in similar activities

85 4 S ocial initiative Indicative article
Developing programs to educate the public
about the social responsibility of the company
92 - Forming a Corporate Governance Committee Indicative article
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RISK MANAGEMENT

AMAK has formed a Risk Management Committee that oversees the articulation of the risk man-
agement strategy of the company. The committee is also responsible for determining what the
acceptable level of risk for the company is, considering the nature of the mining sector. One other
responsibility that falls under this committee is assessing the effectiveness of the risk manage-
ment system that is set up in the company. The committee is also tasked with bringing the culture
of risk management into the companv bv npromoting the practice among emblovees.

Information about any risks the Company faces (whether operational or fi-
nancing risks or market risks) and the policy for managing and monitoring
these risks

The Board of Directors endeavours to establish strong foundations to support the Company in
carrying out its operations, developing resources and expanding activities. AMAK’s risk manage-
ment system aims to protect strategic objectives and activities, ensure commitment in following
the correct provisions of Corporate Governance regarding risk management and disclosure, in-
crease efficiency of management, and seize opportunities to increase the value of AMAK’s assets
and profitability in the long run. The Board of Directors, according to the information available to
it, confirms that there is no doubt about the Company’s ability to continue its activities.

Potential risks which may affect AMAK’s future plans include but are not limited to - increases in
fuel prices supplied by ARAMCO, expansion of production capacity by existing Mines, a decline in
metal prices, higher freight and transport costs, higher raw material costs, higher costs and fees
for expatriates’ employment, and political conditions on the Najran border.

Financial Risks

The Company’s principal financial liabilities comprise loans and borrowings, lease liabilities, and
trade payables. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to finance the Company’s op-
erations and to provide guarantees to support them. The Company’s principal financial assets
include trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents.

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including commis-
sion rate risks, currency risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company’s overall
risk management program focuses on robust liquidity management as well as monitoring of vari-
ous relevant market variables, thereby consistently seeking to minimize potential adverse effects
on the Company’s financial performance.

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or the future cash flows of a financial instrument may
fluctuate as a result of changes in market profit rates or the market prices of securities due to a
change in credit rating of the issuer or the instrument, change in market sentiments, speculative
activities, supply and demand of securities and liquidity in the market.

i
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Commission Rate Risk

Commission rate risk is the exposure to various risks associated with the effect of fluctuations in
the prevailing commission rates on the Company’s financial position and cash flows. The Com-
pany’s commission rate risks arise mainly from its loans and borrowings, which are at a floating
rate of commission and are subject to re-pricing on a regular basis. The Company monitors the
fluctuations in commission rate.

Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluc-
tuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company’s principal transactions are
carried out in Saudi Riyal and United States Dollars.

Management believes that there is minimal risk of significant losses due to exchange rate fluctua-
tions as the majority of the monetary assets and liabilities are in Saudi Riyals or currencies which
are pegged to the Saudi Riyal and consequently the Company is not exposed to foreign currency
exposure.

Commodity Price Risk

The Company is exposed to the risk of fluctuations in prevailing market commodity prices on the
mix of mineral products it produces, which are mainly copper, zinc, silver and gold which it sells
into global markets. The market prices of copper, zinc, silver and gold are the key drivers of the
Company’s capacity to generate cash flow. The Company is predominantly an unhedged producer
to provide its shareholders with exposure to changes in the market price of copper, zinc, silver
and gold. The analysis is based on the assumption that the copper, zinc, silver and gold prices
move 10% with all other variables held constant.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument
or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Company is exposed to credit risk from
its operating activities (primarily trade receivables) and from its investing activities, foreign ex-
change transactions and other financial instruments.

Trade Receivables

Customer credit risk is managed as per the Company’s established policy, procedures and control
relating to customer credit risk management. Outstanding trade receivables are regularly mon-
itored, and any credit concerns highlighted to senior management. The Company currently has
only one major customer, which accounts for sales of approximately SAR 445.4 million for the
year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: SAR 326.6 million). Trade accounts receivable are shown
net of impairment based on an expected credit loss model as required by IFRS 9.
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An impairment analysis is performed at reporting date using a provision matrix to measure ex-
pected credit losses. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of
money and reasonable and supportable information that is available at the reporting date about
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Generally, trade receivables are written-off if past due for more than one year and are not subject
to enforcement activity if the cost of such activity is expected to be higher than the benefit of
doing so. The Company does not hold collateral as security. The letters of credit and other forms
of security, if any, are considered an integral part of trade receivables and considered in the cal-
culation of impairment.

Financial Instruments and Cash Deposits

Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed in accordance with
the Company’s policy. Investments of surplus funds are made only with commercial banks with
sound credit ratings. The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk for the cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other receivables as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 is equal to the re-
spective carrying amounts.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an enterprise will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet com-
mitments associated with financial instruments. Liquidity risk may result from an inability to sell
a financial asset quickly at an amount close to its fair value. Liquidity risk is managed by moni-
toring on a regular basis that sufficient funds are available through committed credit facilities to
meet any future commitments. For instance, concentrations of liquidity risk may arise from the
repayment terms of financial liabilities, sources of borrowings or reliance on a particular market
in which to realize liquid assets. AMAK regularly conducts a contractual undiscounted maturity
analysis of the financial liabilities of the Company. The Company does not hold financial assets for
managing liquidity risk. Hence, these risks have not been considered for maturity analysis.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

AMAK has always valued the relationship between our company and our investors. Our investors
are the lifeblood of the company, providing capital that allows us to expand and develop our
mining operations, to explore new potential deposits and to continually maintain the complex
machinery which we use to extract minerals and precious metals.

Our investors became even more numerous and diverse in March 2022, following our successful
listing on the Saudi Stock Exchange (Tadawul). We were delighted with the response to the Initial
Public Offering (IPO), seeing strong demand from institutional investors and a flood of orders
worth SAR 91.8 billion. The offering was oversubscribed by more than 73 times, and it was ex-
tremely gratifying to see such interest in AMAK. We believe this reflects the great strengths of the
company, its prospects for the future and our approach to fostering a strong relationship between
us and our investors.

Like any relationship, AMAK’s commitment to our investors deserves constant, full-time atten-
tion. Our Investor Relations Department provides a dedicated and continual link between the
company and the people and institutions that make what we do possible. It is authorized to man-
age all communications between the Competition and Markets Authority (CMA) and the Tadawul.

The Investors Relations Department is focused entirely on developing and improving relations
between our shareholders and AMAK. Investor Relations follows up on the distribution of profits
from the shares to be distributed, as well as managing, organizing and keeping shareholders’ re-
cords and receiving and responding to all their inquiries.

If you are a current investor or you’re interested in investing in AMAK on its journey towards
becoming the leading listed mining company in Saudi Arabia, then don’t hesitate to contact our
Investor Relations Department and they will be happy to assist you with any enquiries.

Investor Relations contact information:

« Phone: 0122162699
« Email; ir@amak.com.sa
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TERMS AND DEFINITIONS

Term

Mineral Resource

Inferred Mineral
Resource

Indicated Mineral
Resource

Measured Mineral
Resource

Definition

A Mineral Resource is a concentration or occurrence of material of eco-
nomic interest in or on the Earth’s crust in such form, grade, quality,
and quantity that there are reasonable prospects for eventual economic
extraction. The location, quantity, grade, continuity, and other geologi-
cal characteristics of a Mineral Resource are known, estimated, or in-
terpreted from specific geological evidence and knowledge, including
sampling. Mineral Resources are sub-divided in order of increasing geo-
logical confidence into Inferred, Indicated and Measured categories.

An Inferred Mineral Resource is that part of a Mineral Resource for which
quantity and grade or quality are estimated from limited geological ev-
idence and sampling. Geological evidence is sufficient to imply, but not
verify, geological and grade continuity. It is based on exploration, sam-
pling and testing information gathered through appropriate techniques
from locations such as outcrops, trenches, pits, workings, and drill
holes. An Inferred Resource has a lower level of confidence than that
applying to an Indicated Mineral Resource and must not be converted
to an Ore Reserve. It is reasonably expected that most of an Inferred
Mineral Resource could be upgraded to an Indicated Mineral Resource
with continued exploration.

An Indicated Mineral Resource is that part of a Mineral Resource for
which quantity, grade or quality, densities, shape, and physical charac-
teristics are estimated with sufficient confidence to allow the applica-
tion of modifying factors in sufficient detail to support mine planning
and evaluation of the economic viability of the deposit. Geological ev-
idence is derived from adequately detailed and reliable exploration,
sampling, and testing gathered through appropriate techniques from
locations such as outcrops, trenches, pits, workings and drill holes, and
is sufficient to assume geological and grade/quality continuity between
points where data and samples are gathered. An Indicated Mineral Re-
source has a lower level of confidence than that applying to a Measured
Mineral Resource and may only be converted to a Probable Ore Reserve.

A Measured Mineral Resource is that part of a Mineral Resource for which
quantity, grade or quality, densities, shape, and physical characteris-
tics are estimated with confidence sufficient to allow the application of
Modifying Factors to support detailed mine planning and final evaluation
of the economic viability of the deposit. Geological evidence is derived
from adequately detailed and reliable exploration, sampling, and testing
gathered through appropriate techniques from locations such as out-
crops, trenches, pits, workings and drillholes and is sufficient to confirm

Modifying Factors

Ore Reserve

Probable Ore
Reserve

Proved Ore
Reserve

Reserve Life

Grade

Cutoff grade

Metal Equivalent

Mining Depletion

Modifying Factors are considerations used to convert Mineral Resources
to Ore Reserves. These include, but are not restricted to mining, pro-
cessing metallurgical, infrastructure, economic, marketing, legal, envi-
ronmental, social, and governmental factors.

An Ore Reserve is the economically mineable part of a Measured or In-
dicated Mineral Resource. It includes diluting materials and allowances
for losses, which may occur when the material is mined or extracted and
is defined by studies at Pre-Feasibility or Feasibility level, which Include
the application of Modifying Factors. Such studies demonstrate that, at
the time of reporting, extraction could reasonably be justified. The key
underlying assumptions and outcomes of the prefeasibility study or fea-
sibility study must be disclosed at the time of reporting of a new or ma-
terially changed Ore Reserve. Ore Reserves are sub-divided in order of
increasing confidence into Probable and Proved classifications.

A Probable Ore Reserve is the economically mineable part of an Indi-
cated, and in some circumstances, a Measured Mineral Resource. The
confidence in the modifying factors applying to a Probable Ore Reserve
is lower than that applying to a Proved Ore Reserve. A Probable Ore Re-
serve has a lower level of confidence than a Proved Ore Reserve but is of
sufficient quality to serve as the basis for a decision on the development
of the deposit.

A Proved Ore Reserve is the economically mineable part of a Measured
Mineral Resource. A Proved Ore Reserve implies a high degree of con-
fidence in the Modifying Factors. A Proved Ore Reserve represents the
highest confidence category of an Ore Reserve estimate. The style of
mineralisation or other factors could mean that Proved Ore Reserves are
not achievable in some deposits.

Reserve life is the remaining years of mining and processing according
to the life of mine plan in the Ore Reserve report.

Grade is the estimate of the quantity, percentage or quality of a metal or
mineral contained within a mineral deposit.

Cut-off grade is the grade above or below which the Mineral Resource or
Ore Reserve is economic.

Metal Equivalent is mineralisation that is comprised of several metals of
economic value is converted to a single metal. Copper Equivalent was
used as a metal equivalent in the Al Masane mine.

Mining depletion is the reduction in the Ore Reserve or Mineral Resource
due to annual mine production estimated from mine survey and produc-
tion reconciliation.

Reasonable
Prospects for
Eventual Economic
Extraction (RPEE)

geological and grade/quality continuity between points where data and
samples are gathered. A Measured Mineral Resource has a higher level
of confidence than that applying to either an Indicated Mineral Resource
or an Inferred Mineral Resource. It may be converted to a Proved Ore
Reserve or under certain circumstances to a Probable Ore Reserve.

The term ‘reasonable prospects for eventual economic extraction’ im-
plies the Competent Person [judges] the technical and economic factors
likely to influence the prospect of economic extraction, including the ap-
proximate mining parameters.
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Mineable Shape
Optimiser (MSO)

Effective Date

New Data

Cost Factors

Estimation
methodology

Life of Mine Plan

Revenue Factors

Stockpiles

Green Field
Projects

Brown Field
Projects

Mineable Shape Optimiser (MSO) is a strategic mine planning tool that
automates the design of stope shapes for a range of stoping methods for
underground mines.

The effective date of the Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves esti-
mate is the date when these estimates are current.

New data are new data from drilling, sampling, chemical analysis, geo-
technical, metallurgical, or technical studies.

Cost factors are the operating, capital, processing, and transport costs
used to estimate the economics of extraction of the Mineral Resource
and economic mineability of the Ore Reserve.

Estimation methodology is method which is used by the Competent Per-
son to estimate the tonnes, grade, quality or confidence level of the esti-
mates to classify the Mineral Resource or Ore Reserve.

The Life of Mine Plan is the approved long-term plan for the design, de-
velopment, ore extraction and processing of a mine in an Ore Reserve
report by a Competent Person.

Revenue factors are changes in the sale prices of the mineral commodity
and foreign currency exchange rates used to convert the international
market price to the local currency.

Stockpile changes are annual changes in the tonnage and grade or clas-
sification of the Mineral Resource or Ore Reserve classification of ore in
temporary storage after mining but before processing.

Projects for which no previous exploration work has been conducted.

It is often located near the mine sites and the opportunity to find ore or
another mine is high, and the demand for brown field projects is high.
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IMDEPEMDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF AL MASANE AL KOBRA MINING COMPANY
CASALUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY)

Repert on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Cpinion

We have audited the financial statements of Al Masane Al Kobra Mining Company (A Saudi Joint Stock
Company) (the “Compary™), which comprise the statement of linancial position as at 31 December 2022, and
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in eguity and statement
of cash flows far the year then ended, and nates to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinian, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
pasition of the Company a5 at 31 December 2022, and its financial perfarmance and its cash flows for the year
than ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards that are endorsed in the Kingdom
of Saudi Arabia and other standards and pronouncements that are endorsed by the Saudi Organization for
Charterad and Professional Accountants (“SOCPA™L

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accoerdance with International Standards on Auditing that are endorsed in the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the "Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the
Company in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants {including
International Independence Standards) that is endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia that is relevant to our
audit of the financial statements, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with this
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit
of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the financial statements as a whole, and in forming auditor’s apinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
I:ipil'lil:ll'l on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the malter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report, including in relation te these matters, Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements. The resulls of our audil procedures, including the procedures performed to addrass
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying financial statements.
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IMDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF AL MASANE AL KOBRA MINING COMPANY

(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY)

Repert on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key audit mabters
Revenue recognition

The Company's revenue from sales of metals
(copper, zinc, gold & silver) during the year was
amounting SR 583 million.

Individual sales transactions represent significant
amounts, The Company's sales are initially recorded
on provisional prices which are subject to change.
Final prices are determined cn the basis of specified
future time period after shipment, based on
average or ruling market prices in accordance with
the terms of contractual arrangement,

We determined this to be a key audit matter since
determination of future average or ruling market
price, at the reporting date, involve significant
judgment amd estimation by the Company’s
management,

Refar to note 4.17F to the financial statements for
the significant accounting pelicy, nofe 3.1.5 for
the critical accounting judgements, estimates and
assumptions and note 22 which defalls the
disclosure of revenue.

Hew onr audit addressed the key andit mabters

Cur audit procedures incledad, among others, the
fellowing procedures:

(i} Assessed the Company's accounting poficy for
revenue recognition for compliance with IFRS.

(i) Evaluated the Company's controls for recognizing
revenues at appropriate prices and in the correct
accounting period.

(i) Assessed the reasonmableness for managemeant
estimation of the provisional pricing.

(viOn a sample basis, tesied sales transactions
against sales contraclts, invoices and shipping
documenis lo assess that revenues have been
recognized at appropriate prices and in the correct
accounting period. Further, we lested the final
adjustments of the customers to the provisional
invoices.

(v) Ensured that adegquate disclosure has been made
in the financial statements.

Depreciation/amertisation of mine properties
and preperty, plant and equipment

The carrying value of mine properties and property,
plant and equipment amounted to SR 341 million
and SR 396 million as at 31 December 2022; which
represents 47.6% of the total assets.

The Company applies straight line
depreciationfamortisation  policy for  mine
properties over the useful lite of mines and a unit of
production depreciation policy for majority of
property, plant and equipment. The management
uses expert for the determination of the useful life
af mines and the astimation of mineéral resérve
quantities which reguires signilicant judgment and
estimation.

We determined this to be a key audit matter tince
the mineral reserves impact management’s
estimate of useful life and depreciation rate of mine
properties and property. plant and equipment.

Refer to note 4.5 to the financial statements for
the significant accounting poiicy, nofe 3.2.1 for
the critical accounting judgements, estimates and
assumptions and note 7 & 8 which details the
disclosure of mine properties and property, plant

and eguipment respectively.

Our audit procedures included, among others, the
following procedures:

(i) Ewvaluated the competence, capabilities and
objeclivity of the management's expert based on
their professional qualifications and experience
and assessed their independence.

(it Reviewed the report of the management expert
to understand the changes in resarves estimates
during the year,

(il On sample basis, tested that the updated
reserves guantity has been appropriately applied
ta the calculation of depreciation/amartisation.

(iv) Evaluated the management’s assessment of
useful lives of mine properties and property,
plant and equipment considering change in
reserve quantities.

(v} Assessed the adequacy and appropriateness of
the related disclosures in the accompanying
financial statements.
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IMDEPEMDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF AL MASANE AL KOBRA MINING COMPANY
CASAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY)

Repert on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

Other information included in The Company's 2022 Annual Report

Other information consists of the information included in the Company's 2022 annual report, other than the
firancial statements and cur auditor's report thereon. The Board of Directors is responsible for the other
information in its annual report. The Company's 2022 annual report is expecled to be made available to us
after the date of this auditer’s report.

Cur apinien on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon,

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the ather information is
materially incorsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated,

When we read the Company's 2022 annwal report, if we condude that there is a material misstatement therein,
we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directers and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financal statements in
accordance with Intermational Financial Reperting Standards that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
and other standards and pronouncements that are endorsed by the Saudi Organization fer Chartered and
Professional Accountants and the provisions of Companies” Law and Company's By-laws, and for such internal
control as the Board of Directors cetermines is necessary 10 enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free fram material misstatement, whethar due to fraud o esror.

In preparing the financial statemants, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Company's ability
to continue a5 a going concern, disclosing, as 2pplicable, matters related to going cencern and wsing the gaing
concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to quidate the Company ar to cease
operations, or has no realistic allernative but to do so.

Those charged with governance, i.e. the Board of Directors are responsibie for overseeing the Company's
financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whather the financial statements as a whole are free
from materia! misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit concucted in
accordance with International Standards on Auditing that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reascnably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of theses financial statements,
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REFORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF AL MASANE AL KOBR A MINING COMPANY
(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY) (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)
Auditor's Responsibllities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

As part of an audit, In accordance with international Standards on Auditing thal are endorsed in the Kingdom
of Saudi Arabis, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We alza:

« |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due lo fraud
or efror, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that Is sutticient and appropriate to provide a basls for our opinion. The risk of not detecling a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may invelve
colluzion, forgery, Intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

« Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in orcer to design avdit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opin‘on on the
ellectiveness of the Company®s internal control,

« Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness ef accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors

+ Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence abtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncestainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statemonts or, It such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify sur apinian. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of aur auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to
conkinue as a going concern.

= Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner thal achieves fair presentation,

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all rela tinn:h.lps.land ather matters that
may reasonably be thaught te bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or saleguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters thal were
of most significance in the audit of the financlal statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe thess matters in cur auditor's repert unless law or requlation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, In extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in aur report because the adverse consequences of doing 5o would reasonably be expected
to outweigh thie public interest benelits of such communication.
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AL MASANE AL ROBRA MINING COMPANY (A SAUDIJOINT STOCK COMPANY)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Agat 31 December 2022
(Al zmounis in Savudi Rivals unless otheraise stated)
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AL MASANE AL KOBRA MINING COMPANY (A SAUDT JOINT STOCK COMPANY)

STATEMENT OF PROFIT QR LOSS AND OTHER COMPEEHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Al amounts m Saudi Rivals untess otherwise stated)
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AL MASANE AL KOBRA MINING COMPANY (A SAUDIJOINT STOCK COMPANY')

e ——

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
lFor the year ended 31 December 2022

(All amounts in Saudi Riyals unless otherwise stated)

Balance as at 1 Janwary 2021

Reduction of share capital (note 14.1 (¢))
Net profit for the year

Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year
Inerecase in share capital (note 14,1 {d))
Transter to statutory reserve (note 14.2)

Balance as at 31 December 2021

Net profit for the year

Chher comprehensive income for the year
Tutal comprehensive income for the year
Increase in share capital (note 14,1 (d))
Transaction costs (note 14,1 (d))

Current period charge (noie 14.6)

Treasury shares issued 1o employees (note 14.0)

Dividend (note 14.3)
Transler 1o statutory reserve (note 14.2)

Baluance us at 31 December 2022

YRS}

* Finance Director

The attached notes from 1 to 35 form an
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AL MASANE AL KOBREA MINING COMPANY (A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANTY)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For e year encded 51 December 2022
(Al amounts in Saudi Bivals unless etherwise stared)
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AL MASANE AL KOBRA MINING COMPANY (A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 3] December 2022
(All amounts in Saud: Riyals unless otherwise stated)

1. COMPANY INFORMATION

Al Masane Al Kobra Mining Company ("the ¥y~ or "AMAK®) is a Sawdi Joint Swck Company ap&umi I:go;'h_?c
M!'ni:h?' of Commerce and Investment Decroe Number 247/0) dated @ Shawwal 1428H (corresponding 1o 21 October ]
and registered in Jeddah under Commercial Regstration No, 40300175345 on 7 Muharram 1429H (cormesponding to 16 January
200&). During 2015, the registered office of the Com was relocated from Jeddah to Najran. Accordingly, Najran
Commercial Begistration Ne. 5950017523 dated 3 Duh Al-Ch'dah 1431H {comespoading 1o 11 October 2010} was modified
o b2 meain Commercial Registraton, Dunmig 2021, the Company obtained commercial registration number 39530123956 dated
22 Dhu Al-Higjeh 1442H (corresponding to 1 August 2021) of @ new branch in Najran.

The registerad office is located at PO, Box %6, Nagran, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. The Company 15 engaged m miming of non-
ferrous metal ores (alumimium, copper and lead), mining of ores of precious metals belonging to gold, silver and platinum
group, and wholesaling precious metals and gemstones.

The Company commenced its commercial production on 1 July 2002, The principal activity of the Company is to produce
zine and copper concentrates and silver and gold dore as per the license Number S8/ dated 13 Ramadhan 1429H
(comesponding 10 13 Seplember 2008) 1ssued by Mmistry of Industry and Mineral Resources and expinng on 29 Duh Al-
i"dah 1443H {comesponding te 28 June 2022). The Company renswed the license for further thirty years with license number
142941, starting from 30 June 2022 (comesponding to 1 Dhw Al-Hijjah 1443H).

In addition, the Company obtained the license number 5980 dated 24 Duh Al-0hi"dah 1436H {corresponding to § September
2015) for twenty years and expiring on 23 Duh Al-Qi"dah 1456H (corresponding to 2 February 2035) from the Ministry of
Industry and Mineral Resources for the exploitation of gold and silver dores from accompanying site Mount Guyan Surface.

During 2021, the Company commenced the process for Initial Public Offering ("IPO7). The Capital Market Authority
AT Board issaed its resolation approving the Company s application for the offering of 19.8 million shases n:prm:nllg%
irty percent of the Company's share capital en 22 Dece 1 {corresponding to 18 Jumada Al-Uls 1443H). As at
March 2022 ( : to 26 Sha'ban 1443H). the Company's shares became listed on the Saudi Stock Exchange
(Tadawul) in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. The Company's status changed from “A Saudi Closed Joint Stock Company™ 1o
“A& Saudi Joint Stock Company™ and the legal formalities mn this regard have been completed.

As ot the reporting date, the Company hos two mings nomely Al Masane underground mine and Mount Guyan mine. The
Company is expanding its current activity by further developing the Maoyeath orebady development project for the purpose of
increasing the productive capacity of Al Masane underground mine.

1, BASIS OF FREFARATION
1 Statement of compliancs

These financial statements have been prepared m accordance with International Financial Rq}mﬁigﬂlnﬂnﬂﬂfﬂﬁﬁ“ﬁt
are endorsed in Kingdom of Saudi Amaba ("KSA”™) and other standards and pronouncements that are endorsed by the i
Orgunization for Chartersd and Professions] Accountants (CSOCPA") (collectively nefemed to as “IFRSs endorsed in KSA™).

22 Basis of measurement

These financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for employee benefit obligation which is
recopnized at the present value of future obligations using the projected unit credit method. Further, the financial statements
are prepared using te accrual basis of accounting and going comcem comrcept.

2.3 Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Saudi Rivals (SR}, which 15 also the Company’s functional and presentation
curmency.

i Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the Company®s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and habilities, and the accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilites. Uncenainty atsout these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require &
material adjustment to the carrving amount of &ects or liabilities affected in fature periods.

Oiher disclosures relating to the Comparry™s exposure (o risks and uncertaintics includes:
L] Sensitivity analyses disclosure (notes 17 & 300

] Financial instrurnents risk management (mote 300
] Capital management (note 31




AL MASANE AL KOBRA MINING COMPANY (A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Al 31 December 2022
(Al amounts in Saudi Riyals unless otherwise stated)

> Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continwed)
il Judgements

In the process of applying the Company s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, which have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements;

LEE Exploraiier and evalioation expendiinne

The applicatton of the Company's sccounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure requirss judgement (o
determing whether future economic benefits are likely from either future exploitation or sale, or whether sctivities have mot
reached & stage that permits a reasonable asseszment of the existence of reserves.

In sddition te applying judgement 1o determine whether future economic benefits are likely 10 anise from the Company®s
caploration and evaluation asscta or whether activities have mot reached a stage that permits a reasonable assessment of the
cxistence of reserves, the Company has applied a number of cstimates and assumplions.

L12 Production stard date
The Company nssesses the stage of cach mine under development/construction to determing when a mne moves info the
production phase, Le, when the mine is substantially complete and ready for its intended wse. The criteria used to assess the
start date are determined based on the unique nature of each mine development/construction project, such as the complexity
of the project and its location.

The Company considers vanous relevant entena 1o assess when the production phase 15 considered to have commenced, At
this poant, all related amounts are reclassified from ‘Exploration and Evalmtion Assets’ 1o ‘Mme properties” or ‘Property,
plant and squipment’, Some of the critenia used to identify the production start daste includs, but are not limited o

Level of capital expenditure incurred comparad with the onginal construction cost estimate
Comipletion of a reasonable period of testing of the mine plant and equipment

Ability to produce metal in saleable form (within specifications)

Ability to sustsin ongoing production of metal

When a mine under development'construction moves into the production phase, the capitalisation of certain mine development
costs ceases and costs are ether regarded as forming part of the cost of mventory or expensed, except for costs that quahify
for capitalisation relating to mining asset additions, improvements, underground mine development or mineable reserve
development or stripping costs (waste remaval). It is also at thzs point that depreciation/amontisation CoMmMences.

113 Swipping costandergronnd mine developmient assel

Significant judgement is required 1o distinguish between development stripping and production stripping and to distinguish
between the production siripping that relates to the extraction of inveatory @nd that which relates to the creation of a stripping
activity asset / underground development asset.

Once the Company has sdemtified i3 production stripping for cach surface mining operation, it identifies the separate
componcnts of the ore bodies for cach of its mining operations, An identifiable component is a specific volume of the ore
body that is made more accessible by the stripping activity, Significant judgement is required 1o identify and define these
componcnts, and also o determine the expected volumes (e.g., in tonnes) of waste to be stripped and ore 1o be mined in cach
of these components. These assessments are underiaken for cach individual mining operation based on the information
evailable in the mine plan. The mine plans and, therefore, the identification of components, will vary between mines for a
number of reasons, These include, but are not limited w, the type of commodity, the geological characteristics of the ore body,
the geegraphical location and/or financial considerations.

Judgement is also required to identify a suitshle production measure to be used to allocate production stripping costs between
inventory and any siripping activity asset(s) for cach component. The Company considers that the ratio of the expected volume
(e.g., in tonnes) of waste to be stripped for an expected volume (e.g., in tonnes) of cre to be mined for a specific component
of the ore body, is the most suitable production measure.
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(All amounts in Saudi Riyals unless otherwise stated)

> Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions [continued)
31 Judgements (continued)

114 Deferred tax assets

Deefierred tax assets are recognised for deductible iemporary differences 1o the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which these can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount of
deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits, vogether with
future tax planning strategics,

115  Revenue from contracts with customers
The Company applied the following judgements that significantly affect the determination of the amount and tming of
revenue from contracts with customens:

For most copper and zinc concentrate (metal in concentraie) sales, while there are master services agreements with key
customers that set out the general terms and conditions goveming any sales that occur, they do not contain any minimum
volumes, i.c., the customer is not required to buy any concentrate,

Also, there are no terms which link separate purchase contracts, For example, there are no rebates or discounts provided if a
customer buys more than a specified amount each year, and there are no penalties that mmpact overall sales during a year
{unbess mutually agreed). Therefore, for these arrangements, the enforceable contract kas been determined to be a purchase
agrecment.

ARDHCTIIOR 4F P 553 3 Ly L e Flid

For the Compary’s contracts that are subject io market-based prices, i.e., there s variable consideration, the Company has

assessed thal at contract inception, this variable consideration will generally be significantly constrained. This is on the basis

that the uitimate price they will receive will depend on a mnge of factors that are highly susceptible to faciors outside the

Company's influence and include:

. Actions of third parties: the exact date that each shipment occurs (this is relevant because this is the date the market
price is determined, or for provisionally priced sales, the date from which the QF commences)

. Volaile commaodity market: the price 1o be received in the futre is then based on market-based prices for highly
liquid commiodities

The Company s estimates of variable consideration and any disclosures provided in relation 1 the allocaton of that variable
vonsideration w unsatisfied performance obligations, are immaterial,

I 06 Determining the leaxe ferm of contracts with renewal and termination options - Company as lexsee

The Company determincs the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any perieds covered by an
option o extend the lease if it is reasonably cerain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option 1o lerminate the lease,
if it 15 reasonably certain not to be exercised.

The Company has several lease contracts that inclede extension and termimation options. The Company applies judgement in
evaluating whether 1t 15 reasonably certain whether or not 1o exercise the option (o repew or terminate the lease. That 15, 1t
considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for 1t to exercase cither the renewal or termination. After the
commencement dake, the Company reassesses the lease term if there 15 a significant event or change in circumstances that 1
within its control and affects s abuity to exerase or nof to exercise the option to renew or to terminate (e.g., construction of
significant leaschold improvements or significant customization te the leased asset).

The renewal periods for keases of buildings and heavy equipment (ie., 10 years and 3 years) are not includsl & pant of the
lease torm as these arc not reasonzbly certain w0 be exercised. Furthermore, the periods covered by termination options aro
inclhuded as part of the lesse term only when they sre ressonably certain nol to be exencised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Al 31 December 2022
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> Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions [continued)

321  Estimates and assumptions

The key assumptions conceming the future and other key sources of eatimation uncertainty al the reporting date, that have a
sigmificant risk of causing a material adjustment 1o the carrving amounts of assets and liabialities within the next financial year,
are described below, The Company based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the financial statements
were prepared, Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due 10 market
changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Company, Such changes are reflecied in the assumptions
when they ocour, Information about the assumptions and estimation uncenaintics is mcluded in the following arcas:

A1 Ore reserves and mineral resource estimates
Ore reserves and mineral resource estimates are estimates of the amount of ore that can be economically and legally extracted
from the Company’s mining propertics, Such reserves and mineral resource estimates and changes to these may impact the
E{rmpan:,' & n:pnrll:d financial position and resulis, in the f-u:al]:;l-wlng WAY:
The carrying value of exploration and ¢valuation assets, mine properties, property and plant and equipment, may be
affected due to changes in estimated future cash flows,

8 Depreciation and amortisation charges in the staiement of profit or loss and cther comprehensive income may change
whers such charges are determined wsing the UOP method, or where the nseful life of the related assets change.

¥ Provisions for rehabiliation and environmentz]l provisions may change where reserve estimate changes affect
expectations about whea such activities will occur and the associated cost of these activities.

. The recognition and carrying vilue of deferred income tax assets may change due o changes in the judgements

regarding the existence of such aisels and in estimates of the likely recovery of such assets.

The Company estimales ils ore reserves and mineral resources based on information compaled by appropriately qualified
persons relatmg to the geological and technical data on the size, depth, shape and grade of the ore body and suitable production
technigues and recovery rates. Such an analysis requires complex gealogical judpements to interprel the data. The estimation
of recoverable reserves is based upon factors such as estimates of foreign exchange rates, commodity prices, future capital
requirernents and production costs, along with geological assumptions and judgements made in estimating the sire and grade
of the are body.

The Company estimates and reports ore reserves and mineral resources in line with the principles comained in the Australasian
Code for Reponing Exploration Resulis, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves, which is prepared by the Ausiralasian Joint
Ore Reserves Committee (JORC) of the Australasian Instiwte of Mining and Mewallurgy, known as the “JORC Code”, The
JORC Code requires the use of reasonable investmen! assumptions, including:

=  Fulure production cstimates, which melude proved and probable reserves, resource eatimales amd committead
expansions

=  Expected future commodity prices, based on current market prices, forward prices and the Company's assessment of
the long-lorm average price

#  Future cash costs of production, capital expenditure and rchabilitation obligations

Conscquently, management will form a view of forccast sales prices based on current and long-term historical average price
trends. For example, if current prices remain above long-term historical averages for an extended period of time, management
may assume that lower prices will prevail in the future, As a result, those lower prices would be used to estimate ore reserves
and mineml resources under the JORC Code. Lower price sssumptions generally result in lower estimates of reserves,

As the economic assumptions wsed may change and os additional geological information is produced during the operation of
a ming, estimates of ore reserves and mineral resources may change.

122 Useful bves of buildings and motor vehicles

The 'l:,.'m'n:pm'l.fi management determines the cstimated wseful lives of h.l.'”dmg.; and motor vehicles for ¢l.1|:I,L|.IﬁI'LE
-ﬁ:prﬂ;mﬁun. These edimates ore determined after cnnﬁ.ﬂn‘inﬂ_ the e-xppl;h:d usage of the asgets or pb}lswﬂ wenr and fear,
Manngemeni reviews the residual valee and weeful Hves :mr:l.l.n.|l:|.' and future d:pu-:n:hti.l:n I,'.I1.I.I'E,|:'|i. e nd_iu:l::d where the
management believes the useful lives differ from previous estimates.
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kD Skgnificant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions [continued)

il Estimates and assumptions {continuwed)

£.23  Useful lives of property, plan! and equipment and mine properties and Unit-of-Production (UOF) depreciation
Estimated economically recoverable reserves are used in determining the depreciation and‘or amortisation of property, plant
and equipment and mine propemics, excepl for the buildings and motor vehicles. This resulis in a depreciationamortisabion
charge proporional w the depletion of the amicipated remaining lifc-ol-mine production. The lile of cach iem, which is
assesscd at least annually, has regacd 1o both its plysical life limitations and present assessments of ecconomically recoverable
reserves of the mine property at which the esset 13 located, These calculations require the use of catimates and assumptions,
ncluding the amount of recoverable reserves and estimates of future capital expenditure. The calculation of the UIOP rate of
deprecintion/amortsation could be impacted to the extent that sctual production in the futuee 12 different from corrent forecast
production based on economically recoverable reserves, or if futare capital expenditure cstimates change. Changes to
economically recoverable reserves could anise due to changes m the factors or assumptions used In estimating reserves,
including:

" The effect on economically recoverable reservies of differemces between actual commodity prices and commandity
price assumplions
. Unforeseen operational issues

Changes in estimates are accounted for prospectively.

124  Mine closure cost and envirenment obligation

The rrl.'ir:ma nlﬂcxplumriqn scirvities are 5|..||:|l|¢-|:1. to warious environmentnl laws and rr,:a'l.l.h;lﬁmﬂ.. The estimates environmental
-uhHBntlnm: hnpud an mnruﬂ_:mmlf': undl:rsl:nd:ing c_l-l:' th-: currenk ll:an| I\cqlu:in:nunl: m I'J'i-: \r.irinu: j.l,]l'lpdil:!l:lﬂ'll. m whi.i:h ]
operates, lerms of the license agreements and engineenng estimates, Provigion is made, for mine closure costs s soon as the
obligation anses. The ultimate rehabilitation costs are uncertain, and cost estimates can vary in response to many factors,
including estimates of the extent and costs of rehabilitation activities, technelogical changes, regulatory changes, cost
increases as compared to the inflation rates, and changes in discount rates (2022; 5.34% and 2021: 2.82%:). These uncertaintics
may result in future actual expenditure differing from the amounts currently provided. Therefore, significant estimates and
assumplions are made in determining the provision for mine rehabilitation. As a result, there could be significant adjustments
w the provisions established which would affect fumere financial result, The provision & reporting date represents
management’s best estimate of the present value of the fiture rehabilitation costs required.

125  [Inventories

Met realisable value tests are performed at esch reporting date and represent the estimated fisture sales price of the product the
entity expects to realise when the product is processed and sold, less estimated costs 1o complete production and bring the
product 1o sale,

Stockpiles are measured by estimating the number of tonnes added and removed from the stockpile, the number of contained
gold ounces 15 basad on aszay data, and the estimated recovery percentage i based on the expected processimg method.
Stockpile tormages are verified by pericdic surveys.

126 Exploration and evaluation expenditure

The application of the Company’s accounting policy for explomtion and evaluation (“E&LE™) expenditure requires judgement
I'ntl:l!-ﬂ'.rrrim: l.l.ll'u:.!]'h:r ﬁlh:l:n,-. mmm:ic hmnﬁrs are ||h::]:.r Trom ::ilhc-r 'ﬁL1||r¢ ::Flnilnl'inn n:r:n]c_ or whn:ﬂmr .'.ll.'.llw'l'it:: hm mnk
reached a stage that permits a reasonable assessment of the existence of reserves. In addiion o applying judgement 1o
determine whether future economic benefits are likely (o anse from the Company™s E&E assets or whether activities have not
reached a stage that permits a reasonable assessment of the existence of reserves, the Company has to apply a number of
estimates and assumptions. The determination of a JORC resource 15 itself an estimation process that involves varying degrees
of uncertainty depending on how the resources are classitied (1.e., measured, indicated or inferred). The estimates dmectly
impact when the Company defers E&ZE expenditure. The deferral policy requires management to make certain estimates and
assumptions about future events apd circumsiances, particularly, whether an economically visble extraction operation can be
cstablished. Any such estimates and assumptions may change as new information becomes available. I, after expenditire is
capitalised, information becomes available suggesting that the recovery of expenditure is unlikely, the relevant capitalised
srmnarmil 1% wmilen aff o I!|'.|¢ sinlement nri'n'n'ﬁl or loes and n'lhr.r l;nmprl:hms:iv: :'nmrrl: mn 'I]'i-: Tr:ri.m‘! whn! Ihc miEa mfnrmation
becomes available.
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k8 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued)
il Estimates and assumptions [continued)

427  Leases - Extimating the incremental borrowing rale

The Company uses its ingremental borrowing mate (IBR) cxcept where interest rate implicit in lease 15 available o measure
lcasc habilities. The IBR 15 the rate of intcrest that the Cmpm:,r would have to pay 1o borrow over a similar icrm, and with a
.i.iﬂ'lill.l' aci;l.lri.l:y, 1:|'.u: fund.s RECessAry i q-‘hl.:m an assel ufn. Ei.r.n:i]u'r v.lur. Eo 'L11|: :'iah'l.--ql'—m st na si.m.'i]n.r SCOnomec
environment.

The IBR therefore reflects what the Company “would have 1o pay’, which requires estimation when no observable rates are
avadlable or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. The Company estimates the IBR
using observable inputs (such as market interest rales) when available and is required to make centain entity-specific estimates.

128 Defined benefit plan

The cost of the defined benefil plan and the present valuee of the obligaton are determined using actuarial valustion, An
ectuarial valuation mvolves making vertous assumptions that may differ from actual developments in the future. These mclede
the determination of the discount rate, future selary increases, mortality rates and employes tumover rate, Due fo the
wmpl.-::ltiq: involved in the valuation and itg ||:|ns-t¢1'm nature, # defined benefit ﬂl:ll.i.a.l!i.l}n g hlEh'I:.r grnsitve 1o chnn@:: in
these assumpiions. All assumpisons are reviewad 31 each reporting date.

The parameter most subject o change is the discount rmate. In determining the appropniate discount rate, management considers
the market vield on high quality corporate’government bonds. The mortality rate 15 based on publicly available mortality
tables for the country. Those morality tables tend to change only at intervals in response (o demographic changes. Future
salary increases are based on expected future inflation rates for the country. Further details about employee benefits obligations
are provided in note 17,

129 Share-based compensation

In l;l:l!mmmnﬂ 'I!u: :I':nr \-'nlul: nfm :qu.'il:,'-pctﬂﬂ:l :wwd,nnnppmpn'nl: vnlu;hn:m m:!hn-d i.-;n.p-ph.-cd Sen"i.n:ac :.m:l nqr:-uurh:l!
performance conditions are not taken inio account in determining the fair value of the award, but durmg the vesting penod
the likelibood of the conditions being met 15 assessed as part of the Company s best estimate of the number of awards that are
expected to vest. Any market performance condittons and non-vesting conditions are taken into account in determaning the
award's fair value.

1218 fmpairment of nen-financial assets

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generting unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the
higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less costs of disposal calculation is based on
avmlable data from binding sales transactions, conducted at arm’s length, for similar assets or observable market prices less
incremental costs for disposing of the asset, The valwe in use caleulation is based on 2 Dhscounted Cash Flow ("DCF") model,
The cagh Mows sre denved from the l'l-n.rlgﬂ for the naxt five VEArs ang clo ned e hicle restructuning metiviies that the I:"rlu'lq'l.l:rlqluI
i5 nof vet committed to or significant future investments that will enhance the asset’s performance of the Cash Generating
Uit {"COU™) being tested, The recoverable amount 15 sensitive o the discount rate wsed for the DCF miodel a5 well as the
expected future cash-inflows and the growth rate wsed for extrapolation purposes.

1211 Provisions

Frovision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or constrective obligation that can be
estimaied reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefils will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions
are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the
wme value u-'Fmpm.-.I!,r and the nsks ;pg;iﬁ:,- o the l'inl;:i]ll.‘}'. The l,m'n.'ln;!ma of the digcount 15 rmgnlnnd.u finance cost,

1212 (Going concern

The Company”s management has made an assessment of 1ts ability to continue as a gong concern and 15 satsfied that it has
the resources 1o continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, management 15 ot aware of any material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Company's ability fo continue as a going concemn. Therefore, the
financial stalements contmnue to be prepared on the gong concern basis.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
At 31 December 2022
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals unless otherwise stated)

i SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies set oul below have been applied consistently. except as mentioned m note 5, in the preparation of
these financial statements:

4.1 Foreign currencics

Transactions in foreign comencies are initially recorded by the Company in its functional currency spot rates at the date the
transaction first qualifies for recogmition. Monetary assets and hishilities denommated n foreign currencies are translated at
the functional currency spot rates of exchange at the reporting date. Differences arising on setilement o translation of
manetary ems are n:mgr:lm'l FE [rrnﬁ'l or logs Man-manatary tterms thnt mre mescrred im terme of gdomical cost inon I'nh:i.gr:
curteney afe translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initiz]l transactions. Non-monetary flems messured at fair
value in o foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value 1= determined. The gain or
loas ariging on ranlation of non-monetery items messured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain of
loss on the clumgc n fmr value of the ttem.

4.2 Correst verzus non-cuorrent clasifieation
The Campany presents asqets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on current/non-curment classification.

Aszets
An aeest 18 current when 1t 18-

expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle;

haeld p!‘il‘lll:ﬂ]:,l' for the purpase of I:r.u.d.'inﬁ;

::Pcclﬁd. In:r'bc r:atiiﬂ:l within 'val:h-'c mqn'lhs ll'll:r 'Il1|: rzpm'!i.n.a F:rm-d; or

cash or cash equivalent unless resincted from bemg exchanged or used to settle a hability for at least twelve months
after 'Il:u: n:parl:'nﬂ p-:nud

All other assets are classified as nen-current.

iabilitiex
M ]'m];-:ili'l.}l 15 current when ot 1s:

axpected 1o be seitled in the normal operating cyele;

held primarily for the purpose of rading;

due 1o be settled within tarelve months after the reporting period; or

there iz mo unconditional right 1o defer the seitlement of the liability for at least twelve months afier the reporting
period,

The Company classifies ol other linbilities 25 non-current.

- & *® ®

Deferred 1ax assets ond liabilities ore clussified as non-current assets and habilities.

4.3 Exploration and evaluation asscis
Eu.'p|m:l|pm and Evaluation (“E&E") n-:l.'iul!:," mmwolves the search for mineral TESOUNCes, the determanation of technical
feasibility and the asgessment of commercial viability of an identified resource.

E&E activity inehsdes

Researching and analysing historical exploration data

Crathering exploration data through peophysical studies
Exploratory drlling and sampling

Determining ard examining the volume and grade of the resource
Surveying transportation and infrastrecture requirements
Conducting market and finance studies

The Company applics the full-cost method of accounting, applicd on an arca of mterest basis, for E&E costs. Licence costs
pard in connection with a mght %o explore in an existing exploration area are capitalised and amortized over the useful life of
mine,
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.3 Exploration and evaluation assets (continued)

Once the legal right to explone has been acquired, E&E expenditare is charged 1o profit or loss as incurred, unbess the Company
concludes that a future economic benefit 5 more likely than not to be realised. These costs include directly attributable
employee remunération, materials and fuel used, surveying costs, drilling costs and payments made to contractors.

In evaluating whether the expenditures meet the eriteria to be capitalised, several different sources of information are used.
The information that i= used to determune the probability of fture bepefits depends on the extent of exploration and evaluation
that has been performed.

E&E exponditure incurred on licences where a FORC-compliant resource has not yet been established is expensed as incurred
until sufficient evaluation has occurred in order o establish a JORC -compliant resource.

Upon the establishment of o JORC-compliant resowrce (al which peint, the Company considers i probable that economic
b:nrﬁ.ts wall 1;u: m.le:dL 'Ihn: l::.'mnpm:.' I;.I.FILE.“.H!E uny ru.!ﬂ'n:'r l:vnlu.llmr: c:l:p-:n:li.‘tnn: |r'.||:|..|n'|:d Fur the 'Fl.ﬂ.'ii;l.ll.lr |i.-|;¢11¢¢ as
E&E awsets up to the point when a JORC -complisnt regerve iz extablished. Capitalised ERE expenditure is considered to be
an intangible asset.

E&E sssels acquired m a business combination are indtially recogmsed at fair value, including resources and exploration
potential that is considered o represent value bevond proven and probable reserves, Similarly, the costs associated with
scquiring an E&E asset {that does not represent a business) are also capitalised. They are subsequently measured af cost less
sccumulated impairment, if any. Once JORC-compliant reserves are established and development is sanctioned, ELE assets
are transferred fo "Mine under construction” which 15 a sub-category of “Mine properties”. No amortisation 15 charged duning
the E&E phase,

4.4 Mine under construction

Expenditure = transfemed from "Exploration and evaluation assets” o "Mines under construction” which is a sub-category of
‘Mine properties’ once the work completed 0 daie suppons the luture development of the property and such development
eoeives approprisie approvals.

Adter transfier of the exploration and evaluniion assets, all subsequent expenditure on the construction, installoton or
completion of infrastrecture focilities 1s capitalised in "Mines under construction’. Development expenditure 15 net of proceeds
from the sale of ore exiracted during the development phase to the extent that it is considered iniegral o the developrment of
the mine, ..ﬂm:.' eosts imcurred 10 ‘tl::.'l'inﬁ the aseetz o determane of lhl::.r are ﬁ.lnﬂ'im:ing ns mrtended | are rn.pll'.n.".sgd, ned aof any
procecds received from selling any product produoced while teating. Where these procesds exceed the cast of testing, any
excess is recognised i the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Afier production stans, all assets
included in ‘Mines under construction” are then transferred o "Producing mines” which is alwo a sub-category of "Mine
properties’.

4.5 Mine properties and property, plant and equipment

Initial recognition
Upon completion of the mine construction phase, the assets are transferred into “Property, plant and equipment™ or “Mine
propertics”, liems of property, plant and equipment and producing mine are stated ai cost, less accumulated depreciation and

sccumulated impairmeent losses.

The initial cost of an asset comprises its purchase price or construction cost, amy costs directly attributable to bringing the
esset into operaton, the inidal esdmate of te rehabiliation obligaton, and, for gualifying sssers (where relevant), borrowing
costs, The purchase price or constmaction cost is the aggregate amount paid and the fair valee of any ether consideration given
o acquire the assct.

Mine propenics also consigt of the fair value aitributable to mineral reserves and the portion of mineral resources considered
o be probable of cconomic extraction at the time of an acquisition, When a mine construction project moves into the
production phase, the capitalisation of centain mine canstruction cosis ceases, and costs are either regarded as part of the cost
of inventory or expensed, except for costs which qualify for capitalization relating 0 mining asset additions, improvements
of new developments, underground mine development or mineable reserve development,
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4, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

4.5 Mine properties and property, plant and cquipment (continued)

Depreciation / amorfization

Accumulated ming development costs are depreciated’amortised on a LIOP basis over the economically recoverable reserves
of the mine concerned, except m the case of assets whose useful life 15 shorter than the life of the mine, in which case, the
straight-line method is applied. Economically recoverable reserves include proven and probable reserves.

Depreciation'amortisation is calculated based on the following methods:

Categories Depreciation  amortisation method

Intangible msels Straight ling - useful life of mime

Mining asscts Straight ling - usclul life of mme

Underground mine development asset Siraight ling - useiul life of mine

I-ll,L'i]dir:g,s B»tm.lgh! line - shorter of useful life of mine or 30 YEars
Leaschold improvermaeni Siraight line - shorter of lease term or useful life of mine
Civil workes Uit of production

Plamt amd miachinery Unit of production

Heavy equipment Unit of production

Tailirg dam Unit of production

Motor vehicles Straight ling - 4 vears

The estimated fair value sttnibutable to the mineral reserves and the portion of mineral resources considered to be probable of
economic extraction a the time of the acquisition is amortsed on a UOP basis, whereby the denominator is the proven and
probable reserves, and for some mines, a portion of mineral resources which are expected 1o be extracted economocally. These
other mineral resources may be included in depreciation calculations in limited circumstances and where there is a high degree
of confidence in their economic extraction. This would be the case when the other mineral resources do not yet have the stabus
of reserves merely because the necessary detailed evaluation work has not yet been performad and the respoasible techmical
personnel agree that inclusion of & proportion of measured and indicated resources is approprisie based on hisworic reserve
CONVETSION Fales.

Property, plant and equipment arc stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any,

Cost inchades cxpenditure that is dircetly attributable to the scquisition of the assct. The cost of self-constructed nssets includes
the cost of materials and direct labor, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to o working condition for
their intended wse, the costs of dl.;.l'l'l..l:l'll:llﬂs and T\IEI'IH:I-\'IIHE_ the tems and I'ﬁbl}rll.l'lﬁ the site on which thl:!," are located, and
borrowing costs on qualifying assets,

Am ttem qﬂ"pmp:rl:,-, Fl.u.n.l: arsd fqﬂlp:lﬂ:r!l.ﬂ:l-d. any sign:i'ﬁl;.pn! part |r:||.'in|.|!,-' Tl:wﬁ;nlud 1% dﬂ'ﬁnpiz@d upan d.i;p-qaﬂ or when
no future economic benefits are expected from s use or disposal. Any gain or lose arising on derecognition of the asset
{calculated as the difference between the net disposal procesds and the camrying amount of the asset) is included in the
satement of profit or kess when the asset is derecognized.

Thc m—ndl.l.ﬂ v.]uc-;, uwﬁ.ll Inrﬁ nru:l ruc’lhud: anl:Pn:m'l!lm uf p;'n:l-';lnl:rl'rl.'r phn! nru;I Eﬂ.llipl'lﬂ'ﬂ nre r:vim‘:d ut c.ll:]'i 'F'l.n.lm;'inl
year ::m'l il FH‘IjIL'EII:I‘I prmpﬁ:!i.w.-.ly, if !F‘rll’ﬂl’!‘i!!:

Aserts |:||1d|:r construcisnn wh‘ich are mok mw‘[‘y fowr wte i.r:l!-:m‘h'l nse are nod rlqu‘qr'mh:ﬂ

When a major mspection {fumaround’shutdown, planned or unplanned) is performed, the directly met attnbutable cost =
recopnized in the carrving amount of the plant and equipment if the recognition criteria are met. This is recorded as a sepamte
component with a useful life generally egual to the time penoed up 1o the next scheduled major inspection (tumaround). [f the
next umeround sccurs prior to the planned date, any existing book value of the previous tumaround 15 recognized in the
datement of profit or kess immediately.

Capatal work-in-progress are carmed at cost less any recognized impairment Ioss. When the assets are ready for intended use,
the capital work in progress is transferred to the appropnatz property, plant and equipment category and 15 accounted for in
sccordance with the Compary’s policses. Capatal work in progress are not depreciated.
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AL MASANE AL KOBRA MINING COMPANY (A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Al 31 December 2022
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4, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
4.5 Mine properties and property, plant and equipment

Change in estimare

Based on an assessment and the recommendation of the management's consultant, the wotal expected units of production
(LOP) have been revised from | January 2022 for Al Masane Mine o0 8.2 million metric tonnes (1 Jansary 20212 8.6 million
metric tonnes) and for Mount Guyan Mine to 4,1 million metric tonnes (| Jansary 2021: 2.2 million metric tonnes), Further,
the useful life of Mount Guyan mine is estimated to be till 31 December 2030 (2021 31 December 2026) based on the best
estimates, Such change in the UOP and wseful life has been applied prospectively from | January 2022, The change in UOP
end useful life resulted in change i depreciation and amonization charge for the current period by approximately SR 10,1
million. However, impact on future years cannot be calculated due to annual reviews of remaining useful life and reserves.

4.6 Leases

The Company assesses al coniract inceplion, all arrangements to determing whether they are, or contain, a lease, That is, if
the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. The
Company is not a lessor in any iransactions, it is only a lessee.

Company as a lesses

The Company applics a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-lerm leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Company recognises lease liabilities 1o make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

Right-of-use assers

The Company recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the dale the underlying asset is
avalable for use). Right-of-use asiets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use asse1s includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are deprecizied on a straight-line basis over the shomer of the lease term and the estimaned useful
lives of the assers, as follows:

#  Buildings 10 years, and

*  Heavy Equipment 3 years

I ownership of the leased asset transfens W the Company at the end of the lease term or the cost rellects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset, The right-of-use asscts ane also subject
i imprirmeent, refior note 4. 10,

Lease liahilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Company recogniscs leasc liabilitics measured at the present value of loasc
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable kease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees, The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Company and payments of penaltics for termmating the lease, if the lease term reflects the
Company exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
us expenses (unless they are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs,

In calcwlating the present walue of lease payments, the Company uses its incremental borrowmg rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable, Adfter the commencement date,
the amount of lease linbilities i increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments mede. In
eddition, the camrying amount of lease liabilities 15 remensured if there s a modification, o change in the lease term, a change
in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determing such
l=ase pEyments) or a »;Iunsl.- in the amesmment of an aption to 'pl,u'l;]'u;: the l.l'l.i;l:r]:,rmﬂ nsset. The ur:wmdmg component of
I"mmr.v: st 18 inr.hldﬂ'l n 'I]'u: stalement af |1n.1F|I or loss
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4., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
i Leases (continued)

Fhrort-rermi leases and leaves of low-valioe assels

The Company applics the short-term lease recognition exempiion to its short-term leases (i, those leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencernent date and do not contain a purchase optien), It also applies the lease of low-
value &ssets recognition exemplion to leases that are considerad to be low value, Lease payments on short-lerm leases and
leases of low value assets are recognised as expense on & straight-line basis over the lease erm.

4.7 Inventaries

Concentrales

Concentrates are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value, Cost 15 determined on a weighted averages cost basis and
includes cost of materials, labor, appropriate proportion of direct overheads and other costs ineurred in bringing them 1o their
exigting location and condition.

Gre siockpile

Ore stockpile is recognized as inventory when # is extracted from ming, the reliable assessment of minaral content is possible
and the cost of production can be reliably measured. Cost of the Ore stockpile includes all the direct and indirect costs in
Hnﬁhﬂ it to the current location and condition, Ore sl.q-:lq:“i: 15 valeed at lower of cost or net realizable value, {}u.u.nllll'l:s
and grades of stockpiles snd work-in-process are assessed primarnily through surveys and assays.

Taals, spare parts and consimahiles

Tools, spare pars and consumables are valoed at cost less an allowance for obsolete and slow-moving items. Ket realizable
value & the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, bess the estimated cost of completion and selling
expenses, Any provision for obsolescence 15 determined by reference to specific items of stock. A regular review 15 undertaken
to determine the extent of any provision for obsolescence,

4.8 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position and statement of cash flows comprise cash at banks and on
hand and short-serm highly liquid deposits with a matunty of three months or less, that are readily convertible to a known
ameunt of cash and subject to an insignificant nsk of changes in value.

4.9 Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract thal gives nise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial Lability or equity
instrument of another entity.

i} Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are classified, ot imitial recognition, as subsequently measured of amortised cost, or far value through other
comprehensive income (OCH) or far value through profit or loss (FYPL)

Thie classification of financial assets o1 initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics
and the Company”s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivahles that do not contain a significant
financing component, the Company initially measures a financial asset a2 its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not
at fair valee through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component
are measured ai the mansaction price determined wnder [FRS 15 Revenue from contmacts with customers. Refer (o the
seccounting policy in note 4.17.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured 8 amonised cost or far value through CCLL it needs o give rise to
cash flows that are “solely paymems of principal amd interest (3PP on the principal amouwmt cutstanding. This assessment is
refermed to as the SPPI test and is performved at an instrunrent level. Financisl assets with cash flows thet are not SPPI are
classified and measured at fair valee through profit or loss, irmespective of the business model.
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i SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
4.9 Fimancial instruments {contimacd )
1] Financial assets (continued)

The Company s business mode] for managing financial assets refers to how it manages 1ts financial assets i order o0 generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will resull from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and messured al amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets m order 10 cellect contractual cash flows while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through OC] are held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows
and selling.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame establishied by regulation or convention
in the market place (regular way trades) are recopnised on the trade date, 1.¢., the date that the Company commits to purchase
or s&l] the asset.

Subsequent measurement
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in following categornies:

] Financial assets at amortised cost {delbt instramenits)

] Financial assets at fair value through OC] with recyeling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments)

L] Financial assets designated at fair valve through OCT with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses apon
derecognition (egquity nstmiments)

] Financial assets at fair value through profit or less

Financial asseis a1 amontised cost are subsequently measured wiing the effective interest rale (EIR) method and are subject 1o
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised im profit or koss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired. This
caregory is relevant o the Company. The Company s financial assets &1 amonised cost includes cash and cash equivalenis
and other receivables.

Flmaachal aeseds af flr valise theough COT (deby nstrmmenis)

For debt instruments at fair value through OCL, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment leses or
Tl:vm.n]s are rnl;ng;nin:d m ll:l: stalement of pl\-nﬁl! or lnss :lmd I,'.l.'ll'lTrIl.Il‘Il:i.‘I 15} ] Ihc SRS MANNET 7% fiar I'lr:nl'l.l:i.nl neseks Tﬂ:.llil.lrﬂ:!
&l amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised in OCI. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value
change recopnised i OC] is recyeled to profit or loss.

Cumently, the Company does not have any Anancial assets at fair valoe through OCL

Upon mitial recognition, the Com can ct: 03] l:hlss't irn:mahinqu{'li' investments a5 equity instruments designated
at farr value through OCT when they meet the definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are
not held for rading, The classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrumcn basis,

Gaing and losses on these financial adsets are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other operating
income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, except when the Company benefits
from such proccods as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial assct, in which casc, such gains arc recorded in OCIL
Equity instruments designated a1 fair value through OCTare not subject 1o impairrment assessmant,

Cumrently, the Company does not have any financial asscts designated at fair valoe throagh OCIL
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
4.9 Financial instruments {continued)
1} Financial assets {continued)

Subsequent measurement {continued)

Finangial axets at fair value through profis er less
Financial sssets ot fair value through profii or loss are carried in the siaterment of financial position at fair value with net
chnmgﬁ: in frar valua mn&p‘umﬂ in the statement of |'u'n!'|'| or lesx

Majority of the Company’s sales are provisionally priced, meaning that the final szlling price 15 determined normally 20 1o W)
days afier the delivery to the customer, based on the quoted market price stipulated in the contract and as a result are susceptible
o future commodity price movements. At each reporting date, subsequent 1o the imitial sale, the provisionally priced trade
moeivables are marked-to market using the relevant forward market prices for the period stipulated in the contreet. This
exposure 10 the commedity price causes such trade recervables to fml the solely payment of principal and interest (“5PPI™)
test. Ag a resull, these receivables ane measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"”) from the date of recognition of
the comesponding sale, with subsequent marked-to-market adjustments recognized in farr value gains / (losses) on
provisionally priced products and the carrying amount of the outstanding trade receivable, if material, Such fair value gains

(leses) on provisionally priced products are presented within revenue as movement in provisional revemue.

Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of 8 Company of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Company's statement of financial position) when:

" The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

" The Company has transferned its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay s a third party under a “pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a)
the Company has transferred substantially all the nisks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Company has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferned controd of the assel

When the Company has transferred its rights te reccive cash flows from an asset of has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and o what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of oonership. When it has neither
transferred nor retamed substantially all of the nsks and rewards of the asset. nor transfemed control of the asset, the Company
continues to recognise the ransferred asset to the extent of is continuing involvement In that case, the Company also
meeognises an associated lisbility. The transferred asset and the associated Lability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Company has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guamnice over the transferred assel is measured at the bower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Company could be required 1o repay.

Imipairnierit

The Company recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debit imstrurments not held at fair value theough
profit or boss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of ihe original EIR. The expected cash
flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credin enhancements that are integral 1o the contractual
lerms,

ECLs are recognised in two stages, For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12-
months (a 12-month ECL), For those credit exposures for which thene has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a boss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irmespective of the
timing of the default (a lifetime ECL). For trade receivables (not subject to provisional pricing) and other receivables due in
less than 12 months, the Company applies the simplificd approach in calculating ECLs, as permitied by IFRS 9. Therefore,
the Company does not track changes in credit risk, but instead, recognises a loss allowance based on the financial asset’s
lifetime ECL at cach reporting date. The Company has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. For any other financial
assets carried at amortsed cost (which are due in more than |12 months), the ECL is based on the 1.2-montk ECL, The 12-
month ECL is the proportion of lifetime ECLs that results from default events on a financial instrument that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.9 Financial instruments {continued)
1] Financial assets (continued)

Impairment feontinged)

However, when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origmation, the allowance will be based on the lifetime
ECL. When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significanily since initial recognition and
when estimating ECLs, the Company considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without
undue cost of ¢ffort, This inclades both quantitstive and qualifative information and asalysiz, based on the Company s
historical experience and informed credil assessment including forward-looking information,

The Company considers a financial asset in defanlt when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
casex, the Company may also consider a financial asset to be in defaull when imernal or external information indicates that
the Company is unlikely to receive the cwstanding conracual amounts in full before 1aking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Company, A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash Mows and usually ocours when past due for more than one year and not subject 0 enforcement activity,

Al cach reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried al amonised costare credil impaired, A financial
aswel 15 credit-impaired when one or more events tiat have a detrimental impact on the castimated Tuture cash Bows of the
fimancil asscl have oocured.

i) Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measarement

Financial liabalitics arc classified, at mitial recognition, as financial Labalitics at fair valec through profit or loss, berrowings
or payables, as appropnate, All financial liabilitics are recogmised mitially at fuir value and, in the cose of bomowings and
payables, net of directly attributable trunsaction costs, The Company®s financial linbilitics include trade payables, leasc
liabilities, other liabilities and long-term payobles,

Subseguent measurement
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial liabilities are classified in two categones:

" Frnancmal labiliies ot foir value I!m:ma,h |:|n:|-f"|1. or l;;lﬂ'..,, arsd
. Financml linbslites af amoriiced cost l:h:a:rg term Pn!,rnhl-:: ard leage l'ul‘bi.ﬁl!i.-:;].

Fimancial Habilitier df-fﬂ-r varlua f.!llm.ugﬁ' F‘a_-ﬁl' ar foxs

Flr:lm:inl Ii.nhlli.lll.-s il fmar 1.1.1|.|.|: I!m:maﬁh 'F|I'I:I-'FII ar ]m: mn;'hu;l: Emru;'ilJ ||n1;|i|:ilu:1 hl:l-:l 'Fu-r lndi.r:g nru:l Eru:ru;:l.n] ]inb'i ]lli:;
thm.g:ul!-wl Upn mnital rl:i;na;lﬁlim ne al far wvitlue !hrmtgh '|1lr|!|'||! ar lmes Flunr.i:| Ii.IhII:illﬂ nre ;La::i.ﬁm;l ns th far |'I'H‘HI'LE
ifl!h{::,r nre 'irl.r.l:lrmd Frr lhn: by ey nrrgpl:lrd'msmg 1 'I]'H: near term

Gainis o1 losses on hiabilites held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Financial lisbilities designated
upon initial recopgnition st fair valoe through profit or loss are designated a2 the initial date of recogmition, and only if the
criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. The Comparny has not designated any financial liability as &t fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (Tease Habilities and long-term pavables),

This category 15 relevant (o the Company. After initial recognition, leass liabilities and long-lerm pavables are subsequently
measured at amortised cost usng the Effective Interest Rate (EIR) method. Gains and losses as a result of unwinding of
inferest cost through EIR amortzation process and on de-recogmition of financial liabilines are recognized in the stsfement of
profit or loss,

Amartised cost 15 calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an
integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation 15 mcluded as finance costs in the statement of profit or loss. This category
generally applies to lease liabilittes and long-term payables {refer to note 9 and note 15).
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i SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {(continued)
4.9 Fimancial instruments {(contimaed )
] Financial liabilities

Devecognition

A financial Labality 15 devecognised when the obligation under the hability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an
existing fimancial habality 15 replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing labality are substantially modified, such an exchange or medification is treated as the derecognition of the oniginal
ligbility and the recognition of & new liability. The difference in the respective camying amounis is recognised in the stabement
of profit or less,

(1] Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial azs=ts and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is @ cumently enforceable legal rght to offsel the recognized amounis and there is an intention o settle on a net basis, to realise
the sssets and setile the liabilities simultaneously.

4.10 Impalrmcnt of non-Mnancial asseis

The Company assesses, af each reporting date, whether there 15 an indication that an asset may be impazred, If any mdication
cxists, ofF when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Company estimates the asset"s recoverahle amount. An
assel’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGU’s fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
mecoverable amount 15 determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that ane larpely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. When the carrying amount of an asset or CGLU exceeds its
mecoverable amount, the asset is considersd impaired and is written down (o its recoverable amount,

In assessimg value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value wsing a pre-tax diseount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset, In determining fair
value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account, If no such transections can be identified, an
eppropriate valuation model is wsed.

The Company bases i1s impairment calculation on most recent budgers and forecast calculations, which are prepared separaicly
for cach of the Company's CGUs to which the individual sssets are allocated. These budgets and forecast caloulations
E:m:r.u.ll].' civwer np;ri.-ud q-r rn-'-: years, A Il;mE-t-:rm H:rlpwth mte 'i; ¢I:I|.Cl,llll¢d n.l:u;l lppli.-cd mpmll-cﬂ ﬁ.llun: 1;.].5.11 ﬂnw&; ;ﬂl:r I!!u,-.
fifth vear.

Impaimment losses of continuing operations are recognised inthe statement of profit or loss in expense catepories consistent
with the function of the impaired asset.

For pssets excluding poodwill, an assessment is made at each reportng date to determine whether there s an indication that
previoasly recognised impairment losses no longer exist or have decreased. IF such indication exists, the Company estimates
the asset’s or CGL's recoverable amwount. A previously recognised impairment boss is reversed only if there has been a change
in the assumnptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount sinee the last impairment loss waos recognised. The
reviersal is limited so that the carryving amount of the asset does not exceed s recoverable amount. nor exceed the carrying
armoannl that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairmen logs been recognised for the aeet in prios
years, Such reversal is recognised in the statement of profit or loss unless the agset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case, the reversal is treated as a revaluation merease,

Intangible assets, excluding goodwill, with indefinite useful lives are tested for 52% 63% annually as at 21 December at the
CGLU level, as appropriate, and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

Crposdwill is fested for impairmeend annually a1 year end and wlhen circumstances mvdicale that the carrying valus may be
irmpaired.

Impairment is determined for goodwall by assessing the recoverable amount of each CGU {or group of OGUs) to which the
poodwill relates. When the recoverable amount of the CGLU 15 less than its carmving amount, an impasrment loss 15 recognised.
Impairment losses relating 1o goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continwed)
4.11 Loan and borrowling

Loan and borrowing are recognized at proceed received, netof ransaction cost incurred, if any. After initial recognition, loans
ind borrowings are subsequently measured al amortized cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognized in
statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the EIR amortization process, Amornized
cost 15 calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the EIE. The EIR amortization is included as finance costs in the statement of profit or boss.

Additonally, borrowing costs that are direcily attributable 1w the acquisiton, construction of production of qualifying assets
capitalized as part of the cost of those assets. Other bormowing cost are churged (o the stwiement of profit or loss.

4.12 Employee benefits

Khart-term employes benefiis
Shori-term emplovee benefits are expensed as the related services are provided. A liability 15 recognized for the amount

expected 1o be paid if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation 1o pay this amount as a result of past service
provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

FShare-based compensation

The cost of an cquity-settied award granted to employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instrument
on the date the award is gramted. This cost is recognized as an employee benefit expense in the siatement of profit or loss
with a comesponding increase in equity. The cost of equity-settled award i= recogmized aver the vesting period, which is the
period over which the emplovees render the required service for the award and any non-market performance condition
attached 1o the award is required o be met,

Post-empioyment benefit

The Company s obligation under employee end of service benefit is accounted for as an unfunded defined benefit plan and is
calculsted by estimating the amount of future benefit thet employess have camed = the current and prior pericds and
d':ia'.n:qmn.ﬁnﬂ_ that amount, The calculation of defined benefit -;ll}Hﬂ,nh'm; 1% p:rFmr.u:d. nrmu.u.'ll:,.- h!,-' & qlunllﬁﬂl mctuary u.s'm.g the
Tﬂ'ﬂll,ﬂl.'.lﬂ‘! ik cml;h'r ml:!hnrl B e-measurement nrllm meef rl-:l':n:tl hﬁﬂ-l;‘."l:.ﬂ li.a1'|||:'!:|r. 1.\.‘|1.'id1. mmpr:'n: nchulri:ﬂ snri:nu nmad Inum:u
are recognised immediately i OCL. The Company determines the net interest expense on the net defined benefin liability for
the penod by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginming of the annual penod
o the then-net defined benefit hability, taking mte account any changes in the net defined benefit hability during the penod
&8 & result of benefit payments. Met interest expense and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognised in
employes costs in the stalement of profit or loss (Refer to note 1 7).

Provisions

fa) Gemeral

Frovisions are recognsed when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, i 15
probable that an outflow of resources embodving economic benefits wall be required to seftle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. When the Company expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed,
the reimbursement 15 recognissd as a separate assel, but only when the retmbursement 1s viriually certmin. The expense relating
o a provision is presented in the statement of profit or loss net of any reimbursement.

If the effect of the time value of money & matenal, provisions are discounied usmg a current pre-tax rate that reflects, when
appropriate, the nisks specific to the lability. When discounting 15 wsed, the merease in the provisson due 1o the passage of
time 1= recognised as a finance cost.

()  Rehabilitation provision

Mine rehebilifation costs will be incurred by the Company either while operating, or ot the end of the operating life of; the
Company's facilities and mine properties. The Company assesses its mine rehabalitation provision af each reporting date. The
Company recognises 2 rehabilitation proviston where it has a legal and constractive obligation as a result of past events, and
it i probeble that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of
obligation can be made. The nature of these restoration activities includes: dismaniling and removing structures; rehabilitating
mines and failings dams; dismantling eperating facilines; closing plant and waste sites; and restoring, reclaiming and
mevepetahing aftected areas,

AL MASANE AL KOBRA MINING COMPANY (A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
At 31 December 2022
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals unless otherwise stated)

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
4.13 Provisbons (continued)

(e} Rehabilitation provision (continued)

The obligatien generally arises when the asset 15 installed or the ground/environment is disturbed at the mining operation s
location. When the habality 15 initally recognised, the present value of the estimated costs 1 capitalised by increasing the
carrying amount of the related mining assets to the extent that it was incurred as a result of the development'construction of
the mine. Any rehabilitation obligatiens that anse through the production of mventory are recognised as part of the related
inventory item. Additional disturbances that anse due to further development/construction at the mane are recognised as
sdditions or charges to the corresponding assets and rehabilitation Labality when they occur. Costs related to the restoration
of site damage (subsequent 1o the stant of commercial production) that 15 created on an ongoing basis during production are
provided for at their net present values and recopnised in profit or loss as extraction progresses.

Changes in the estimated timing of rehabilitation or changes to the estimated future costs are dealt with prospectively by
recopnising an adjustment to the rehablnation hability and a corresponding adjustment to the asset (o whoch it relates, if the
ikl eshimate was onginally recogmsed as par of an asset measured in accordance with LAS 16,

Amy reduction in the rehabdlitation liability and, therefore, any deduction from the asset to which it relates, may not excead
the carrying amount of that asset. If it does, any excess over the cammying value 15 taken immediately to the statement of profit
o loss and other comprehensive incom.

If the change in estimate results in an increase in the rehabilitation lisbility and, therefore, an addition to the camying value of
the asset, the Company considers whether this is an indication of impairment of the asset as a whole, and if so. tests for
impairment. If, for mature mines, the estimate for the revised mine asseis net of rehabilitation provisions exceeds the
mecoverable value, that portion of the increass is charged directly 10 expense.

Owver time, the discounted ligkility is increased for the change in present value based on the discount rases that reflect current
market assessments and the risks specific wo the liakility. The periodic unwirding of the discount is recognised in the statement
of profit or loss amd ciher comprehensive incoms &s pant of fnavce costs. For closed sites, changes 1o estimated costs are
recegnised immediately in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The Company recogniscs neither the deferred tax asset in respoct of the temporary difference on the decommissioning linbility
nor the cormesponding deferred 1ax liability i respect of the temporary difference on a decommissioning assel.

4,14 Severance fecs

The Company 15 subject 1o severance fees in accordance with the Saudi Mming Investment Code based on the Royal Decree
Mo, 1400 dated 19 Shawaal 1441H (corresponding to 11 Juse 2020). The Company is required to pay to the Govemment
of Spasdi Arahin SEVETANCE 'Fﬂ!i, r-c-prﬂc-:nlms r.ql.l:ivﬂenrnf :'.I'.Iﬂ nfh]."lm!hrhr.al innmnc n :dﬂi!m fon -.Tugci.ﬁ.:d pcri:m'l:g{,'.-
of the net valuwe of the minerals upon extraction effective from 1 Janoary 2020, Tt superseded the Royal Decree Mo, 47/
dated 20 Sha'aban 1425H (cormesponding to 4 October 2004), which required the Company to pay to the Government of Saadi
Arabhia severance fee representing 25% of the anneal net income per mining license or the eguivalent of 20% of hypothetical
income, whichever was lower,

The zakat due shall be deducted from this amount. Therefore, the net income for cach miring license registered in the name
of the Company 15 subject to severance fees. Severance fees s shown as part of cost of revenue in the statement of profit or
loss,

Since the Company is a mix companies with foreign shareholders, only the Saudi shareholders are lisble for paying severance
fees on their share of the net profit atiributable (e the particular minmg license. The Saudi sharehokler can deduct the sk at
du bry them from their severance fee labality, The foreign sharcholders are exempl from paying severance fecs on their share
of met profit attributable o the particular mining license, however, they pay incoms ax at a rate of 20%:.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
415 Zakat and tax

Zakat
The Company is subject to zakat in accordance with the regulations of the Zakat, Tax and Customs Authority (“ZATCA").
Provision for zakat for the Company 5 charged to the statement of profit or loss.

Current income fay

Cumrent income tax assets and liabilities are measured a1 the amount expected to be recovered from or paid for the current
year 0 the tacation suthorities. The tax rates and tax laws used o compule the amount are those that are enacted, or
substantively crscted at the reporting date in the Kingdem of Samdi Arabia, Current ireome tax relating o Hems recognised
direcitly in equaity is recognised in equity and not in the stntement of profdit or loss.

Deferred income fax
Meferred iy 1z |1-l\r|l."L-r!|:|;| using the Il.nh-:ilil:.r mathaoel on tampaTary differences hatween the tnx haces of neeete anad liahilitiaeg

and their carrying amounis for financial reporting purposes at the reportng date,

Deferred fax lisbilities are recognized for all taxable emporary differences. except:

»  When the deferred tax liability arises from the mitial recognition of goodwall or an asset or liability in a transaction that
is 1m0t & business combination and, at the time of the ransaction, affects neither the accounting prof nor taxable profit
or loss

= [nrespect ol axable temporary differences associated with invesunents in subsidiarses, associles and mierests in jeint
amngements, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foresecable future

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carmy forward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recopgnised to the extent that 1t 15 probable that taxable profit will be available agamst
which the deductible temporary differences, the brought forward unused wax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised,

excepl:

#  When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference anises from the initial recognition of an
assct or labiity in a wansaction that 15 mot a busmess combisation and, al the e of the transscton, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss

#  In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with mvestments in subskdianies, associates and ipterssts
joint arrangements, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent thst it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences: can
be utilised

The carmying amount of deferred tax assets s reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it 15 no longer
probuble that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilsed. Unrecognised
defared fax assets are me-assessed ot each reporting date snd are recognised 1o the extent that it has become probable that
future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

I'.I:'ﬁ:rud nx nes=is and |'il.|;:i.|||:i.:; e u'u:um'qd al |]'H:'1II ni:s.ﬂmt are l::l:pn:l!-cd o n.ppl:.' n I!h: year whr.n 1|1.: nesel r:nl'inﬁl
or thie liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enscted or substantively enacted at the reporting
date. Deferred tax relating to ttems recognised oulside profit or loss is recognised ocutside profit or loss. Deferred tax items
are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction exther in OCT or directly n equity.

Tax benefits acquirad as part of a business combination, but not satisfving the criteria for scparate recognition at that date, are
mecopnised subsequently if new information abouwt facts and circumstances change. The adjustment 15 either treated as a
reduction in goodwill (as long a5 it does not exceed goodwill) if it was incurred during the measurement period or recognisad
in profit or loss

The Company offsets deferred wax assets and deferred ta labilities if and onby if it haz a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax habalities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax habilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which mtend either to settle current
tax labilines and assets on a net basis, or (o realise the assets and setile the habilites simulaneously, in esch future peniod in
which significant amounts of deferred tax Babalities or assets are expected 10 be satthed or recovered.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
4.15 Lakat and tax (continued)

Withhalding tax

The Compamy withhold taxes on transactions with non-resident parties and on dividends paid to foreign sharcholders in
secordance with ZATCA regulations, which is not recognized as an expense being the obligation of the counter party on
whiose behalf the amounts are withheld.

Fialue Added Tax (“FAT")

Axeets nnd EXPENSES AT rﬂ:ng;ni.ncd net of amount of VAT, except when VAT menmad on o |1-||.1'|:I1nu: of nzsrles or services 18
nivt recowverable from the ZATCA, in which case, WAT is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of
the expense item, as applicable. The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or pavable to, ZATCA 15 included as part of other
reccivaliles or other pavables,

4.16  Earnings per share

Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing the profit
atiributable 1o ordinary equity holders of the Company (after adjusting for interest on the convertible preference shares) by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding durng the year plus the weighted average rumber of ordinary
shares that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

417 Revenoe

Eevenuoe is recognised when control passes o the customer, which occums st a podnt in time when the metal in concentrate is
physically transferred onto a vessel or other delivery mechanism. The revenue & measured at the amount to which the
Company expects 1o be entitled, being the estimate of the price expected to be received, e, the previous 10 working days
Lordon Meal Exchange (LME), and a coresponding wrade receivable is recogmised, For these provisional pricing
arrangements, any futwre changes that ocour over the QF are embedded within the provisionally priced trade receivables and
are, therefore, withan the scope of IFRS 2 and not within the scope of IFRS 15, Given the exposurc 1o the commodity price,
these provizionally priced trode receivables will fail the cosh flow characienstics test within IFRS @ and will be required to be
measured ot for valwe Ihl‘l:ll.l.all 'p-rl;l'l':l! or loss from mital mwﬂnilipn until the date of settlement, These mbppquml chnnﬁvﬂ I
fair valuwe are recopnised on the face of statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in each period as pan of
revenue, Such amounts sre then presented separately in the notes from revenue from contracts with customers ax part of
‘Movement in provigional revenue’. Chenges in fair vaboe over, and unti] the end of, the QP, are estimated by peference to
upsdated forward market prices for copper and zinc as well as takmg into account relevant other fair value cons:derations as
set out in IFRS 13, including interest rate and credit risk adjustmentz, The revenuee is established at the time of discharge at
the port of destination by reference to open market average metal prices rulimg during the contractual quotation penod (QF)
and independent assays agreed between buyer and seller.

4.18 Expenses

Direct costs
Production costs and direct expenses are classified as direct costs, This includes raw material, direct labor and other
attributable overhead costs,

Selling and distribution expenses
These inclede any costs incurred 1o carry out or facilitate selling activities of the Company. These costs typically include
salaries of the sales staff, marketing, distribution and logistics expenses.

Creneral and adminisiralive expentes

These penain to operation expenses which ase not directly related to the cost of revenue and selling and distribution expenses.
These also include allocations of general overheads which are not specifically attribuled to direct costs or sclling and
disrribaticn expenses. Allocation of overheads between direct costs, selling and distribution expenses, and general and
administrative expenses, where required, is made on a consistent basis,
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5 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING FOLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

Mew and amended standards and interpretations

The Company applied for the first-time certain standards and amendments, which are effective for annual periods beginning
on ot after 1 January 2022, The Company has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or amendment thar has been
issued but is not yer effective.

51 Onerows Contracts — Costs of Fulfllling a Contract — Amendmenis to LAS 37

An onerous contract is a contract under which the unavoidable costs (i.e, the costs that the Company cannot avoid because it
has the contract) of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefils expected 1o be received under it.

The amendments specify that when assessing whether a contract is onerous or loss-making, an entity needs (o nclude costs
that relate directly to a contract to provide goods or services include both incremental costs (e.g., the costs of direct labour
and materials) and an allscation of cosis direcily relsted to contract activities (g.g., depreciation of equiprment wsed to fulfil
the coniract 25 well as costs of contract management and supervision), General and admingstrative costs do net relate directly
o a contract and are excloded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the contract, These amendments
had no imgact on the inancial statements of the Company.

51 Reference to the Concepiual Framewosrk — Amendments to IFRS 3

The amecmhments replace a reference o a previous version of the [ASE"s Conceplual Framework with a reference o the
curtent version Ssued in March 2018 without sigrificantly changing its requiremvents. The amendmenis add an exceplion to
the r-cmﬁ;uh‘inn Fnim;ip]r,: of [FRS 1 Busmess Combinations 1o avad the issue qunbcnﬁ.uj ‘d.n:,r p A or losses nri.;inﬁ for
Lobilities and contingent liakilities that would be within the scope of IAS 37 Provizions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Azgets or IFRIC 21 Lewies, if incurred ﬂq;:ml!r.l:.'. The exceplion requires enfthies ko .I'Ppl}- the ertera in LAS 37 or [FRIC ]1.,
reapectively, instead of the Conceptual Framework, to determine whether & present obligation exists at the acquisition date.
The amendments also add a new paragraph 1o IFRS 3 1o clarify that contingent assets do not qualify for recognition at the
aequisition date,

These amendrments had po impact on the financial statements of the Company as there were no contingent &ssets, liakilities
and contingent Labilities within the scope of these amendments arisen during the year.

53  Proeperty, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use - Amendments to LAS 16

The amendment prohibits entities from deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment, any proceeds of
the sale of items produced while bringing that asset to the bocation and condition necessary for it to be capeble of operating in
the manner intended by management Instead, an entity recognises the proceads from selling such items, and the costs of
producing those ilems, in profit or bbss, These amendments bad no impact on the financial statements of the Company as there
wire ne sales of such items produced by property, plant and eguipmsnt.

54 IFRS 1 First-tlme Adeption of International Financial Reporting Standards - Subsidiary as a frst-thme
adepter

The amendment permiis o subsidiary that clests to apply paragraph D1éa) of IFRS 1 to measure curmulative translation
differences wsing the amounts reporied in the parent’s consolidated financial statements, based on the parent's date of
transition to [FRS, if no adjustmenis were made for consolidation procedures and for the effects of the business combination
n 'I.l']'li.l;l‘] I|'|¢ Tharmr :lr.:pli.md I!hl,-. ml‘l'h:irl:inr}' Thiz :luwndrm:-:nl 15 alsn ﬂ[!'Fliﬂ'! b an lum;:inll,-. nrjnmr veniore thint nlml;'h: o Fli"'l]:,l'
paragraph D 60a) of TFRS 1. These amendments had no impact on the financial staterments of the Company as it is not a first-
time adopler.

55 IFR5 9 Financial Instruments — Fees in the '10 per cent”® test for derecognition of Mnancial lkabilities

The amendment clanfies the focs that an entity includes when assessing whicther the terms of a new or maxdified financial
liabality are substantially different from the terms of the ongimal financial lability. These fees mclude only those paid or
recerved between the bormower and the lender, ncluding fiees pard or receved by eithier the borrower or lender on thie other’s
behalf. There 15 no similar amendment proposed for IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. These
amendments had no impact on the financial statements of the Company as there were no modifications of the Company s
financial mstruments during the year.
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5 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING FOLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (continued)
56 TAS 4F Agriciliure — Tavanon in folr value measuremenis

The amerdment removes the requirement in paragraph 22 of [AS 41 that entitics exclude cash flows for taxation when
messunng the fair value of assets within the scope of IAS 41. These amendments had no impact on the financial statements
of the Company as it did not have assets in scope of 1AS 41 as at the reporting dale

[ STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The new and amended standards and interpretations: that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the reporting date of the
Company's financial staternents are disclosed below. The Company intends to adopt these new and amended standards and
interpretations, if applicable, when they bocome effective.

.1 IFRS 17 fneurance Contraces

In May 2017, the IASE issued IFRS 17 fasirance Comtracts (IFRS 17), a comprehensive new accounting standard for
iNSUFARCE CORMTACLS COVENng recognition and measurement, presentation and disclosare. Once effective, IFRS 17 will replace
IFES 4 fnswrance Cortrocts (IFRS 4) that was issued in 2003, IFRS 17 applies w all types of insurance contracis (i.e., life,
non-life, direct msurance and re-insurance), regardless of the type of entities that issue them, as well as to ceftain guaranises
end financial instruments with discretionary participation features, A few scope exceptions will apply, The overall objective
of IFES 17 is to provide an accounting moded for insurance contracts that is more vseful and consistent for insurers, In contrast
o the requirernents in IFES &, which are largely based on grandiathering previous local accounting policies, IFRS 17 provides
& comprehensive model for msurance contracts, covering all relevant accounting aspects. The core of IFRS 17 is the gencral
maxdel, supplemented by

A specific adapration for contracts with direct participation feanures (the variable fee approach)
A simplificd approach (ithe premium allocation approech) mainly for short-duration conmracs

IFRS 17 is effcctive for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with comparative figures reguired. Early
application is permitted, provided s cotity also applics IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 on or before the date it first applics IFR3 17,
This standand 15 notl applicable o the Company.

.2 Amendments to IAS 1: Classiffcation of Liakilities as Current or Non-current

In January 2020, the IASE ssued amendments 1o paragraphs 69 to 76 of TAS | 1o specify the requirements for
classifying liabilitics as current or non-current, The amendments clanfy:

What 15 meant by o night to defer settlement;

That a night 1o defer must exist o1 the end of the reporting perted;

That classification 15 unaffected by the hikelihood that an entity will exercise its deferrul nght; and

That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible labality is itself an equity instrument would the terms of a liability
not impact its classification

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and must be apphed
mhﬂﬁ[ﬂll‘k‘#’}'. The amendments did not have o material impact on the {'.'qmpln:,r as af the date of these financial statements,

6.3 Amendments to LTAS §B: Definition of .lmmlins Estimates

In l'l,-.hnmr:,.' o)l \ the TASH 1zzumd amendmenis ta TAS 5 in which o mimeduoces o defintton n'F':mcmml!l'l.E estimates’, The
RITI:HI.‘L'HI,'.H1!. 1;|=.11I:1.' I!L:'.- di.:l:im;'.l:'rm hc-'rwgm c_:hnng,m mn nupl;mlmmg_ -r,-_:li.rrum-: amel r]ung_ﬁ m ll.'.I:I'ILIHIi.r.IE T:nHl;h:: amd 1]w.-
comechon nfcm:n .Ii.l:n_ r]-n.:;,.- i.'_:Lnn"F:,.' hicvar r.nl:'ﬁt:: s mermsurement 1l_'.i:|1.1'lli.'|ll.¢': anad |r'.|E1|:|I!; 18] dcw:]n]'l ll;l:m:ml'i:rg_ esfrmates
The amendments are effective for annual reporting peniods heginnimg on or after 1 January 2023 and apply 1o changes in
secounting policies and changes in accountmg estimates that eccur an or after the start of that peniod, Earlier apphication 15
permitted as long as this fact is disclosed. The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Company's
financial statements.
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& STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (continued)
64  Amendments to IAS 1 and TFRS Practice Statement 2: Diiclasure of Accounting Policies

In February 2021, the LASE issued amendments to LAS | and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements, in
which it provides guidance and examples to help entities apply materiality judgements (o accounting policy disclosures. The
amendments aim o help entities provide acooumting policy disclosures that are more useful by replacing the requirement for
entitics to disclose their “significant’ accounting policies with a requirement to disclose their ‘material” accounting policies
end adding guidance on how entities apply the concept of materiality in making decisions about accounting policy disclosures,
The amendments to IAS | are applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 Janwary 2023 with carlier application
permitied. Since the amendments to the Practice Sutement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on the application of the
definition of material to accounting policy information, &n effective date for these amendments is not necessary,

The Company is currently assessing the impact of the amendments to determine the impact they will have on the Company’s
sccounting palicy disclosures.,

6.5  Amendments to IAS 11: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

In May 2021, the Board issued amendments to LAS 12, which narrow the scope of the initial recognition exceplion under IAS
12, so that it no longer applies to transaciions that give rise o equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

The amendments should be applied to transactions that occur on of after the beginning of the earliest comparative peniod
presenied. In addition, a1 the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented, a deferred tax asset (provided that
sufficient taxable profit is available) and a deferred t1ax lability should also be recognised for all deductible and taxable
temporary differences associated with leases and decommissioning obligations,

The Company i5 currently assessing the impact of the amendments 1o determine the impact they will have on the Company s
sccounting policy disclosures,
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7 MINE PROPERTIES

Mine under
construction
Cost:
Asat 1 January 2021 157 888 815
Additions during the vear 21,121,963
Transfers during the year (note 8) (169 486,017)
As at 31 December 2021 9.524 761
Additions during the vear 76474912
Adjustment during the vear (note 16) -
As at 31 December 2022 85,999,673
Accumulated depletion and amortization:
Asat 1 January 2021 -
Charge for the vear -
Asat 31 December 2021 -
Charge for the year -
As at 31 December 2022
Net book amounts:
As at 31 December 2022 85,999,673
Asat 31 December 2021 09,524,761

Producing mines
Underground Deferred
mine development mine
Intangible assets Mining asseils asset closure cost
258,973,236 129,894 826 276,195,821 25,647,693

- 17,675,361 12,623,609 3492524

- 44,095,174 - -
258,973,236 191,665,361 288,819,430 29,140,217

- 33,791,891 11,028,068 -

- - - (5,506,382)
258,973,236 225,457,252 299 847 498 23,633,835
175,748,853 81,571,449 197,304,042 8,150,879

9,247,154 17,243,990 9,485,000 2444217
184,996,007 98,815,439 206,789,042 10,595,096
9,247,153 30,038,734 10,966,923 1,582,440
194,243 160 128,854,173 217,755,965 12,177,536
64,730,076 96,603,079 82,091,533 11,456,299
73,977,229 92,849,922 82,030,388 18,545,121

Total

848,600,391
54,913,457

(125,390,843)

778,123,005
121,294,871
(5,506,382)

893,911,494

462,775,223
38,420,361

501,195,584
51,835,250

553,030,834

340,880,660

276,927,421
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T

MINE PROPERTIES (continued)

7.1 The mine under construction represents Moyeath project.

7.2

7.3

7.4

1.5

Mount Guyan mine has started its commercial production from 1 February 2021 onwards for the extraction of the gold dores and consequently during the year ended 31 December
2022, the related assets of mine under construction have been transferred to the producing mines (as mentioned above) and property, plant and equipment (refer note 8) and accordingly
depreciation and amortisation on these assets has commenced. The useful life of the Mount Guyan project is expected up to 2030. The balance of mine under construction as at 31
December 2022 relates to Moyeath project.

The depletion and amortization charge for the year has been allocated to direct costs.

The amount of borrowing costs capitalised during the year ended 31 December 2022 was nil (2021: SR, 566,996). The weighted average rate used to determine the amount of
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation was nil (2021:4.7%), which is the effective interest rate of the specific borrowing.

Intangible assets represents exploration and evaluation assets (including mining rights originally granted by the Royal Decree Number M/17 effective 1 Dhu Al-Hijjah 1413H
{corresponding to 22 May 1993) for a period of thirty vears, with a right of renewal tor tfuture period of twenty years to Arabian Shield Development Company (“AADC™) for the
exploitation in Al Masane mine located in Najran, Saudi Arabia, with an area of 44 square kilometers for surface rental of SR 10,000 per square kilometer per year, i.e. SR 440,000 per
year.). These exploration and evaluation assets (including mining rights) were purchased by the Company from AADC in August 2009 for a cash consideration of SR 236.25 million.
The title of aforementioned rights was transferred to the Company as per the ministry of Petroleum and mineral resources resolution dated 13 Ramadhan 142%H (corresponding to 13
September 2008) and the ministry subsequent letter dated 2 Muharram 1430H (corresponding to 30 December 2008). The Company also incurred further costs of SR 22.7 million
subsequent to acquisition of these exploration and evaluation assets. These exploration and evaluation assets were transferred to intangible assets under mine properties after the
production started in 2012 and amortized over the useful life of mine. Useful life of mine is determined based on the lower of the term of mining rights or the estimated time to explore
and process the estimated ore reserves.
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8 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost:

As at 1 January 2021

Additions during the year

Transfers from mine under construction (note 7)

As at 31 December 202 1

Additions during the year
Transfers

As at 31 December 2022

Accumulated depreciation:
As at 1 January 2021
Charge for the year

Asg at 31 December 2021
Charge for the vear

As at 31 December 2022
MNet hook amounts:
As at 31 December 2022

As at 31 December 2021

Capital

Leasehold Civil Plant and Heavy Tailing Motor work in
Buildings  improvement waorks machinery equipment dam vehicles progress Total
191,974,662 4,051,062 16288221 294463540 141,230,040 23,900,160 22,753,563 5045626 699,706,874
302,296 442,075 - 1,671,677 17,743,165 - - 496,132 20,655,345
420,000 1,050,301 4,349,328 116,626,190 1,288,686 1,656,338 - - 125,390,843
192,696,955 3,543,438 20,637,549 412,761,407 160,261,891 25,556,498 22,753,563 5,541,758  B45,753,062
127,849 371,778 134,892 - 15,256,200 - 239,350 8,591,263 14,722,332

260,751 1,925,000 - - 10,176 - - (2,895,927) -

193,085,558 7,840,216 20,772,441 412,761,407 176,218,267 15,556,498 22,992,913 11,238,084 R70.475,3%4
92,613,197 2,084,178 9996316 132,697,835 00,053,608 15,804,373 22,480,739 - 365,730,246
11,122,896 466,111 1,268,500 30,731,103 8,436,504 1,021,629 R4.815 - 53,131,558
103,736,093 2,550,289 11,264,816 163,428,938 YR 490,112 16,826,002 22,565,554 - 418,861,804
11,111,224 736,057 1,232 485 28,344,170 12,927,295 1,194,055 117,550 - 33,662,836
114,847,317 3,286,346 12497301 191,775,108 111417407 18,020,057 22,683,104 - 474,524,641
78,238,241 4,553,870 8,275,140 220,988,299 64,810,860 7,536,441 309,809 11,238,094 395,950,754
RR,960,865 2,993,149 9.372,733 249,332,469 61,771,779 8,730,496 | 88,009 5,541,758 426,891,258
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] FROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIFMENT (continued)

AL MASANE AL KOBRA MINING COMPANY (A SAUDIJOINT STOCK COMPANY)

MNOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
At 31 December 2022
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals unless otherwise stated)

1 INVENTORIES

8.1  Property, plant and equipment are subject to a pledge as collateral against a long-term loan (note 15). 2oz 201
8.2 Capital work in progress represents construction works and heavy equipment for plant which 15 expected 10 be g:‘::;::;ﬁz I::::_:‘:;; Ig‘g?:“:?g
opcrational in 2023, Consurnahles 21,008,872 14,782,053
£.3  The depreciation charge for the year has been allocated to direct costs. Tools and spare parts 47,308,392 41,376,004
u g . < e . BE 459,230 7,501,585
. :::: E:Eﬂ?wﬂmcﬂm e i forthe mines which e leased by the Company from the Minisicy of lndusty Less: Allowance for slow moving inventories (see note below) (5.612,314) (3,612,314)
9 LEASES BLETG916 71,349,271
The Company has lease contracts for leasehold buildings and beavy equipment. Leaschold buildings have lease terms for 2o
J:D::-;:;hifjmﬁ:nlfﬁnéﬂn&:;; :I;l.-z.i-;:.l::nn of 3 years. Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets a) Mo ¢ i the sllowance for kv moving inventaries i a1 follows:
Heavy 2022 2021
Buildings eqripment Total
At the beginming of the vear 5,612,314 5612314
A at | Januwary 2021 2ATETI3 6,785,007 o 166,730 Charge for the vear = -
Additions during the vear 362,550 = 362 550
Depreciation expense (1,01%,458) (641, 163) (1,659.621) Al the end of the year 5612314 36123114
As at 31 December 2021 I.,TJ],R'EIE 6 147 B34 T,Eﬁ"},ﬁﬂ
Addinons during the year 1,620,097 - 2 620,097
Deprecistion expense (1,072,055) (267,128) {1,939, 183) 11 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Ag at 31 December 2622 3269847 5. 280,726 B.550,573 2022 2y
: : . = o Trade receivables (subject to provisional pricing) — fair value 156,302,262 181.905,672
et oul below are the carrying amounis of lease lizbilitics and the movements during the year: 2022 oy Add: Provisional pricing adjustment at fair value 5012883 T44.267
. Mt trade accounts receivable 161,315,145 182 645 9359
A ot the beginning of the year 2.520,770 6055310 : "
Additions during the year 2,620,097 362,550 Accrued income on deposits 1,054,103 :
Aecrefion of intemst dhlring the year 20,501 436 105
Payments made during the year (3.313,438) (3,324,485 162,369,248 182,649,939
At the end of the year 3,046,730 352010
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 30 to 60 days. See financial mstruments risk
Current 955,108 2.555.292 munagement (note 300 on credit risk of trade receivables, which explain how the Company manages and measure credit quality
of trude receivables,
Mon-cument 2,001,622 T4 478
12 ADVANCES AND PREPAYMENTS
The following are the amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income: e tiad
2022 3T Advances w suppliers 126,365,214 21,094, 354
Less: Prowision for advances 1o supplicrs (1,754, B85) (1,754,B85)
Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets 19349, 183 1659621
Interest expense on lease liabilities 210,301 436,195 “"‘dl, "’5‘““}1;'1"15“"”::;“ - net 'fﬂ;ﬂf; :g%%:&:g
Emploves recervables 145,47 7,425
2,149,484 2,096,016 Vil added fax 9,520,339 6,254,267
146,613,755 19,505,206

The Company had total cash outflows for leases of SR 3,313,438 (2021: 5K 3324 485). The Company also had non-cash
additions 1o nght-of-use assets and lease habilities of SR 2,620,087 (2021: SE 362,550).
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13 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

22 2021
Cash in hand Th,640 85,582
Bank balances 131,315,268 74,634,056
Short-ierm depesits S50, 0040, B0 -

JR1.391.%08 74,719,638

Short term deposits casries profit margin ranging from 5.8% to 6, 5% with & maturity of less than 3 months at reporting date
14 EQUITY
14.1  Share capital

Share capital of the Company is divided info &6 million shares of SR 10 each as 2t 31 December 2022 (563 million shares of
SH 10 each as at 31 December 2021 ).

()  The sharcholders of the Company, in an extraordinary general meeting held on 23 March 2021 {corresponding o 10
Sha*ban IMIH}, resalved to reduce the share crpi'l.n| of the 'l:_.'n;|r|'|.|;|nn.|'.\|::||I from SR 820 malhon to SH 467 mullion 'Ihm-ugh
absorbing accurnulated loswes of SR 240632501 and reducing treasury stocks by 6,990,526 shares wonh of SR
112,367 4949, The legal formahities in this regard were completed on 10 May 2021 {cormesponding 10 28 Ramadhan
1442H).

b}  Om 3 October 2021 (comesponding to 26 Safar 1443H]), the sharcholders of the Company, in an extraordinary general
migeting, passed a resolution to increase the Company s share capital from SR 467,000,000 to SR 563,288,650 through
the transfer of SR 91 861,201 from the account of retained sarmings and SR 4,427 449 from the account of statutory
respren The ]:Fll fosrrmnlities in thig mE,l:rd wiTe cnrrrpll:l!nrl on 19 Octehar 2021 {cnn‘npﬂndi.ng_ 1o 13 Raha Al-Awwenl
1443H).

e} On 18 November 2021 {corresponding to 13 Rabi Al-Thani 1443H), the sharcholders of the Co ¥, in an
exraordinary general meeting, passed a resolution 1o incresse the Company s share capital from SR 563,255,650 10 SR
G0 000,000 as part of the IPO process. The legal formealities in this regard have been completed on 23 March 2022
(comespanding to 20 Sha'ban 1443H). The total proceeds received from the IPO subscription were SR 608,281 505,
out of which SR 96711350 has heen recorded as an increase in ghare capital and the remaining balance of SR
512,570,155 hos been recorded as share premium before deducting ransaction cost amounting 1o SKE 3,980,404,

14.2  Statutory reserve
In accordance with the by-laws of the Company, the Compeny will transfer 10%% of its net mcome for the year to the statuiory
neserve wkil it oguals o 30% of the share cepital. The rescrve 1s not available Gir distobuton,

14.3 Treasury shares

The Company had 1 458,850 treasury shares at the start of the current vear, These shares ang held by the Company as treasury
shares for the purposes of ssuing them to the Company s employees upon vesting of the shares in emplovee share plans,
including those that the Company may adopt in the future, The number of treasury shares issued 10 employees during the year
were 256,637 (2021: Nil) (Note 14.6).

144 Share premium
During the year, the Board of Directors recommended to the extraordinary general assembly to use the share premium account,
which has a balance of SAR 508,589,751 as at 31 December 2022 as follows:

= Increase the Company's share capital from SR 660,000,000 to SR 900,000,000 by granting one bonus share for every
2.75 shares,
= transfer the remaining balance of 5K 268 589,751 to the statwlory reserve account.

The propesed increase in share capital and the transfer of the remuining balance to the statutory ressrve account 1s subject to
thiz appeoval by the shareholders al the extraordinery general asembly mesting which is expected in 2023,
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14  EQUITY (continued)

14.5 DMvidends
O 18 July 2022, the Board of Directors announced the distribution of SR 129,082 300 as cash dividends (SR 2 per share) for
the first half of the year 2022 which represents 20% of the nominal valuee of the shares.

On 13 Nevember 2022, the Board of Dwectors announced the distoibution of SR 38 214,689 as cash dividends (SE 0.6 per
share) for the third quarter of the year 2022 which represents 6% of the nominal valse of the shares.

14.6 Share-based compensation

Share-based compensation relates to equity-sentled granis of ordinary shares granted as per employment contract and equity-
setiled bonus grants of ordisary shares granted to Company’s eligible employess. Awards are equity setiled and cannot be
setiled in cash. The Company recognized the following share-based compensation expense in the statement of profit or loss,
az an employee benefi expense during the year:

2022

Eguilty settled share-baged compensaton expense;
As per emplovment coniract 1.963.311
Equity settled share-based employment bonus 4,762.310
6,730,631

Awards for both grants were granted for ml consideration. The fair value of grants was determined by reference o the market
value of the Company's ordinary shares on the date of grant for equity-sattled awards. The number of awards setiled in shares
during the year was 196,237 (2021: Nil) in relation W the grants of ordinary shares as per eoployment contract and 50,400
(2021 : Mil) in relation to the bonus granis of ordinary shares 1o Company s eligible employees.

15 LOANS AND BORROWINGS

22 2021

Snuchi Industnial Development Fund (S1DF) (note 8) 207,620,205 208 T, 751
Tawasrog - 13,333 3312
207,620,205 329,131,083
Less; Current portton shown under current liabilities (102,648,000) (108 666,668)
Loans ard bormrwings under non-cument liabilities 104,972,205 220464415

15,1  The lnan is obfained from Saudi Tedustrial Development Fund (ST0F) agreement dated | September 2010 for Al Masane
project. This loan 15 secured by morgage on the Company's property, plant and equipment and by guarantee of cach of
the former sharcholder of the Company prior to the listing. The loan was repayable in thirteen semi-annual instzllments
in six years. However, subsequently in July 2018, the Company and SIDF reached toan agreement 1o amend the onginal
loan agreemnent as per the Company's request to reschedule the payments in eleven semi-annual insaliments.

In Jupe 2020, the Company and SIDF reached an agreement 1o again amend the original loan apresment as por the
Company's request to reschedule the payments in seven semi-annoal installments payable from May 2021 6l Apnl
2024,

The Company obtained ancther loan facility amounting fo SE 94,3 million from Saudi Indusinial Development Fund
(SIDF) agreement dated 28 June 2020 for its new Mount Guyan Project payable in thirteen semi-annual installments
starting from May 2022 1w March 2028, This loan is also secured by mongage on e Company's propenty, plant and
equipment and by guearantee of cach of the former sharcholder of the Company prior to the listing. Howeves, on 4
Oretaber 2022, 8IN0F has released corporate and personal gaarantees of former sharchobdess for both facilities.

152 In December 2019, the L‘wr obained credit faciliticaTinancing loan from one of the local commercial banks
amounting 10 5K 110,518,400 which mcludes payment guarantees, financing the purchases & selling of commodities
(Al Tawarrog), During the year, the Company made an early settlement of the Tawarroq loan,

153  Loans and borrowings bear finance charges ranging from 2.7% to 5.3% per annum (202 1: 2.7% 1o 4, 7% per annum).

154 Al loans amd borrowings of the Company &re shariah compliant.
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15 LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

The undiscounted outstanding loans'facilities maturities are as follows:

Year 2022 2027
2002 - 108,666,668
2023 01148000 114,166,668
2024 GEAM000 66 500,000
2025 15,004,000 15.000,000
Thereafter 38300000  28.300,000

22,772,000 332633336

16 PROVISION FOR MINE CLOSURE COST

2022 2024
At the beginning of the yeas 34,448 813 10002302
(Adjwiments pVadditions for the yvear (5.506,381) 3492 524
Unwinding of discount for the year 1,537,591 RN
At the end of the vear 30,480,022 34,448,813
==
17 EMFLOYEE BENEFITS
General description of the plan

The C ates an unfunded emplovees” end of service bencelitg plan (“EOSB™) for i employees as requined by the
Saudi EI:IE: f.:wbnr Law. The mn'-.lcmcgtt?rl: EOSE for the year ended 'upu E:-"llmvs: ) POy e by

2022 2024
Balagee at the beginning of the year Q300,653 6802 59
o ] (L
Included in statement of other comprehensive income '
Actuarial {(gain)loss (1, 382,493) B0 719
Bencfits paid (1,037,776) (949,944)
Balarce at the end of the year 10,988,909 QA9 663
Actuarial assumptions
The following were the principal actuarial assumptions applicd at the reporting date:
2022 2ax
Mscount rate 4, 2005 3258
Hﬁﬁlgﬂr&mm / Expected rate of salary mcreases ﬂnt-mﬂh-:“ ﬂgg;m

Employee urnover / withdrawal rates Age and service  Age and service

The quantitative sensitivity analyvsis for principal assumptions is s follows:

2022 202

Mecount rake: 3 30,082

=1 %% Increase (6512810 (B3000EL]

- 1% decrease TI0, 775 070,335
Salara' increase rate;

+1% increase 614,644 B65 2038

1% decrease (560,741) (T57.784)

The scnsitivity analyscs above have been determined bascd on a method that extrapolates the impact on the defined bencfit
ahl fan f% sl ol rr.amr:lhh-. l:hlll'lﬂl_'_‘li m I:g:,r HﬂLII‘rl'l'l-l:ii.'m!. [ el | mt 1|1.¢ ¢|1.|.'| nf1|'u: rq'hnl‘l'in rurs] T.|1¢ mn:ll‘iw!}'

wses are based on a change mna %gmﬁtanl_mum o, keepimg all other assumptions constant. The sensitivity analyses
miay nol be representative of an actual change in the defined benefn obligation 23 it is unlikely that changes in assumplions
woruld coour in selation from one another,

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation 15 6.5 years (2021 9.5 years).
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17 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

The following is the breakup of the actuanial (gain) / loss:

2022 2021
Demopgraphic assumplions (RO2,313) IRG.2TT
Expericnce adjustments (630,151) 471,442
l'._.‘h.mﬂr_ in financial mumptim 40071 =
(1.382,493) 860,719
The following payments are expected 1o the defined benzfit plan m future vears:
20322 2021
Within the next 12 months (next anmual repoming period) 1,661 829 Q08 429
Between | and 5 years 4,906,357 2,550,820
Beyond 5 yvears 8,189,196 9, T8I, 665
Total expected pavments 14,757 382 13,241,914

1% TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables are non-intersst bearing and are normally settled on 60-day terms. For terms and conditions with related parties,
refer to nate 28, For explanations on the Company's liquidity risk management processes, refer 1o note 30

19  ACCRUALS AND OTHER NON-FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

2022 2021
Accrued cxpenses 19,531,740 22 836,745
Vacation accruals and others 9 276,351 B.459. 713
Others - 2,628,130

18808071 33,924,638

I FAKAT AND INCOME TAX

Ml FAKAT
Charge for the year
222 22t
Fakan relating 1o current year 16,051,342 12405 653
Lakat relating Lo prioc years [h 66T, 13y [3,500,822)
11381929 8,844 831
'I.'Im ?nh:nh;]urgl,-. % h;m:d n !h: I'nlerme'
2012 202
Equity 1,105,281,5%1 B, 696,405
Opening provisions and other adjustments 50,878,520 31,758,131
Baook value of long-term assets {net of related hinancing) (5E9,712,197)  (521.5%0,385)
266,447,914 314,858,151
FLakmiable mcome for the year 144,047,531 171,584 236
Fakat hase T, 495 445 AR6 447 TRT
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I FAKAT AND INCOME TAX (continued)
101 ZAKAT (confinued)
Movement in zakat provision during the year

The movement in the zakat provision for the year is as follows

Baolonce af tha h.:Ei:in.'in.;B_ of the yenr
Net charge for the vear

Payvments during the year

Balance at the end of the vear

0.2 INCOME TAX

222 201
£ 844 811 2307918
11,381,929 R E44 831
(4.175,418) (2,307 .918)
16,051,342 B.544831

The major components of ibcome tax in the statement of profit or loss can be broken down as fellows for the year ended 31

December

Income tax expense for the year
Deferred tax charge/(credit) duning the year

fl Tare

Drefemed wax n:la' - I;u acinarial .

Reconciliation of tax expense and the sccounting profit for the vear ended:

Profit hefore zakat and income tax

Income tax expense as per fax rate of 20% applicable in KSA

Adjustments for amounts which are not deductible/(tazable) in calculating
taxable income:

Saudi sharcholding not subject to tax — B5.47% (2021: 72.65%)

Crhers

At the effective income tax rate of 3.43% debit (2021 | 47% credit)

Share of Mon-Saudi sharcholding

Income tax relating to current year
Income tax relating (o prior year

The movement m the mcome tax provision dunng the vear s as follows:

At the beginning of the year
Provided dunng the year
Paid during the year

Al the end of the year

2022 2021
1,469,951 13,802,562
1426519  (16,780,623)
4,896,500 (2.977,061)

87,271 {45,980)
022 2021
142,609,575 203,132,539
18,521,915 40,626,508
(24,377,681)  (29,775,168)
752,266  (13,5IRA01)
4,596,500 {2.977.061)
14.53% 27.35%
2022 200
2,651,641 9,090,672
(181,660} 4,711,890
2460981 13,803,562
2022 2021
6,293,684 5,109,868
2,469,981 13,803,562
(10,587,401)  (12,619,746)
(1,823,7386) 6,293,644
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I FAKAT AND INCOME TAX (continued)

0.2 INCOME TAX (continued)
Components of deferned tax are as follows:

Carmryforward tax losses

Difference in accounting and tax base of property, plant and equipment
Prowviaions

Employee benefits

Mel deferred tax assels

The movement of the deferred tax asset for the year ended 31 December is as follows:

As of | January
Deferred 1ax credil during the year recognisad in statement of prolit or loss
Deferred 1ax credit 1o other comprehensive incame

As at 31 December

Stamus of assessments

Fakal and income (ax stalms:

2022 2021
WASEI0 29315715
(863, 863) (1,566,334)
1,235,787 3422256
319,423 502,130
29,159,977 31,673,767
2022 2621
31,673,767 14,847,164
(2,426,519) 16,780,623
i87,271) 45,930
29,159,977 31,673,767

Fakat and incoane tax asseasments have been agrood with the Zakat, Tax and Customs Authonty (“EZATCA™) up o 2002, The
Company submutted the zakal and income tax retum for the year 2021 and oblaimed the zakat certificats which is valid ull 30
Apail 2023, The zakat and tax seturms for e years from 2003 w 2021 are currently umber review by the ZATCA.

21 PROVISION FOR SEVERANCE FEE

Severance fees relating to current year
Severance foes relating to prior year

ALl IE.I'l'I.I.Il'_""
Provision during the year
Paid during the year

An 3] December

Severance fees 15 shown as part of direct costs in the statement of profit or loss.

2022 2021
18,206,630 20,910,194
5,982,320 (1,710,573)
24,188,950 20,200,621
2822 2021
20,200,621 &, 756,154
24,188,950 20,200,621
(38.B45.491) (8. 756,154)
5,544 080 20200621
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12 REVENUE,NET

Revenwe from contracts with customeers:
Copper concentrate

£inc concentrate
Precious metals

Movement in provisional pricing adjustments during the year

13 SELLING AND MISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

Transportation
Advertigng and promotion

4 GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPEMSES

Employee costs

Management remuneration and benefits
Professional fees

Computer and office supplies

Share based compensation expense

15 FINANCE COSTS

Finance cost on leans and bank charges
Finance cost on lease labilities
Unwindimg on ming closure cost

16 EARNINGS PER SHARE

222 2024
187,036,042 239,544 6K 1
188,072 494 205,655,604
114,969,560 155,295,114
500,078,396 £00,795.599

[7.309.693) (14,142 281)
SHI,T6H,T03 SR6,653, 318

222 2024

21,370 8BTS 22257 HieG
3454015 6,383,827
24,824,990 2E,541 496

2022 2027

14,829,214 12,316,809
4,819,650 31200912
10,273,233 4,714,326
1,935,504 2,208,538
6,730,631 .
39,588,512 22441585
222 2024
10,294,605 12,166,588
210,301 436195
1,537,591 043 KT
12,042,497 13,546,970

Basic earninigs per share & calculated by dividing the profit forthe vear attnbutable to ordinary equity holders of the Com pany
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. The calculation of diluted camings per share
is not applicable 1o the Company. Also, no separate caming per share calculation from continuing operations has been
presenied since there were ne discontmued operations duning the year.

The earnings per share calculation is given below:

2022 22!
Met profit for the year 126,331,146 197,264,769
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 62,405,767 54,870,015
Eamnings per share - Basic and diluted .02 3.60

AL MASANE AL KOBRA MINING COMPANY (A SAUDIJOINT STOCK COMPANY)
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r SEGMENT REPORTING

Operating segments are reported s manner consistent with the intemal reporting provided to the chief executive officer. An
operating segment 15 group of sssets and operations:

1) engaged in revenue producing activities;

(1) results of s operations are continuously analveed by managememt m order to make decisions related to resource
allocation and performance assessment; and

(i) financeal mformation 15 separately available

All of the Company’s operations are located in Najran, Saudi Arabia. For management purposes, the Company 15 organized
mto business units based on the main types of activities and has two reportable operating scgments, as follows:

* Al Masane mine segment represents extraction and production of the base metals 1.e. copper and zing concentrates and
byproducts like preciows metals 1.e. gold and silver dores;

* Mount Guyan mine segment represents extraction and production of the prectous metals Le. gold and silver dores; and

* Corporate is responsible for effective management and governance including funding of the projects. The presentation
of Corporate information does not represent an operafing segment.

Mo operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable operating segments. The Chiel Executive Officer
monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpoese of making decsions about resource allocation
and performance assessment and is considered 1o be the Company's chief operating decision maker. Sepment performance is
evaluated based on operating profit or loss and is measured consistently with operating profit or loss in the financial statements.
However, the Company s severance bees, zakat and income taxes are managed on corporate basis and are nol allocated to

operaling segments.
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17 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

Al Masane  Mennt Guyan

Mine Mine Cerperate Tonral
For the year ended 31 Decomber 20223
Revenue
Externmal customers 418,644,633 171,433,763 - E50.0TEI06
Movement m I'IAIl}".-'i.'EII.‘IEIDI pnil;:ins {Iﬂ,ETl,]?ﬁl 3-,561.433- 1'?'.,3“,&9]-]
Revenue, net 407,772 457 174, GG 246 = SE2 THR,TO3
Direct costs (253,628,438)  (96.591,083)  (24,188,949)  (374,408.470)
Grross profit 154, 144,019 T8 405,163 (24,188,949 208,360,233
Selling and distribwtion expenses (24,824 990 - - (24,824, 990)
General and administrative expenses - - (19,588,532)  (39,588,532)
Operating profit 129,319,029 78405163 (53,777481) 143,946,711
Finance costs (6,853,5300  (5.158,957) . (12,042,497)
Other incoms = - 10,705,361 10, Tk5, 361
FProfit before zakat and Income tax 122,435 459 73,246,196 (53,072,1200) 142,609,575
Fakat v Incoame lax - - (16,278 429 (16,278,429
Net profit for the period 122,415,499 73,246,196 (69,350,549) 126,331,146
For the year ended 31 December 2021;
Revenue
External customers 450,911,613 1 BR ORA = A0, TS 500
Movement in provisional pricing (15,062,597 920,316 - (14,142 281)
Revenue, net 475849016 110,804,302 . 586,653,318
Direct costs (236,469,996)  (62.255204)  (20,200621)  (318,955821)
Grross profit 234 340 020 48,549, 098 (20,200,621) 267697497
Selling and distribution expenses {28,641,496) - . (18,641 495)
Geperal and administrative expenses - - (22,441 .585) (22,441,585)
Operating profit 210,707,524 48,549, 098 (42,642,206)  216,614416
Finance costs (9,084, 174) (4,462, TI6) - (13,546, 970)
Other incomee - - 65,093 65,0493
Profit before zakat and income fax 201,623,350 A, (k6,302 (42,577,113) 203,132 530
Zakat and income tax - - (5,867, 770) (5,857, 770)
Net profit for the period 201,623 350 <l (KRG, 302 (48 444 BR3) 197, 264,760
As at 31 December 2022
Segment assels B0, 545, 801 125,448,349 6GILET63%6  1,547.870,546

= = —

Segment liabilities 161,093,973 80,052,985 86,526,399 317,673,357
As at 31 December 2021
Segment asscls T44 893 377 220,916,603 145451 218 1,112,261,198
Segment liabilities 272,124 938 04 954, 728 96,715,454 463,825,120
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28 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

Related parties represent the shareholders, directors and key management personnel of the Company. Pricing policies and terms of these transactions are approved by the Company’s

management. The following are the details of major related party transactions during the year:

Related party Relationship Nature of transaction Transactions
2022 2021
Arab Commercial Enterprises for Travel Other related party Travel charges 1,712,396 3,100,085
Najran Mineral Water Other related party Water charges 57,960 53,130
Following 1s the detail of related party balances payable at the year-end:
2022 2021
Amount due to related party
Arab Commercial Enterprises for Travel (2,810) (593,846)
Key management compensation
Compensation for key management is as follows:
2022 2021
Salanes and other benefits 9,792,258 9,780,764
End of service benefits 567,610 744,619
10,359.868 10,525,383
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19 CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

Contingencies
The Company has no bank puarantes as at 31 December 2022 (2021: SE 44.4 million) relating to the mine closure provision.

Commitments
Ar 3] December 2022, the Company has fuare commitments amounting tw SR 369 millieon (2021: 5K 1004 million).

30 FINAMNCIAL INSTRUMENTS RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company s principal financial hiabiliies comprise loans and bommowmigs, lease liabalitics, trade payables. The main pupose
of these financial habilities i to finance the Company’s operations and to provide guarantess 1o support its operations. The
Company's principal financial assets mclude trade and other recervables and cash and cash equivalents.

The Company s activities expose it to a vanety of financial msks: market nsk (including commussion rate nsks, curency rizk
and price risk), crodit risk and liquidity risk. The Company”s overall risk management program focuses on robust lquidity
managemeint as well a3 monitoring of various relevant market variables, thereby consistently seeking to minimize potential
sdverse cifects on the Company s financial performance.

Marker rick

Marke: risk is the nsk that the far value or the future cash flows of a financial instrument may fluctwate as a result of changes
in market profit rates or the market prices of secunties due to change in credit ratmg of the ssaer or the mnstrument, change in
marke! sentiments, speculative activities, supply and demand of secunitizs and liquidity in the market.

Commizsion rate risk

Commission rate risk is the exposure to vanious risks associated with the effect of luctustions in the prevailing commission
mates on the Company's financial position and cash flows. The Company's commission rate risks arise maindy from its keans
and borrowings, which are ot fMoating rate of commission and are subject 1o re-pricing on a regular basis, The Company
moaiters the fluctustions in commission rate.

Commission rate sensitivity

The following table demvonsirates the sensitivity of the Company 1o a reasonably possible change in commission rales, on that
portion of loans and borrowings affected. With all other vanables held constant, the impact on the Company s profit before
zakat and tax for the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 wall be as follows:

Increase /

decrease (n basis Effect on profli

ity before sakar and fax
2022 +1100 {2076, 202)

=100 2076202
2a2f +100 (3.291.311)

100 3,201,311

Foreige clurrency risk

Foreign currency nisk is the risk that the fair value or fuise cash Mows of an exposure will Muctuate because of changes in
forcign cachange rates, The Company's principal wransactions are carried in Saudi Riyal and United States Dollars.

Hnm.lﬂc:rn:r:l! believes that there 15 munimal rsk ql-f::iﬂ;rl:iﬁn:lnl losses due 1o :n:[m.nﬁ,n: rate flectostions as the mnjq-cnl::,r of the
mioactary ageets and liabilities are in Randi Rivals or correncies which are pegged to the Saudi Rival and consequently the
Company docs nol cxpose (o foreign curmency exposure,

Commodify price risk

The Company is exposed to the risk of fluctuations in prevailing market commodity prices on the mix of mineral products it
which is mainly copper, zing, silver and gold which it sells into global markets, The market prices of copper, zing,

silver and gold are the key drivers of the Company's capacity o generate cash flow. The Company is predominantly an

unhedged producer to provide its sharcholders with exposure 1o changes in the market price of copper, zing, silver amd gold

The analysis is based on the assumption that the copper, zing, silver and gold prices move 109 with 2ll other variables held

constant,

AL MASANE AL KOBRA MINING COMPANY (A SAUDIJOINT STOCK COMPANY)
MNOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

At 31 December 2022
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30 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Commodity price risk {continued)

Ejffect on profit Effect on profit
before rax for the hefore fax for the
year ended year ended

A1 December 2022 3] December 2021
increasefdecrease)  increaseffdecrease)

mcrease ! (decrease) in the Copper price

+1(%% 18,765,639 23,079,903
-10% (18,765,639) (23,079 .903)
Increase f (decrease) in the Zinc prce

+10%% 17,489, (M) 1%, 780, TH)
=10% (17 485,060 (19, TR0, 7900
Increase ¢ (decrease) in the Gold price

+10% 21,447,714 15,326,503
=10% (11,447,714} (15.326,593)
Imcrease  (decrease) in the Silver price

+10%% 574,458 478,045
=10% (574,458) (478,045)
Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will mot meet its abligations under a fmancial instrument or customer contract, leading
o & financial loss. The Company is exposed fo cradit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables) and from
its investing activities, foreign exchange trmnsactions and other financial instnaments.

Trade recetvables

Customier eredit fisk i@ managed az per the Company’s eatablished policy, procadures and control relating to customer credit
risk management. Ouistanding trade receivables are regularly monitored, and any credit concerns highlighted 1o senior
management. The Company currently has only fwo customer which account for total sales of the Company, Trade accounts
receivable are shown net of impairment based on expected credit loss model as required by IFRS 9.

An impawment analyvsis 15 performed at reporting date using a provision matnx (o measure expected credit losses, The
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supporiable information
that is available at the reporting date sbout past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic comditons.
Gencrally, trade receivables are written-of if past due for more than one year and are not subject to enforcement activity if the
cogl of such activity is expected 1o be higher than the benefit of doing s0. The Company does not hold collateral as security.
The letters of credit and other forms of sscurity, if any, are congidered integral part of trade receivables and considered in the
caleulation of imparment,

Financial insiruments and cosh deposits
Credit risk from balences with banks and financial insttutions i managed in accordance with the Company's policy.
Investments of surplus funds are made only with commercial banks with sound credst ratimgs.

The Company”s maximum exposure (o credit risk for ihe cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables as at 31
December 2022 and 2021 is equal to the respective carrying amounts.

Liguidiny risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entemprise will encounter difficalty in raiging funds o meet commitments associated with

finsncial mstruments, Liquidity rsk may result fram an inability (o sell a financial asset quickly at an amount clese to its fair
value. Liguidity risk is manzged by monitoring on a regular basis that sufficient funds are available through commited credit
facilities to meet any future commitments. For instance, concentrations of lquidity risk may arise from the repayment terms of
finencial labilities, sources of borrowings or reliance on a particular market in which to realize liquad assets. The following is
the contractual undiscounted maturity analysis of the financial liabdlities of the Company, The Company does not hold financial
asseis for managing liguidity risk. Hence, these risks have not been considered for maturity analysis.
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30 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS RISK MANAGEMENT {continued)

Liguidity risk fcontinued)

The table below summanses the maturity profile of the Company’s financial labalites based on contractual undiscounted
pavments:

Muore than 5
2022 Within I year 1 to 5 years Years Tortal
LY SR SR SR
[L.oans and bormowings 1001, V4R DK 111 524 060 = 202,772 00
Lease liabilities 1,140,106 2308185 - 344829
Tmde payahles 26,957,734 - - 16,957,734
129,245 840 113,932,185 - 243,178,015
More than 5
221 Hithin | year i 1o 5 years VETrs Toral
SR SR SR SR
Loans and bormowings 108,666,668 208,166,668 1 5,500,000 332633336
Lease liabilitics 2,107,673 1,644,182 - 3,751 855
Tmde pavables 18,052,017 - - 18,052,017
128,826,358 209 RB10,550 1 5,200,000 354,437 208

3 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

For the purpose of the Company's capital manzgement, capital includes issued capital, statatory reserve and retamed camings
attributable to the equaty holders of the Company. The primary objactive of the Company's capital management i (o maximize
the sharcholder value.

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments m light of changes in economic condiions and the
requirements of the financial covenants. To maimain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the dividend
payment o shareholders, return capital 1o shareholders or msue pew shares. The Company monitors capital using a geanng
ratie, which 15 net debt divided by total capatal plus debt. The Company includes within debt, cument and non-current portion
of borrowings and lease habilities,

a2 2021
Dbt ~ lease liabilities and loans and borrowings (including current ponion) 210, 66,935 332,660,553
Equity 1.220,197,189 B8 436,078
Capital and debr 1, 430,864,124 PE1,096,53 1
Grearing ratio 14.72% 31.91%

AL MASANE AL KOBRA MINING COMPANY (A SAUDIJOINT STOCK COMPANY)
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32 FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Fair vzlue is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to trznsfer a l@bility in an onderly transaction between
marke! participants at the measurement date, The fair value messurement = based on the presumption that the transaction to
sell the aset or transfer the lability takes place enher:

+  Inthe prncipal market for the asset or Bability; or
+  [Inthe absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or labaliy

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Company,

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that masket participants would use when pricing the
assel or liability, assuming that market panicipams sct in their economic best interest, A fair value measurement of a pon-
finencial asset fakes info account a market participant's ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest
and best use or by selling it 1o another market participan: that would use the asset in its highest and best use,

The Company uses valustion technigues that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
10 measure fair valoe, maximising the use of relevant observable mpats and mimimasing the use of unobservahble mpats.

All aggets and labilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categonsed within the fair
value bierarchy, described o follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement a5 a
whale:

Level 1 = Quodcd (umssdpusted) market prives m active markets for identical assets or lisbilites
Level 2 - Valuation iechmiques for which the lowest level inpiat that is significant to the Fair value measurerment is direcily
or indirectly observable

#  Level 3 - Valuation technigues for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unchservable

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or liability falls imo different levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the
farr value measurcment is categorized in its entirety in the same level of the fair value bierarchy as the lowest input level that
15 sigmificant to the entire measarement,

All finamcinl ingruments mepsored o fur value uee leval 1 waluation I!nr]'u'rirl.lcl in hath yenrs ]'.Il:lrir:s tha vear endded 20272
and 2021, there were no movements between the levels,

The management azsessed that cash ard cash equivalents, trade pavables and other current liabilitics approximate their carrving
amouns largely due w the shom-term maturities of these instruments.

Fair walues of the Company's lsans and borrowings are determined by using DCF method using diseount rate that reflects ihe
borrowing rate as at the end of the reporting period. As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the carryving amounis of losns and
borrowings were nol materially different from their caleulated fair values.
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33 CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Reconciliation of changes in labilities ansing from fmancimg activities are as follows:

Lease labilities
Leans and bormowings

Total lisbilities from financing activities

Lease liabilities
Loans and bormowings

Total liabilities from financing activities

i Jenuary 31 December
2022 Additions  Cash flows Other 222
3,519,770 2,620,097  (3.313.438) 210,301 3,046,730
329,131,083 = (130.909.806) 9398928 207,620,205
331,660,853 620,097 (134,223.244) 9609229 210,666,935
I January 31 December
2021 Additiens  Cash flows her 2
6,055,310 362,550 (3,314,485 436,395 3,529,770
393,117,571 17,360,000 (92800487 11,543.699 329,131,083
399,173,181 17,712,550  (96,214.972) 11,980,094 332660853

The “Other” column includes the effect of finance charges on unwinding of loan and lease labilities. The Company classifies
nterest paid as cash flows from operating activities.

34 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In the opinion of management, there have been no significant subsequent events since the year ended 31 December 2022,
which would have 3 material impact on the financial positon of the Company as reflected in these financial staterments,

15 AFPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These financial statermments have been :ppm\npd b}' the Board of Directors on 22 Sha'ban 1444H, mu'rm‘bdina to 14 March

2023,
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